University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Doctoral Dissertations

Student Scholarship

Spring 2021

GDF1 AS A REGULATOR OF CERAMIDE METABOLISM AND HEMATOPOIESIS IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

Weiyuan Wang University of New Hampshire, Durham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation

Recommended Citation

Wang, Weiyuan, "GDF1 AS A REGULATOR OF CERAMIDE METABOLISM AND HEMATOPOIESIS IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA" (2021). *Doctoral Dissertations*. 2600. https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation/2600

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact nicole.hentz@unh.edu.

GDF1 AS A REGULATOR OF CERAMIDE METABOLISM AND HEMATOPOIESIS IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

BY

WEIYUAN WANG

Master of Medicine, Shandong First Medical University, China, 2016 Bachelor of Medicine, Shandong First Medical University, China, 2013

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire

in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Molecular and Evolutionary Systems Biology

May, 2021

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED © 2021 Weiyuan Wang

GDF1 AS A REGULATOR OF CERAMIDE METABOLISM AND HEMATOPOIESIS IN

ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

$\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

WEIYUAN WANG

This dissertation has been examined and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Evolutionary Systems Biology by:

Dissertation Director, Brian Barth, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

Feixia Chu, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

W. Kelley Thomas, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

Paul C. Tsang, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

Krisztina Varga, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

On March 24, 2021

Approval signatures are on file with the University of New Hampshire Graduate School.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Brian Barth, for taking me on as his first graduate student, offering me countless mentorship, and guiding me to achieve academic success throughout the years. In addition, I also appreciate his support in my daily life, such as picking me up at airports, taking the lab group and me to ice creams and lunches, and giving us surprises at our birthdays. Most importantly, I am thankful to him for always encouraging me to pursue a bigger dream.

Second, I would like to thank my committee members. A big thank you goes to Dr. W. Kelley Thomas for introducing me to my doctoral advisor, offering me invaluable help in several classes, providing me with chances to meet guest professors, and guiding me through the doctoral defense. Many thanks go to Dr. Paul Tsang for being a role model in the lab which I teaching-assisted with him, being my reference when I applied for postdoc positions, writing recommendation letters for me, and guiding me through the doctoral defense. I am also grateful to Dr. Krisztina Varga for offering me invaluable help in her class, setting up the nicest neighbor lab, and guiding me through the defense. Lastly, I want to give special tribute to Dr. Feixia Chu for being a role model in the lab that I teaching-assisted with her, writing recommendation letters for me, and guiding me through the defense.

Third, I would like to thank my teachers and colleagues who helped me throughout my doctoral study. First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my former advisor Qingliang Teng, who encouraged me to study abroad and from whom I learnt so much. A big thank you goes to Dr. Dean Elder and Dr. Linnea Morley for offering me tremendous support in the animal work and being my references when I applied for the postdoc position. Without their professional dedication, my research would definitely not be smooth. My gratitude also goes to

iv

Dr. Clyde Denis, Dr. Sarah Walker, and Dr. Xuanmao Chen, for giving me lots of invaluable advice. My sincere thank you goes to PhD candidate Melissa Kleinschmidt for all her selfless efforts and invaluable advice in helping me with all the writing assignments. I am very appreciative to Dr. David Plachetzki for being a wonderful program coordinator, writing recommendation letters for me, and guiding me through the PhD program. I am also grateful to Kristen Fuda for being a wonderful coordinator of my teaching lab. Last but not least, a huge thanks goes to the Office of International Students and Scholars at UNH for offering me so much help as an international student.

I also would like to thank my lab mates who taught me the lab techniques, helped me overcome language barrier, and made my time in the lab such a pleasure. They are the postdoc Dr. Paul T. Toran; the graduate students including Kaitlyn C. Belknap, Vasiliki Papakotsi, and Devya Gurung; and the undergraduate students including Alexander J. Thorpe, Andrea L. Cote, Bert F. Prince, Emily C. Sullivan, Emma J. Arsenault, Jacqueline M. Marshall, Jacqueline M. Siciliano, Maria N. Clark, Mary A. Hurley, Noelle T. Labrecque, Sara E. Connell, and Tamara G. Hathorn. Special thanks go to Emma J. Arsenault, Alexander J. Thorpe, Andrea L. Cote, and Bert F. Prince for their invaluable help with editing the dissertation. I will always remember our happy times together.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my friends and family. My friends include Yabin Zhang, Jonathan Sreter, Linghui Wu, Stefan Matissek, Weiguo Han, Xin Wang, Rongrong Yan, and Yixuan Gao. Without their unconditional support, I would not be able to persist till the end of the doctoral study. My family include my grandparents, aunts and uncles, cousins, and most importantly, my parents. Words cannot express my gratitude.

To all I forgot to mention, I apologize.

Funding to support this research was provided to my dissertation advisor, Dr. Brian Barth, by the NIH/NCI through K22 CA190674, P01 CA171983, and R03 CA252825, as well as by the University of New Hampshire (UNH) COBRE Pilot Project Grant by NIH/NIGMS through P20 GM113131. The Department of Molecular, Cellular, and Biomedical Sciences of UNH helped fund my travel to several conferences. The Graduate School of UNH also helped fund my travel to several conferences and provided summer funding through the Summer Teaching Assistant Fellowship in 2019.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iv |
|-----------------------|-----|
| LIST OF TABLES | ix |
| LIST OF FIGURES | X |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS | xii |
| ABSTRACT | xvi |

CHAPTER PAGE

| 1. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|---|---------|
| 1.1. Influences on the Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niche | 1 |
| 1.2. Brief Overview of Hematologic Disorders | |
| 1.3. Epigenetics and Sphingolipid Metabolism in Health and Disease | 43 |
| 1.4. Therapeutic Potential of Ceramides in Cancer Treatment | 61 |
| 1.5. Regulation of Growth/Differentiation Factor 1 in Human and Animals | 81 |
| 1.6. Rationale and Significance of Thesis Research | 93 |
| 1.7. Aims and Hypotheses of Individual Chapters | 94 |
| 2. GDF1 REGULATES CERAMIDE DETOXIFICATION IN ACUTE | MYELOID |
| LEUKEMIA | 95 |
| 2.1. Abstract | 95 |
| 2.2. Introduction | 96 |
| 2.3. Results | 97 |
| 2.4. Discussion | 103 |
| 2.5. Materials and Methods | 105 |

| 3. REGULATION OF HEMATOPOIESIS BY GDF1 IN ACUT | E MYELOID |
|---|------------|
| LEUKEMIA | 110 |
| 3.1. Abstract | 110 |
| 3.2. Introduction | 111 |
| 3.3. Results | 112 |
| 3.4. Discussion | 115 |
| 3.5. Materials and Methods | 117 |
| 4. OBESITY PROMOTES ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA PROG | RESSION BY |
| UPREGULATING THE CERAMIDE-MEDIATED NADPH | H OXIDASE |
| 2 | |
| 4.1. Abstract | 121 |
| 4.2. Introduction | 121 |
| 4.3. Results | 123 |
| 4.4. Discussion | 128 |
| 4.5. Materials and Methods | 129 |
| 5. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTION | 132 |
| 5.1. General Conclusions | 132 |
| 5.2. Future Directions | 133 |
| LITERATURE CITED | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1.1. Brief description for major hematologic disorders. | 23 |
|---|----|
| Table 1.2. Classification and distribution of ceramide synthases. | 64 |
| Table 1.3. Anti-cancer therapeutics that affect ceramide generation | 68 |
| Table 1.4. Synthetic drugs that target ceramide metabolism | 74 |
| Table 1.5. Nanotechnology for ceramide delivery | 77 |
| Table 1.6. Combination of ceramide and other drugs in the treatment of cancer | 78 |
| Table 1.7. Homologs of GDF1 in different species. | 92 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the HSC niche | 4 |
|---|----------------|
| Figure 1.2. Differentiation hierarchy and metabolic features of HSCs | 17 |
| Figure 1.3. Ceramide is at a hypothetical center of sphingolipid metabolism | 45 |
| Figure 1.4. Epigenetic regulation is a dynamic process that occurs above the level of | of traditional |
| base pair alterations | 50 |
| Figure 1.5. Pathway for ceramide synthesis and metabolism | 62 |
| Figure 1.6. Tissue-specificity of GDF1 and CERS1 mRNA and protein | |
| Figure 1.7. Genomic context of Homo sapiens chromosome 19 -NC_000019.10 and | d schematic |
| representations of human GDF1 and CERS1 mRNA transcript | |
| Figure 1.8. Monocistronic vs polycistronic transcription in eukaryotes | 84 |
| Figure 1.9. Schematic diagram of GDF1 signaling pathway | 86 |
| Figure 1.10. Schematic outline of the NODAL/GDF1 signaling pathway during esta | blishment of |
| left-right asymmetry | |
| Figure 1.11. Genomic context of <i>Mus musculus</i> chromosome 8 – NC_000074.7 ar | d schematic |
| representations of mouse GDF1 and CERS1 mRNA transcripts | 90 |
| Figure 2.1. AML-MRC is more sensitive to Lip-C6 compared with DN-AML | |
| Figure 2.2. CERS1/GDF1 is differentially expressed in AML | 100 |
| Figure 2.3. Treatment with recombinant GDF1 triggers multiple cellular effects | 102 |
| Figure 2.4. Schematic diagram of GDF1 signaling pathway | 104 |
| Figure 3.1. GDF1 treatment promotes hematopoiesis in leukemic mice alone | 113 |
| Figure 3.2. GDF1 regulates hematopoiesis in mice with AML-MRC | 114 |

| Figure 3.3. GDF1 improves the survival rate of mice engrafted with AML and has a combinate | orial |
|---|-------|
| effect with AraC | .115 |
| Figure 4.1. Flt3 ^{ITD} x Lep ^{ob/ob} mice have similar weight gain as Lep ^{ob/ob} mice | .124 |
| Figure 4.2. Flt3 ^{ITD} x Lep ^{ob/ob} mice developed robust AML compared with Flt3 ^{ITD} mice | 125 |
| Figure 4.3. <i>Smpd1</i> , <i>Cerk</i> , and <i>Nox2</i> are upregulated in Flt3 ^{ITD} x Lep ^{ob/ob} mice | .127 |
| Figure 4.4. Schematic diagram of the ceramide- and C1P-mediated NADPH oxidase 2 | .127 |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ACTB | β-actin |
|---------|---------------------------------------|
| ALL | acute lymphocytic leukemia |
| AML-MRC | AML with MDS-related changes |
| AML | acute myeloid leukemia |
| APL | acute promyelocytic leukemia |
| ApoM | Apolipoprotein M |
| AraC | cytarabine |
| ATRA | all-trans retinoic acid |
| C1P | ceramide-1-phosphate |
| C1PP | ceramide-1-phosphate phosphatase |
| CAR | chimeric antigen receptor |
| CDase | ceramidase |
| CERK | ceramide kinase |
| CERS | ceramide synthase |
| CERS1 | ceramide synthase 1 |
| cHL | classical Hodgkin lymphoma |
| circRNA | circular RNAs |
| CLL | chronic lymphocytic leukemia |
| CML | chronic myeloid leukemia |
| COPD | chronic obstructive pulmonary disease |
| CXCL12 | C-X-C motif chemokine 12 |
| CXCR4 | C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 |

| DMT | demethyltransferase |
|--------|---|
| DN-AML | de novo AML |
| DNMT | DNA methyltransferase |
| EPR | enhanced permeation retention |
| FB1 | |
| FLT3 | FMS-like tyrosine kinase-3 |
| FTY720 | |
| G-CSF | granulocyte colony stimulating factor |
| GBA | cerebrosidase |
| GCS | glucosylceramide synthase |
| GDF | growth/differentiation factor |
| GDF1 | growth/differentiation factor 1 |
| GDF3 | growth/differentiation factor 3 |
| GM3 | monosialodihexosylganglioside 3 |
| GPCR | G-protein coupled receptor |
| НАТ | histone acetylase |
| HDAC | histone deacetylase |
| HDMT | histone demethyltransferase |
| HIF-1α | hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-1α |
| HL | Hodgkin lymphoma |
| HMT | histone methyl transferase |
| HPC | hematopoietic progenitor cell |
| HSC | hematopoietic stem cell |

| I2PP2A | inhibitor 2 of protein phosphatase 2A |
|------------|---|
| iPSC | induced pluripotent stem cell |
| Lag1 | longevity-assurance gene 1 |
| Lep | leptin |
| Lip-C6 | nanoliposomal C6-ceramide |
| Lip-Ghost | nanoliposomal Ghost |
| IncRNA | long noncoding RNA |
| MDS | myelodysplastic syndrome |
| miRNA | microRNA |
| MM | multiple myeloma |
| MSC | mesenchymal stem cell |
| NG2 | neuron-glial antigen 2 |
| NHL | non-Hodgkin lymphoma |
| NHVDL | New Hampshire Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory |
| NLPHL | nodular lymphocyte predominant Hodgkin lymphoma |
| nSMase2 | neutral sphingomyelinase 2 |
| PcG | polycomb-group protein |
| piRNA | |
| RISC | RNA-induced silencing complex |
| RNA POL II | |
| RT-qPCR | |
| S1P | sphingosine-1-phosphate |
| S1PP | sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase |

| S1PR | sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor |
|--------|--|
| SCF | stem cell factor |
| SMPD1 | acid sphingomyelinase |
| SGMS | sphingomyelin synthase |
| SPHK | sphingosine kinase |
| STAT3 | signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 |
| ТВР | |
| TF | transcription factor |
| TGFβ | transforming growth factor beta |
| TGFβR1 | transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 |
| THPO | thrombopoietin |
| VCAM-1 | vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 |
| VPA | valproic acid |

ABSTRACT

GDF1 AS A REGULATOR OF CERAMIDE METABOLISM AND HEMATOPOIESIS IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

by

Weiyuan Wang

University of New Hampshire

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is cancer of the myeloid lineage of blood cells. In AML, hematopoietic precursors acquire mutations or chromosomal changes that cause differentiation arrest. This results in an uncontrolled proliferation of these malignant cells in the bone marrow that can interfere with normal blood cell production. AML progresses rapidly and can be fatal within weeks if left untreated. The only current curative treatment is bone marrow transplant, which has potentially life-threatening side effects. Thus, a better understanding of the underlying biology of AML is needed to enable the development of better therapeutic modalities.

Ceramides are a family of wax-like lipids in the broader category of sphingolipids. Ceramide is comprised of a sphingoid base linked to a fatty acid through an amide group. Recently, ceramides have been appreciated for their bioactive functions including as regulators of apoptosis. This is significant because ceramide metabolic routes persist in AML that may be exploited for therapeutic development. Recently, it was shown that nanoliposomal C6-ceramide (Lip-C6) exerts unique therapeutic efficacy towards AML with myelodysplastic syndromerelated changes (AML-MRC). In contrast, other forms of AML were resistant to Lip-C6 due to enhanced ceramide metabolism. Interestingly, in these Lip-C6-resistant AMLs the gene encoding for growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is downregulated. GDF1 is encoded from a rare bicistronic gene that also encodes for ceramide synthase 1. GDF1 is presently only appreciated to have roles in embryonic and cardiac development. However, its genetic link to a ceramide biosynthesizing enzyme as well as its inverse relation to Lip-C6-resistant AML suggest that it may also exert a role in ceramide metabolism.

This dissertation research first explored a hypothesis that GDF1 regulates ceramide detoxification in AML. *GDF1* expression was variably expressed across AML subtypes but was mostly downregulated in Lip-C6-resistant AML. Moreover, there was an inverse relationship between GDF1 expression and genes encoding for ceramide neutralizing enzymes. This inverse relationship was validated as treatment of AML cell lines with recombinant GDF1 downregulated the expression of these same genes. Interestingly, recombinant GDF1 was also able to uniquely promote SMAD2/3 phosphorylation while concurrently downregulating STAT2 tyrosine phosphorylation in a transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGF β R1)-dependent manner. Next, this dissertation research evaluated the ability of GDF1 to regulate hematopoiesis and exert an anti-AML therapeutic effect. Recombinant GDF1 restored hematopoiesis and promote erythropoiesis (red blood cell development) both in vitro and in vivo. GDF1 was unable to impact hematopoiesis in normal bone marrow, suggesting that its hematopoietic-regulatory therapeutic effect was specific to abnormal and malignant situations. Furthermore, GDF1 treatment exerted combinatorial anti-AML efficacy with cytarabine and extended the overall survival of mice engrafted with a highly aggressive AML. The final aspect of this dissertation studied a novel transgenic obese AML mouse model to evaluate links between obesity and AML. Obesity provokes profound changes in lipid homeostasis including by upregulating sphingolipid biosynthesis. Transgenic obese AML mice developed a robust leukemia burden compared with non-obese counterparts. More so, genes responsible for regulation of the ceramide-mediated

xvii

NADPH oxidase 2 were upregulated in these transgenic obese AML mice. This demonstrated a further sphingolipid-mediated dysfunction that can contribute to the development and progression of AML.

Overall, this dissertation research has uncovered important sphingolipid metabolic biology that underlies the development and progression of AML. This has revealed pathways associated with resistance to ceramide-elevating therapeutics such as Lip-C6. Most noteworthy, this research has identified for the first time an ability for GDF1 to regulate ceramide metabolism, hematopoiesis, and erythropoiesis. It has also shown that GDF1 can exert effects through a unique TGF β R1-dependent mechanism regulating both SMAD2/3 and STAT3 signaling. Collectively, this has revealed an anti-AML therapeutic ability for GDF1 linked to the regulation of ceramide metabolism.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Influences on the Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niche¹

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are rare, self-renewing and multipotent progenitors that sustain hematopoiesis throughout the lifespan (Crane et al., 2017). This process involves a complex variety of interactions with supporting cells and ultimately generates all types of blood cells, including erythrocytes, platelets, and leukocytes. In this process, HSCs first give rise to an array of hematopoietic stem progenitors which have restricted self-renewing capacity before terminal differentiation into mature cells, such as erythrocytes, megakaryocytes that produce platelets, and leukocytes. In homeostasis, HSCs are mostly in a dormant state, striking a remarkable balance between quiescence and self-renewal. But in cases of hematopoietic stresses such as severe infection or blood loss, HSCs activate to regenerate hematopoietic cells.

HSCs normally reside in the bone marrow within the medullary cavities of long bones and axial bones, although they can transiently expand into facultative niches in extramedullary tissues such as the liver and the spleen under severe hematopoietic stresses (Crane et al., 2017). The bone marrow microenvironment provides signals for the maintenance and regulation of HSCs, directing proliferation, apoptosis, extra-medullary mobilization, and quiescence (Geiger et al., 2013). In the past decade, advancements in imaging, HSC biomarker discovery, and improvement in functional genomic techniques have allowed for a deeper understanding of the

¹<u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Timothy J. Brown, and Brian M. Barth. Influences on the Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niche. Submitted to *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* on September 6, 2020.

mechanisms within the bone marrow microenvironment that regulate HSCs. This review will summarize the current understanding of the adult hematopoietic bone marrow microenvironment, focusing on cellular and molecular participants and their contributions to normal HSC regulation, as well as the crosstalk between the niche and HSCs in malignant transformation.

The HSC niches

Human bone marrow is located within the trabecular region of the large bones, which is lined by the endosteum, formed by osteoblasts (Calvi and Link, 2014; Wang et al., 2013a). This tissue is highly vascularized and rich in micro vessels and capillaries (Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013a). In the center of the bone marrow, longitudinal large arteries give rise to smaller radical arteries, which then branch into arterioles. Arterial circulation transitions to venous circulation near the endosteal surface. The network of arterial vessels progressively transforms into wider, irregularly shaped sinusoids which eventually coalesce into a big collecting central sinus and drain into the venous circulation (Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013a).

Within the bone marrow, local tissue microenvironments with a distinct cellular and molecular makeup, termed "niches", maintain and regulate HSCs (Morrison and Spradling, 2008). The bone marrow is a complex cellular environment with HSCs residing in close contact with multiple cell types, including perivascular mesenchymal stromal cells and endothelial cells (Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011; Morrison and Spradling, 2008; Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013a). These cells secrete growth factors and chemokines that participate in normal hematopoiesis and support progenitor cells. Confocal imaging and spatial modelling studies have

confirmed that HSCs are widely distributed throughout the bone marrow. In addition, they are more common at the periphery of the marrow near the bone surfaces compared to the medullary regions of the bone, and in the metaphysis of the bone (Acar et al., 2015) (Figure 1.1). In these niches, approximately 80% of HSCs reside adjacent to sinusoidal blood vessels in the bone marrow; the remainder are mainly associated specifically with arterioles or adjacent to transition zone vessels in the endosteal region (Crane et al., 2017; Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Spencer et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013a).



Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the HSC niche. The bone marrow microenvironment is composed of different cell populations that coordinately contribute to the regulation of HSCs. These include perivascular stromal cells, endothelial cells, megakaryocytes, sympathetic neurons and nonmyelinating Schwann cells, adipocytes, monocytes and macrophages. The arteriolar niche has a higher ratio of quiescent HSCs, whereas majorities of both quiescent and cycling HSCs localize to the sinusoidal niche. The absolute pO_2 of the bone marrow is quite low despite very high vascular density, with the lowest pO_2 in perisinusoidal regions. The endosteal region, by contrast, is less hypoxic as it is perfused with small arteries.

Growth factors that modulate HSC function

The normal function of HSCs is supported by cells that reside within the bone marrow niche. These supporting cell types that are responsible for the production of growth factors are known to be required for HSC maintenance, including C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12), stem cell factor (SCF) and thrombopoietin (THPO) (Crane et al., 2017). Other factors in the bone marrow may also modulate HSC function in a non-cell-autonomous way by promoting hematopoietic regeneration after injury, although they are not necessarily required for HSC maintenance or hematopoiesis.

C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12)

CXCL12, also known as stromal cell-derived factor 1, is a chemokine protein ubiquitously expressed in many tissues and cell types that functions as an HSC homing signal to the marrow (Calvi and Link, 2014). In the bone marrow, CXCL12 is constitutively expressed at high levels by perivascular stromal cells. When deleted from mice, absence of CXCL12 is universally fatal shortly after birth (Hoffman and Calvi, 2014). Its receptor, CXCR4, is mainly expressed on immature and mature hematopoietic cell types. This CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling closely regulates HSC retention and maintenance in bone marrow niches (Katayama et al., 2006; Lai et al., 2014; Walenkamp et al., 2017). Disruption of this connection leads to release of HSCs into the peripheral blood with limited effect on the function of HSC (Calvi and Link, 2014; Spiegel et al., 2008). Additionally, depletion of bone marrow macrophages reduces CXCL12 expression in the bone marrow and promotes HSC mobilization and extramedullary hematopoiesis (Chow et al., 2011). Similarly, deletion of *Cxcl12* from arteriolar Neuron-glial antigen 2 (NG2)-expressing cells results in HSC reductions and altered HSC localization within the bone marrow (Asada et al., 2017).

This signaling is also vital for subsequent repopulation of HSCs in the bone marrow (Lai et al., 2014). Deletion of *Cxcr4* in adult mice resulted in severe reduction of HSC numbers and increased sensitivity to myelotoxic injury (Sugiyama et al., 2006). Deletion of *Cxcl12* from perivascular stromal cells or endothelial cells depletes HSCs from the bone marrow. In contrast, conditional deletion of *Cxcl12* from osteoblasts in murine lines leads to loss of lymphoid progenitors but had little or no effect on the number of HSCs (Birbrair and Frenette, 2016; Ding and Morrison, 2013). Despite this, mice with deletion of *Cxcl12* maintain normal levels of B-cell and T-cell progenitors (Hoffman and Calvi, 2014). However, ablation of osteoblasts (Ding et al., 2012; Morrison and Scadden, 2014; Visnjic et al., 2004). Indeed, proximal osteolineage cells upregulate genes encoding cell surface and immune response proteins, such as CXCL12 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), providing a possible mechanism by which osteoblasts can regulate HSCs. However, their exact function in hematopoiesis is incompletely understood (Birbrair and Frenette, 2016; Silberstein et al., 2016).

Stem cell factor

SCF, also known as KIT ligand, is a growth factor that is required for HSC maintenance. In the bone marrow, SCF is primarily expressed by perivascular and endothelial cells in proximity to cells that also express CXCL12 (Birbrair and Frenette, 2016; Ding et al., 2012; Morrison and Scadden, 2014). It activates signaling by the c-KIT receptor tyrosine kinase, which is widely expressed on HSCs and mast cells (Ho et al., 2017; Ogawa et al., 1991). SCF is present

in both membrane-bound and soluble forms (Crane et al., 2017). HSCs are depleted in *Stl/Stl* mutant mice, which lack membrane-bound SCF but express the soluble form (Barker, 1994). This indicates that the membrane bound SCF is more important for HSC maintenance. Endothelial and leptin receptor-expressing perivascular stromal cells are the major sources of SCF for HSC maintenance in normal adult bone marrow (Ding et al., 2012). Deletion of *Scf* from each cell population has additive effects on HSC depletion. HSCs are depleted from bone marrow when *Scf* is deleted from either endothelial cells or leptin receptor-expressing perivascular stromal cells (Ding et al., 2012). In this scenario, adipocytes have the capacity to synthesize SCF to maintain the HSC population (Zhou et al., 2017). In fact, adipocytes in the long bones promote hematopoietic recovery through production of SCF after irradiation (Zhou et al., 2017). In contrast, HSC frequency or function was not affected by conditional deletion of *Scf* from osteoblasts, hematopoietic cells, or perivascular mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Ding et al., 2012).

Thrombopoietin

THPO is mostly produced by the liver and kidneys, in addition to the bone marrow stroma, and it to a much lesser extent is critically involved in the maintenance of adult quiescent HSCs (de Graaf and Metcalf, 2011; Morrison and Scadden, 2014; Qian et al., 2007; Yoshihara et al., 2007). Unlike other hormones, THPO is not negatively regulated; rather it is directly regulated by platelet quantities (de Graaf and Metcalf, 2011; Morrison and Scadden, 2014; Qian et al., 2007; Yoshihara et al., 2007). In its normal state, THPO produced by the liver promotes megakaryocyte growth, migration and platelet production (Khodadi et al., 2016). Secreted THPO binds to the THPO receptor, which is also known as the myeloproliferative leukemia protein

(MPL), and activates a signaling cascade that results in megakaryocyte maturation within the marrow (Khodadi et al., 2016). Maturing megakaryocytes within the marrow interact with numerous cells, including osteoblasts, osteoclasts, HSCs, and plasma cells (Khodadi et al., 2016). Loss of THPO or THPO signaling results in amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia and eventually progresses to bone marrow failure via loss of HSC quiescence (Decker et al., 2018; Qian et al., 2007; Yoshihara et al., 2007). Murine THPO-knockout models have demonstrated that absence of THPO results in failure to reconstitute marrow cellularity following irradiation (Decker et al., 2018). Further, liver-specific deletion of murine Thpo reduces both marrow megakaryocytes and HSCs without decreasing the overall marrow cellularity, implicating THPO as a critical factor in the maintenance of HSCs (Decker et al., 2018). THPO ensures HSC chromosomal integrity and function in response to irradiation by regulating the DNA-damage response (de Laval et al., 2014). THPO receptor agonists drive HSCs into self-renewing divisions, leading to quantitative expansion of functional HSC (Geiger et al., 2013). Further, depletion of megakaryocytes results in a loss of HSC quiescence and increases the expansion of HSCs, likely by a concomitant increase in THPO-signaling (Bruns et al., 2014, 2014). In ex vivo models, supplementation of HSC cultures with THPO results in accelerated expansion of HSCs (de Graaf and Metcalf, 2011).

Indeed, during times of hematopoietic distress in which THPO signaling may be enhanced, such as during periods of thrombocytopenia or during treatment with THPO-mimetics such as eltrombopag and romiplostim, HSCs exit their quiescent phase and begin to divide through an myeloproliferative leukemia-mediated mechanism (Kovtonyuk et al., 2016). However, long term increases in THPO or treatment with THPO-mimetics results in bone marrow fibrosis through transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ), platelet-derived growth factor,

and mechanisms resulting in increased bone marrow reticulin production (Khodadi et al., 2016; Kuter, 2009). THPO-mediated marrow fibrosis may be reversible upon normalization of THPO levels or cessation of therapy with THPO-mimetics (Kuter, 2009).

<u>Angiogenin</u>

Angiogenin is a secreted ribonuclease with a broad range of effects, including angiogenesis, neurogenesis, and immune regulation (Yoshihara et al., 2007). In HSCs, angiogenin promotes quiescence, but it promotes proliferation in lineage-committed myeloid progenitors; the exact mechanism is not yet understood (Yoshihara et al., 2007). Angiogenin is expressed at a higher level in mesenchymal progenitors, osteolineage-committed progenitors, and periarteriolar sheath cells. It restricts the proliferation of early lymphoid progenitors and HSCs, thereby promoting HSC self-renewal and repopulating potential (Qian et al., 2007). Supplemental therapy with angiogenin promotes hematopoietic regeneration following bone marrow failure in stem cell transplantation, while deletion of angiogenin from those cells resulted in an increased number of long-term HSCs and more active cycling of HSCs (Yoshihara et al., 2007).

Granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF)

G-CSF is a cytokine that is mainly produced by the endothelium and macrophages. It is clinically used to promote HSC mobilization into the bloodstream and to increase the production of granulocytes, either to reconstitute a depleted immune system or to prepare a patient for a bone marrow donation. To promote mobilization, G-CSF suppresses the expression of CXCL12 from marrow stromal cells, downregulating the homing signal that attracts HSCs to the marrow

niche while upregulating CXCR4 (Calvi and Link, 2014; Hoffman and Calvi, 2014). Interestingly, activating osteoclasts via administration of receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B-ligand results in mobilization of HSCs, but inhibition of osteoclasts with calcitonin mitigates the G-CSF-induced mobilization of HSCs (Calvi and Link, 2014). It has been hypothesized that activated osteoclasts secrete cathepsin K which may cleave CXCL12 and result in mobilization of HSCs (Calvi and Link, 2014). Further, neutrophils are believed to play a role in G-CSF-mediated HSC mobilization, although this too is incompletely understood (Calvi and Link, 2014). Recently, it was found that these two functions induced by G-CSF work independently. While cells with limited regenerative potential are induced to repopulate by G-CSF, dormant HSCs are only mobilized into the blood without any proliferation (de Graaf and Metcalf, 2011).

Bone marrow niche cells that regulate HSCs

The HSC niche can be regulated by various types of cells, including perivascular stromal cells and endothelial cells, which can produce factors including CXCL12 and SCF. Several other cell types also contribute to maintenance of the HSC niche and can leverage additional factors including CXCL4, G-CSF, and TGF β (Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011).

Bone marrow stromal cells

CXCL12-abundant reticular cells reside in the marrow at sites closely associated with HSCs (Hoffman and Calvi, 2014). They have been found to largely overlap with nestin-GFP+ stromal cells and leptin receptor-expressing cells in studies where both are defined by transgenic expression using defined stromal-specific promoters (Anthony and Link, 2014; Ding et al., 2012;

Nagasawa et al., 2011; Omatsu et al., 2010; Sugiyama et al., 2006). These stromal cells are all MSCs that have both adipogenic and osteogenic potential. They differentiate into adipocytic and osteoblastic mesenchymal lineages in the adult bone marrow, producing large amounts of proteins for the storage of nutritional energy or bone formation (Nagasawa et al., 2011; Omatsu et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2014). HSCs are depleted from the bone marrow when *Scf* or *Cxcl12* are conditionally deleted from leptin receptor-expressing CXCL12-abundant reticular cells. This implicates them in a maintenance role for the HSC niche (Asada et al., 2017; Ding et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2014).

<u>Osteoblasts</u>

It was previously believed that osteoblasts do not directly promote HSC maintenance as they do not express the crucial niche factors (Ding et al., 2012; Morrison and Scadden, 2014). However, evidence that osteoblast ablation eventually causes pancytopenia has led to the hypothesis that osteoblasts indirectly regulate HSCs, likely via crosstalk (Visnjic et al., 2004). Recently, stable genome-wide transcriptional differences have been identified by single-cell RNA-seq and transcriptional comparison between HSC-proximal stromal cells and osteolineage cells either in proximity to transplanted HSCs or at a distance. Proximal osteolineage cells displayed a significant upregulation of genes encoding cell-surface proteins and those involved in immune response, such as CXCL12, VCAM-1, and angiogenin, lending further support for osteoblastic regulation of HSCs (Silberstein et al., 2016).

<u>Adipocytes</u>

Bone marrow-resident adipocytes are abundant, and their population size increases with age (Anthony and Link, 2014). Adipocytes have been shown to negatively affect HSC maintenance, and are increasingly present after chemotherapy and radiation (Naveiras et al., 2009). Recently, bone marrow adipocytes were found to also synthesize SCF after depletion of endothelial cells and leptin receptor-expressing stromal cells (Zhou et al., 2017). Despite being an important source of SCF in both locations, adipocytes in long bones promote hematopoietic recovery after irradiation, while in caudal vertebrae they inhibit hematopoietic regeneration. Importantly though, adipogenesis can promote initial hematopoietic recovery following irradiation (Zhou et al., 2017). This is in accordance with the finding that adipocyte-rich bone marrow has decreased numbers of HSCs compared with adipocyte-poor bone marrow (Naveiras et al., 2009).

Endothelial cells

Endothelial cells lining the blood vessels of the bone marrow are also indispensable for HSC maintenance through producing niche factors CXCL12 and SCF and are a central component in the maintenance of these cells (Crane et al., 2017; Ding and Morrison, 2013; Ding et al., 2012; Greenbaum et al., 2013). Despite the relatively small amount of CXCL12 and SCF expressed, conditional deletion of *Cxcl12* or *Scf* from endothelial cells has been shown to lead to a decrease in the number of HSC in bone marrow (Ding et al., 2012, 2012). HSC frequency and function were not affected when *Scf* was conditionally deleted from other cells types such as osteoblasts, megakaryocytes or other hematopoietic cells (Ding et al., 2012). The HSC niche thus

depends on SCF or CXCL12 that is produced by endothelial cells and leptin receptor-expressing stromal cells.

Neuronal cells

Bone marrow is highly innervated (Katayama et al., 2006). Sympathetic nervous fibers generally run alongside arterioles, yet subsets are also found in the sinus wall and the hematopoietic parenchymal tissue, indicating existence of an interconnected network (Giles et al., 2016). The nervous system is not required for the maintenance of HSCs in the bone marrow but is critical for bone marrow regeneration after chemotherapy (Lucas et al., 2013). Signals from the sympathetic nervous system coordinate the circadian egress of HSCs into circulation by regulating local production of CXCL12 in the synapsed perivascular cells (Giles et al., 2016; Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2008). Genetic or pharmacological ablation of adrenergic signaling inhibits G-CSF-induced HSC mobilization (Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2008). Pharmacological or genetic ablation of adrenergic neurotransmission inhibits G-CSF-induced HSC mobilization (Katayama et al., 2006). Lastly, non-myelinating Schwann cells are autonomic nerve-ensheathing glial cells. They are a producer of TGFβ, which is a quiescence signal for HSC (Yamazaki et al., 2011).

<u>Megakaryocytes</u>

Megakaryocytes are terminally-differentiated hematopoietic cells that play an inhibitory role in HSC expansion via the secretion of CXCL4 and TGF β (Bruns et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2014). Studies showed that depletion of megakaryocytes resulted in specific loss of HSC quiescence and led to a marked expansion of functional HSCs. In contrast, conditional deletion of *Cxcl4* or *Tgf\beta1* in megakaryocytes increased HSC activation and proliferation (Bruns et al.,

2014; Zhao et al., 2014). While in response to stress, fibroblast growth factor 1 signaling from megakaryocytes transiently dominates over TGF β inhibitory signaling to stimulate HSC expansion to facilitate the recovery of the hematopoietic system (Zhao et al., 2014).

Monocytes and macrophages

Higher levels of G-CSF are expressed in monocytes and macrophages as part of the response to sepsis and other inflammatory conditions (Burberry et al., 2014). Depletion of bone marrow macrophages reduces CXCL12 expression in the bone marrow and promotes HSC mobilization and extramedullary hematopoiesis (Chow et al., 2011). Monocytes and macrophages with high expression of α -smooth muscle actin and cyclooxygenase-2 maintain HSCs and protect them from exhaustion during stress situations by producing prostaglandin E2. Moreover, macrophages maintain the quiescence of HSCs through the DARC/CD82 ligand interaction and downstream TGF β signaling (Hur et al., 2016).

Sinusoidal and arteriolar niches

Functionally distinct perivascular niches are created by sinusoids and arterioles (Acar et al., 2015; Asada et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2016; Itkin et al., 2016; Kunisaki et al., 2013). There is a higher ratio of quiescent to cycling HSCs associated with arterioles (Asada et al., 2017; Kunisaki et al., 2013). However, However, the majority of quiescent and cycling HSCs are localized to the sinusoids (Acar et al., 2015; Asada et al., 2017; Itkin et al., 2016; Kunisaki et al., 2016; Kunisaki et al., 2013). The sinusoidal and arteriolar microenvironments differ with respect to vessel wall permeability, oxygen tension and niche factors produced by the residing hematopoietic cells (Asada et al., 2017; Crane et al., 2017; Itkin et al., 2016; Kunisaki et al., 2013; Spencer et al.,

2014). First, sinusoids are very leaky as they have a fenestrated basal lamina. They promote HSC activation and are the exclusive site allowing for cell migration to and from the bone marrow. In contrast, less permeable arterial blood vessels maintain HSCs in a low oxidative state, keeping them in a quiescent state (Itkin et al., 2016). HSCs are also more resilient after irradiation thus they may become more dependent on periarteriolar niches during the regeneration of hematopoiesis (Ito and Suda, 2014). Second, direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow showed that the lowest oxygen tension can be found in deeper perisinusoidal regions. The endosteal region, by contrast, is less hypoxic as it is perfused with small arteries (Spencer et al., 2014). Thirdly, cytokines produced in distinct vascular niches contribute to HSC maintenance differently. Selective *Cxcl12* deletion from arteriolar NG2-expressing cells caused HSC reductions and altered HSC localization in bone marrow. In comparison, deletion of *Scf* in sinusoidal leptin receptor-expressing cells led to reductions in bone marrow HSC numbers (Asada et al., 2017).

Differentiation hierarchy and metabolic features of HSCs

HSCs rely heavily on anaerobic glycolysis and have relatively inactive mitochondria irrespective of oxygen tension, in a manner similar with the Warburg effect in cancer cells (Ito and Suda, 2014). The activity of specific metabolic pathways and the differentiation state of stem cells are clearly related (Figure 1.2). Cell differentiation is accompanied by a shift from anaerobic glycolysis to mitochondrial respiration; oxygen tension increases from the endosteum to the sinusoids (Gaspar et al., 2014; Wang and Zhong, 2018). The level of oxygen in the various locations within the bone marrow niche are directly responsible for CXCR4 function and expression, with higher CXCR4 function and expression in relatively hypoxic environments

(Wang and Zhong, 2018). Moreover, stem cell fate is dependent on the degree of activation of mitochondrial metabolism, in addition to other factors (Bigarella et al., 2014). Initially, human embryonic stem cells rely entirely on glycolysis for their source of energy regardless of oxygen availability (Panopoulos et al., 2012). After birth, adult stem cells such as HSCs and their progenitor cells reveal a preference for aerobic glycolysis and a repression of oxidative phosphorylation (Yeo et al., 2013). Later, terminally differentiated hematopoietic cells lose their colony-forming capacity and shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to produce ATP. In addition, reprogramming somatic cells to a primitive stage results in a metabolic switch from oxidative to glycolytic phenotype (Prigione et al., 2014). These results indicate that the differentiation hierarchy is in close relationship with metabolism, and loss of primitive stem cell potential is accompanied by a biogenic shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial compartment. Differentiation of HSCs is accompanied by a biogenic shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial oxidative posphorylation (Zhang and Sadek, 2014) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2. Differentiation hierarchy and metabolic features of HSCs. Stem cell fate may be directly modified by metabolism. The differentiation of stem cells is accompanied by a biogenic shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. HSCs prefer to use glycolysis rather than mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation as a main energy source. Following differentiation, terminally differentiated cells lose colony-forming capacity and shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylations: ESC, embryonic stem cells; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cells; HSCs, hematopoietic stem cells; HPCs, hematopoietic progenitor cells.
Interestingly, recent studies have demonstrated unique mitochondrial bioenergetic features associated with leukemia and drug resistance (Farge et al., 2017; Kao et al., 2019). Namely, increased oxidative phosphorylation was observed in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) under chemotherapeutic selective pressure but was not exclusive to the leukemia stem cell compartment (Farge et al., 2017). This increase in oxidative phosphorylation accompanies increased mitochondrial biogenesis and so has been postulated to be due to an increased reliance on this metabolic pathway (Farge et al., 2017). It has therefore been postulated that targeting mitochondrial metabolism may represent a strategy to overcome this new hallmark of AML drug resistance (Farge et al., 2017). However, another study has suggested that increased reliance on oxidative phosphorylation may be representative of mitochondrial inefficiency due to other energetic and metabolic changes (Kao et al., 2019). Intriguingly, alterations in mitochondrial bioenergetics were observed to be associated with and possibly secondary to alterations in sphingolipid metabolism (Kao et al., 2019). Not surprisingly, dysfunctional sphingolipid metabolism has also been associated with AML and therapy resistance (Barth et al., 2019; Kao et al., 2019). Overall, this highlights the importance of metabolic changes that occur during hematologic malignancy and demonstrates the relevance of metabolic-targeting therapeutic strategies.

Malignant transformation of HSCs

Hematologic malignancies such as leukemia do not propagate efficiently in vivo outside of the bone marrow and are difficult to grow ex vivo. This suggests that supporting cells within the bone marrow niche may help to support or drive the malignant transformation of HSCs. Furthermore, malignant HSCs may remodel the niche to increase its own support, while

suppressing normal hematopoiesis (Calvi and Link, 2015; Krause and Scadden, 2015; Zhang and Sadek, 2014). Alteration of the marrow niche is an important and necessary step in leukemogenesis, which is a hypothesis supported by the observation that fewer than one in one million AML cells possess stem cell-like activity (Behrmann et al., 2018).

Notch signaling

Notch signaling in endothelial cells leads to the expansion of HSC niches by inhibiting Cxcl12 expression in bone, which increases capillary perivascular cells and arteriole formation and elevates cellular SCF levels (Kusumbe et al., 2016). Defects in this signaling pathway have been observed to lead to the development of myeloproliferative disease and have for many decades been linked to the development of T-cell neoplasms (Lampreia et al., 2017; Weber and Calvi, 2010). Further, it appears that constitutive Notch activation via transduction of HSCs with active Notch1 intracellular domain increases self-renewal of HSCs (Weber and Calvi, 2010). Constitutive Notch activation prevents HSC differentiation into hematopoietic progenitors (Weber and Calvi, 2010). To disrupt the cancer-stromal interactions in leukemia, CXCR4 antagonists have been clinically used to promote mobilization of leukemic cells from the protective microenvironment, making them more sensitive to conventional chemotherapy (Liu et al., 2016; Tsou et al., 2018).

Alterations in bone marrow stromal cells have been shown to be sufficient to initiate myeloproliferative disorders (Calvi and Link, 2015). In acute lymphoblastic leukemia and chronic myeloid leukemia, malignant cells were shown to have increased G-CSF production and reduced homing and retention in the bone marrow, which was related to decreased Cxcl12 expression in bone marrow stromal cells (van den Berk et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012).

Osteogenic differentiation has also been shown to be reduced in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS)-derived MSC (Geyh et al., 2013). In fact, MSCs from a wide diversity of MDS subtypes are structurally, epigenetically, and functionally altered, which leads to impaired stromal support and may contribute to deficient hematopoiesis in MDS (Geyh et al., 2013).

An activating mutation of β -catenin in mouse osteoblasts has also been shown to alter the differentiation potential of myeloid and lymphoid progenitors, leading to development of AML. This demonstrates a link between genetic alterations in osteoblasts and the development of AML (Kode et al., 2014). Moreover, this shows that an altered microenvironment can serve as the inciting event in hematologic malignancy.

In addition, leukemic bone marrow infiltration in an MLL-AF9 AML model has been shown to be promoted by neuropathy of the sympathetic nervous system (Hanoun et al., 2014). Development of AML damages the sympathetic nervous system and disrupts the quiescence of perivascular MSCs. This can lead to increased osteoblastic differentiation at the expense of HSCmaintaining periarteriolar niche cells. Moreover, stromal β 2-adrenergic receptors have been shown to regulate leukemia stem cells. This is evidenced by rescue of the healthy HSC niche by β 2 agonist treatment, which otherwise limits leukemia stem cell expansion (Hanoun et al., 2014).

Malignant HSCs remodel the bone marrow niche

Just as the bone marrow niche may have profound effects on HSC behavior, malignant HSCs may also shape the microenvironment to selectively enhance their own support over normal HSCs (Calvi and Link, 2015). In chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), malignant cells release exosomes that stimulate bone marrow stromal cells to produce IL-8 to promote CML cell survival (Corrado et al., 2014). The secretion of IL-8 is part of the crosstalk between CML cells

and bone marrow stromal cells mediated by exosomes (Corrado et al., 2014). Furthermore, in myeloproliferative neoplasms, leukemic cells stimulate MSCs to overproduce functionally altered osteoblastic lineage cells, which accumulate in the bone marrow cavity as inflammatory myelofibrotic cells (Schepers et al., 2013). Malignant HSCs have also been found to produce IL-1β to trigger neural damage and Schwann cell death, which further causes MSC reduction (Arranz et al., 2014). Finally, healthy MSCs have been shown to adopt MDS-MSC-like molecular features when exposed to MDS cells, indicative of an instructive remodeling of the microenvironment (Ito and Suda, 2014).

Conclusions

This review has illustrated the contributions of multiple cell populations within the bone marrow microenvironment to the complex regulation of HSC function. There is a continuing and further need to understand how the niche controls HSC function during stress situations, including during infection, malignancy, and during therapy. Examining the crosstalk between HSCs and their niche may provide targetable pathways to alter the HSC niche in such a way that it becomes less hospitable to malignant cells (Krause and Scadden, 2015). In this manner, targeting the HSC niche itself is an attractive avenue for the treatment of hematologic malignancies. Future work utilizing high resolution single-cell methods, as well as endogenous labeling and tracking of stem cells, may further foster studies on the complex interplay occurring within the microenvironment of the bone marrow.

1.2. Brief Overview of Hematologic Disorders

Abstract

Hematologic disorders are diseases related to blood. They may affect the production of blood and its components, such as blood cells, hemoglobin, blood proteins, bone marrow, platelets, blood vessels, and the spleen. Common blood disorders include anemia, hemophilia, myelodysplastic syndrome, blood cancers such as leukemia (including acute myeloid leukemia, chronic myeloid leukemia, acute lymphocytic leukemia, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia), multiple myeloma, and lymphoma (Hodgkin lymphoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma).

Anemia

Anemia occurs when there are not enough red blood cells in the body or when red blood cells do not function properly (Table 1.1). It is diagnosed when the hemoglobin value is less than 13.5 gm/dl in a man or less than 12.0 gm/dl in a woman by a blood test (Conrad, 1990). Depending on the size of the red blood cells, anemia can be classified as microcytic anemia, macrocytic anemia, normocytic anemia. Based on the amount of hemoglobin in each cell, anemia can be classified by severity as mild, moderate, or severe (Powell and Achebe, 2016).

| | Brief disease description | Treatment options |
|-----------------|------------------------------------|--|
| Anemia | Absolute decrease in red blood | Changing diet, taking dietary |
| | cell mass | supplements, treating the underlying |
| | | disease, immunosuppressive |
| | | medications, blood transfusions |
| Hemophilia | An inherited genetic defect that | Commercially prepared clotting factors |
| | impairs the body's ability to clot | |
| | properly | |
| Myelodysplastic | A group of cancers in which | Blood products, hematopoietic growth |
| syndrome | immature blood cells in the bone | factors, chemotherapy, |
| | marrow do not become healthy | hypomethylating agents, allogeneic |
| | blood cells | stem cell transplantation |
| Acute myeloid | A type of cancer that originates | Chemotherapy, hematopoietic stem cell |
| leukemia | from immature myeloid cells | transplant, CARTs |
| Chronic myeloid | A form of leukemia | Tyrosine-kinase inhibitors, allogeneic |
| leukemia | characterized by the proliferation | bone marrow or stem cell |
| | of mature granulocytes | transplantation |
| Acute | A type of cancer that originates | Chemotherapy, tyrosine-kinase |
| lymphocytic | from the immature lymphoid line | inhibitors, immunotherapy, radiation |
| leukemia | of blood cells | therapy, one marrow transplant |
| Chronic | A form of leukemia | Chemotherapy, targeted therapy, |
| lymphocytic | characterized by the proliferation | biological therapy |
| leukemia | of mature lymphocytes | |
| Multiple | A cancer of plasma cells | Chemotherapy, autologous |
| myeloma | | hematopoietic stem cell transplant |
| Hodgkin | A type | Chemotherapy, radiation therapy, |
| lymphoma | of lymphoma that originates | immunotherapy, stem cell transplant |
| | from a specific type of | |
| | lymphocytes (Hodgkin cells) | |
| Non-Hodgkin | A diverse group of blood cancers | Radiation therapy, chemotherapy, |
| lymphoma | that includes all types of | immunotherapy, targeted therapy, stem |
| | lymphomas except Hodgkin | cell transplant |
| | lymphomas | |

Table 1.1. Brief description for major hematologic disorders

<u>Causes</u>

Causes of anemia include decreased production of red blood cells, increased destruction of red blood cells, blood loss, and body fluid overload. Conditions that decrease the production of red blood cells include poor diet, intestinal disorders, and kidney failure. Conditions that increase the destruction of red blood cells include thalassemia, chronic disease, cancer, and infections. Blood loss may arise by trauma, surgery, or menstruation. Pregnancy or hypervolemia caused by excessive sodium or fluid intake can lead to fluid overload (Powell and Achebe, 2016).

Pathophysiology

Anemias arising from different conditions have different pathophysiological processes. For anemia caused by poor diet lacking iron, decreased availability of iron leads to progressive depletion of bone marrow iron stores and eventually impairs erythropoiesis. For anemia caused by poor diet lacking vitamin B12 or folate, defective DNA synthesis leads to delayed nuclear maturity compared to the cytoplasm. This dyspoiesis results in intramedullary cell death and ineffective erythropoiesis (Cuskelly et al., 1996). For anemia caused by thalassemia, decreased production of one or more globin polypeptide chains leads to an abnormal form of hemoglobin being synthesized and, consequently, large numbers of red blood cells being destroyed (Marengo-Rowe, 2007).

Signs and symptoms

Since red blood cells carry hemoglobin, an iron-rich protein that transports oxygen throughout the body, patients with anemia may experience symptoms such as weakness,

shortness of breath, dizziness, irregular heartbeat, headache, cold hands or feet, and pale skin. Anemia often starts slowly without any symptoms. As the disease progresses, more symptoms may appear (Lewis, 1976).

<u>Treatment</u>

Treatment for anemia depends on cause and severity. For anemia caused by malnutrition, treatment varies from changing diet to taking dietary supplements. For anemia caused by chronic disease, cancer, or infections, treating the underlying disease is the solution. For aplastic anemia, which is caused by bone marrow failure, immunosuppressive medications and blood transfusions may be used for treatment (Stauder et al., 2018).

Hemophilia

Hemophilia is a genetic disorder that impairs the body's ability to clot properly (Table 1.1). This results in external bleeding after an injury or surgery, or internal bleeding inside the brain or joints. There are two main types of hemophilia: hemophilia A, which occurs due to low levels of clotting factor VIII; and hemophilia B, which occurs due to low levels of clotting factor VIII; and hemophilia B, which occurs due to low levels of clotting factor IX (CDC, 2020). Both genes are on the X chromosome. Since females have two X chromosomes and males have one, males are more likely to have hemophilia. A female with one affected X chromosome is a carrier of hemophilia and may pass it on to her son.

Causes

Hemophilia is mainly caused by X-linked recessive genetic mutations. Hemophilia A is caused by a genetic mutation on clotting factor VIII. Hemophilia B is caused by a genetic

mutation on clotting factor IX. As with all genetic disorders, it is also possible to acquire the disease through spontaneous mutation (Peyvandi et al., 2016).

Pathophysiology

When an injury disrupts the endothelial lining of a blood vessel, coagulation begins. Exposure of blood to the subendothelial space initiates two processes: changes in platelets to form a plug; and the exposure of subendothelial tissue factor to clotting factors, which eventually leads to fibrin formation to strengthen the platelet plug. When clotting factors cannot work properly or are missing, people cannot form fibrin stands to strengthen the platelet plug. Thus, patients with hemophilia tend to have longer bleeding time or even bleed spontaneously (Furie and Furie, 2005).

Signs and symptoms

Symptoms caused by hemophilia vary with severity. Bleeding is the most common symptom, which can happen in the skin (bruise), mouth, muscle, soft tissue (hematoma), brain, and joints. The bleeding can damage organs and tissues, and it can even be life-threatening (CDC, 2020).

<u>Treatment</u>

There is no cure for hemophilia yet. The goal of current treatment is to prevent bleeding episodes. The mild and moderate severity patients rarely need treatment. When the disease becomes severe, commercially prepared clotting factors should be used to decrease the damage to the body. The factors can either be isolated from human blood serum, recombinant, or a

combination of the two. 20% of patients with hemophilia may gradually develop antibodies to the clotting factors, which makes the treatment more difficult (Peyvandi et al., 2016). However, in recent years patients can be diagnosed since infants during circumcision, there is a shift from treatment to prevention (Commissioner, 2020).

Myelodysplastic syndrome

Myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) is a group of clonal bone marrow neoplasms that arise from the expansion of abnormal hematopoietic stem cells (Table 1.1). It is characterized by morphologic dysplasia in hematopoietic cells and peripheral cytopenia (Arber et al., 2016). Patients with MDS have an increased risk of AML transformation. It is most commonly diagnosed in people in their 70s in the US. The risk increases as a person gets older (Garcia-Manero et al., 2020).

<u>Risk factors</u>

There are several known risk factors for MDS. Older age is one of the most important risk factors for MDS. Men are more common to get MDS than women. Prior treatment with chemotherapy, certain inherited syndromes, some environmental exposures and smoking increase the risk of MDS (Poynter et al., 2017).

<u>Pathophysiology</u>

The pathophysiology of MDS is characterized by a multi-step process involving cytogenetic changes and/or gene mutations, abnormalities of the bone marrow microenvironment and widespread gene hypermethylation at advanced stages (Fenaux et al., 2020). A set of

recurrently mutated genes are central to the pathogenesis of MDS. These genes are organized into a limited number of cellular processes, including RNA splicing, epigenetic and traditional transcriptional regulation, and signal transduction (Fenaux et al., 2020).

Signs and symptoms

Signs and symptoms are generally related to the decrease of blood cells. Low red blood cell counts are related to chronic tiredness, shortness of breath, chilled sensation, and sometimes chest pain. Low counts of white blood cells, which fight diseases, can increase susceptibility to infection. Low numbers of platelets, which function in clotting, may lead to increased susceptibility to bleeding and bruising, as well as subcutaneous hemorrhaging (Hasserjian, 2019).

Treatment

The goals of current therapies are to control symptoms and improve overall survival. The initial step is assessing a patient's eligibility for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, which is the only potentially curative approach but is associated with substantial morbidity and graft-versus-host disease (Cazzola, 2020). For patients who are not eligible for transplantation, risk stratification can help inform clinical decision making. For patients with lower-risk MDS, the choice of a medical treatment is largely based on the specific disease subtype. Administration of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents can increase red-cell production and ameliorate anemia. Patients with higher-risk MDS have a median life expectancy of less than two years. For such patients, treatment is aimed at ameliorating cytopenia as well as at preventing evolution to AML and thus prolonging survival (Malcovati et al., 2013).

Acute Myeloid Leukemia

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a type of blood malignancy that originates from differentiation arrest of immature myeloid progenitor cells (Table 1.1). These cells grow rapidly and interfere with normal blood cell production in the bone marrow. AML is the most common form of acute leukemia in adults. The disease is fatal within weeks or months if left untreated, with a median of 4.3 months (Estey, 2021). The median age at diagnosis is 68 years in the US (Shallis et al., 2019).

Risk Factors

A number of risk factors for developing AML have been identified. "Preleukemic" blood disorders such as MDS and myeloproliferative neoplasms, hereditary defects such as Down Syndrome, exposure to chemicals such as benzene, and exposure to ionizing radiation have been identified to increase the risk of developing AML (Belson et al., 2007).

Pathophysiology

AML can arise in patients with an underlying hematological disorder or as a consequence of prior therapy, but in majority of cases, it appears as a *de novo* malignancy (Sill et al., 2011). The pathogenesis of AML involves the abnormal proliferation and differentiation of a clonal population of myeloid stem cells, which depends heavily on the interactions between different somatic alterations and chromosomal rearrangements (De Kouchkovsky and Abdul-Hay, 2016). Actually, chromosomal rearrangements and genetic mutations are identified in more than 97% of cases (Patel et al., 2012). For example, chromosomal translocation t(8:21) in core-binding factor AML results in the formation of chimeric proteins, which alter the normal maturation process of

myeloid precursor cells. This will eventually result in the accumulation of poorly differentiated myeloid cells and entity of AML (De Kouchkovsky and Abdul-Hay, 2016).

Signs and symptoms

Most of the clinical manifestations of AML reflect the lack of normal mature blood cell production as leukemic cells accumulate and replace normal cells. The early signs of AML are often vague and nonspecific. The majority of patients presents with a combination of leukocytosis and signs of bone marrow failure such as shortness of breath, easy bruising and bleeding, and susceptibility to infections. Fatigue, anorexia and weight loss are common complaints (De Kouchkovsky and Abdul-Hay, 2016).

<u>Treatment</u>

AML requires different therapeutic interventions since it is a heterogeneous group of disorders. There is a shift from "one size fits all" approach towards more personalized treatment based on the patients' genomic signature (Nair et al., 2020). Nonchemotherapy regimens consisting of all trans-retinoic acid and arsenic trioxide in acute promyelocytic leukemia resulted in cure rates exceeding 80% (Lo-Coco et al., 2013). Using known drugs in improved regimens (fludarabine, high-dose cytarabine, anthracyclines, gemtuzumab, ozogamicin) increased the cure rate in core binding factor AML to 80% (Kantarjian, 2016). Newly approved drugs provide fresh hope for other types of AML patients, presenting a steppingstone into a new era of precision treatment (Tiong and Wei, 2019). These include a new liposomal formulation of cytarabine and daunorubicin, and a B-cell lymphoma 2 inhibitor in combination with hypomethylating agents, among others (Nair et al., 2020).

Chronic myeloid leukemia

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is a form of leukemia characterized by the proliferation of immature and maturing granulocytes in the bone marrow (Table 1.1). In Western countries, CML accounts for 15% of all leukemias affecting adults. The average age at diagnosis is around 64 years (Turkina et al., 2020).

<u>Risk factors</u>

The exact cause of CML is still unknown, but exposure to ionizing radiation from events such as atomic bombing has been implicated (Corso et al., 1995). Other agents such as benzene are also possible causes (Vlaanderen et al., 2012).

Pathophysiology

CML is known to be caused by a single, specific genetic mutation that results from a chromosomal translocation called the Philadelphia chromosome. The cytogenetic aberration consists of a reciprocal translocation between the long arms of chromosomes 22 and 9 [t (9; 22)], which results in a *BCR/ABL* fusion gene encoding a chimeric protein with strong tyrosine kinase activity. The continuous expression of this protein leads to the development of the CML phenotype (Quintás-Cardama and Cortes, 2009).

Signs and symptoms

CML progresses through three phases: chronic, accelerated, and blast. In the chronic phase, mature granulocytes proliferate. Most patients are diagnosed in this phase, which is most often asymptomatic. If left untreated, patients progress to the accelerated phase after 3-5 years, in

which additional cytogenetic abnormalities occur. Symptoms during this phase include bleeding, petechiae, and ecchymosis. Blast is the terminal phase of CML in which cells with additional mutations proliferate and the disease progresses rapidly. Symptoms in this stage include fever, bone pain, and a rapidly enlarging spleen (Bonifacio et al., 2019). Young patients with CML may already have a more aggressive form of CML by the time they are diagnosed (Tefferi, 2006).

<u>Treatment</u>

The goals of treatment are to achieve hematologic, cytogenic, and molecular remission. The first line of treatment is tyrosine-kinase inhibitors such as imatinib and dasatinib, which specifically target BCR-ABL, the fusion protein caused by the Philadelphia chromosome. With the current use of these inhibitors, there is no statistically significant difference between the survival rates of CML patients and the general population (Gambacorti-Passerini et al., 2011). Allogeneic bone marrow or stem cell transplantation is a therapeutic option particularly for advanced phase CML.

Acute lymphocytic leukemia

Acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) is a cancer of the lymphoid line of blood cells characterized by large numbers of immature lymphocytes (Table 1.1). It is the most common pediatric malignancy. In the past ALL progressed rapidly and untreatable, but now the survival probability is as high as 80-90% in children and 30-40% in adults (Kato and Manabe, 2018; Paul et al., 2016).

<u>Risk factors</u>

Although most ALL arises in healthy individuals, inherited genetic susceptibility and environmental risk factors have been identified in some patients (Malard and Mohty, 2020). People carrying inherited genetic abnormalities such as Down syndrome, Li-Fraumeni syndrome, or neurofibromatosis type 1 have increased risk of developing ALL, although ALL is not hereditary. Common infections such as influenza during pregnancy may also indirectly lead to ALL by triggering abnormal immune responses (Cazzaniga et al., 2017).

Pathophysiology

The genetic changes that lead to ALL include chromosomal translocations such as the translocation of *C-MYC*, intrachromosomal rearrangements such as the generation of *ETV6-RUNX1* fusion gene, changes in the number of chromosomes in leukemic cells such as trisomy 4, and additional mutations in individual genes (Hunger and Mullighan, 2015).

Signs and symptoms

The clinical presentation of ALL is nonspecific. Symptoms may include weight loss, fever, night sweats, loss of appetite, and enlarged liver or spleen. The T-cell subtype of ALL often causes an enlarged thymus, which can press on the trachea or the superior vena cava, causing coughing or headaches (Malard and Mohty, 2020).

<u>Treatment</u>

Current treatment options include chemotherapy, tyrosine-kinase inhibitors, immunotherapy, radiation therapy, and bone marrow transplant. Chemotherapy is the main treatment for patients with ALL and consists of three phases: remission induction, consolidation, and maintenance. Tyrosine-kinase inhibitors such as imatinib are often incorporated into the treatment plan for people with the Philadelphia chromosome. Immunotherapies used for ALL include chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) T cells. They are genetically modified and patient-derived in order to bind to leukemia cells that express specific antibodies (Mardiana and Gill, 2020). In 2017, the U.S. FDA approved the CAR-T cell therapy Novartis' Kymriah for treatment of ALL. The therapeutic CAR-T cells are created from a patient's own cells and reprogrammed to detect CD19, which target and destroy the B cells (Liu et al., 2017). Bone marrow transplant is often suggested for relapsed patients (Nagler et al., 2020).

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is caused by the monoclonal expansion and progressive accumulation of mature-appearing neoplastic B lymphocytes (Table 1.1). These have a distinct immune phenotype characterized by expression of B cell markers such as CD19 and CD20, which are not usually expressed on non-malignant B cells (Hallek et al., 2018a). CLL is the most common leukemia overall with a median age at diagnosis of 71 (Woyach, 2018). Many patients experience an indolent disease course and never require therapy, but some patients, especially the very elderly and those with medical comorbidities, will die from their disease (Strati et al., 2017).

<u>Risk factors</u>

A limited number of risk factors for CLL have been identified. Having a relative with CLL has been found to contribute to disease risk, indicating that inherited predisposition is a risk factor (Cerhan and Slager, 2015). Reduced sun exposure, allergic immune dysfunction, exposure to herbicides and pesticides, and hepatitis C virus infection can also be associated with an increased risk (Slager et al., 2014).

<u>Pathophysiology</u>

Genetic alterations including chromosomal alterations, somatic mutations, and alterations in miRNA have been found to be associated with the development of CLL by promoting the proliferation of B lymphocytes (Calin et al., 2005). These CLL cells follow chemokine gradients into lymph nodes and form proliferation centers in which they are exposed to chemokines, integrins, and cytokines from surrounding cells (Hallek et al., 2018a). CLL cells usually display an unusual but characteristic pattern of molecules, including surface antigen CD5, B-cell antigens CD19, CD20, and CD23. In addition, all the CLL cells within one individual are clonal and genetically identical (Hallek et al., 2018b).

Signs and symptoms

Patients with CLL usually don't have any symptoms for at least a few years since the lymphocytes grow and spread very slow. The most common presentation of CLL is the incidental discovery of lymphocytosis on a complete blood count. Then as the B cells infiltrate the bone marrow, patients develop more symptoms such as lymphadenopathy, B symptoms (fever, night sweats, weight loss, fatigue) or cytopenia (anemia, thrombocytopenia, neutropenia) (Hallek et al., 2018b).

<u>Treatment</u>

Since CLL progresses slowly in most cases, it is not treated until the onset of symptoms. Current treatment for CLL has changed dramatically over the last 10 years with first the addition of monoclonal antibodies to chemotherapy, and subsequently the introduction of targeted therapies for this disease (Woyach, 2018). Current targets drugs used for CLL include Bcl-2 inhibitor venetoclax, CD20 antibody rituximab, and CD52 antibody alemtuzumab. Risk-based individualized therapy is now possible, ranging from chemoimmunotherapy for low-risk CLL to novel molecularly targeted therapy primarily with BTK inhibitors such as ibrutinib for high-risk disease (Burger and O'Brien, 2018). For patients who are too frail to be considered candidates for the novel agents, allogenic stem cell transplant has been considered the treatment choice of these patients and the only approach offered with curative intent in the disease (Gribben, 2018).

Multiple myeloma

Multiple myeloma (MM) is a neoplastic plasma-cells disorder, which is characterized by clonal proliferation of malignant plasma cells in the bone marrow, secreted monoclonal protein in the blood or urine, and associated organ dysfunction (Palumbo, 2011) (Table 1.1). It is preceded by monoclonal gammopathy of uncertain significance that progresses to smoldering myeloma and, finally, to symptomatic myeloma (Kuehl and Bergsagel, 2002). MM accounts for 13% of hematological cancers. The median age at diagnosis 69 years and the five-year survival rate is 53.9% in the US (Padala et al., 2021).

<u>Risk factors</u>

A few risk factors could affect someone's chance of getting MM. Someone who has a sibling or a parent with MM and has African ancestry is more likely to get MM than someone who does not. Actually, several susceptibility regions have been identified in MM (Koura and Langston, 2013). Being overweight or obese also increases a person's risk of developing myeloma (Roberts et al., 2010).

Pathophysiology

MM is characterized by the proliferation of plasma cells, which are differentiated from B cells. B cells are a type of white blood cell of the lymphocyte subtype. They originate from the bone marrow and migrate into the spleen to complete development. They are then activated in the secondary lymphoid organs such as the spleen and lymph nodes by receiving a constant supply of T cell-dependent antigens through circulating lymph. Most of these B cells become plasma cells and begin producing and secreting large volumes of antibodies. In MM, genetic or epigenetic mutations happen in a plasma cell, which establishes an abnormal clone of bone marrow plasma cells. If left uncontrolled, the disease progresses from monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance to smoldering multiple myeloma, multiple myeloma, and eventually to plasma cell leukemia (Dutta et al., 2017).

Signs and symptoms

Presenting symptoms of MM are vague and nonspecific. The most common clinical manifestations of MM are anemia, infections, bone disease, and renal failure. Back pain, weight

loss, or abnormal lab results are indications for the presence of MM, especially in older patients (Goldschmidt et al., 2016).

Treatment

Different types of treatment may be combined at the same time or used after one another depending on the stage of the cancer. If the disease is in an early stage like smoldering multiple myeloma, no immediate treatment is needed as patients can do well for years. When patients develop end-organ damage, it is the indication for treatment (Röllig et al., 2015). Patients are often given a combination of 2 or 3 drugs containing bortezomib, lenalidomide, or dexamethasone. The drugs chosen depend on the patient's health including their kidney function, and whether a stem cell transplant is planned. Some patients are given additional cycles of treatment after transplant. This is called consolidation treatment and increases the chance of a complete response (Mohty et al., 2015). Supportive treatments such as blood transfusions may also be used as part of the treatment plan.

Hodgkin lymphoma

Lymphoma is cancer that begins in cells of the lymph system. Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) originates from a specific type of lymphocyte and accounts for about 10% of all lymphomas (Table 1.1). In 1832, Thomas Hodgkin described a case series of enlarged lymph nodes, later to be known as HL (Cirillo et al., 2019). There are two main types of HL: classical HL (cHL), which accounts for 90% of all cases; and nodular lymphocyte predominant HL (NLPHL), which accounts for less than 10%. HL is most common in two different age groups: young adults between 15 to 35 years old and older adults over age 50 (Thyss et al., 2014).

<u>Risk factors</u>

The etiology of HL is not well understood. People who have been infected with Epstein– Barr virus or human immunodeficiency virus are at greater risk (Shanbhag and Ambinder, 2018). The incidence of HL also increases after solid organ transplantation and in patients with a history of autoimmune conditions, such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and sarcoidosis (Landgren et al., 2006).

Pathophysiology

In around 1900, Dorothy Reed and Carl Sternberg characterized the abnormal mononucleated Hodgkin and multinucleated Reed-Sternberg cells that are pathognomonic for the disease (Küppers, 2009). HL results from the clonal transformation of B cells, giving rise to pathognomonic Reed-Sternberg cells in cHL or popcorn cells in NLPHL. Reed–Sternberg cells are usually CD30 and CD15 positive, but negative for CD20 and CD45 (Cirillo et al., 2019). The popcorn cells in NLPHL are variants of Reed-Sternberg cells and have a popcorn-like appearance. Unlike classic Reed-Sternberg cells, these cells are CD15 and CD30 negative while positive for the B cell marker CD20 (Saini et al., 2011).

Signs and symptoms

The most common symptom of HL is the painless enlargement of cervical or axillary lymph nodes (Ansell, 2015). As the disease spreads through internal lymph nodes, liver, or bone marrow, systematic symptoms (B symptoms) such as fever, night sweats, and weight loss develop. Other possible symptoms include itching skin, fatigue, and loss of appetite (Shanbhag and Ambinder, 2018).

<u>Treatment</u>

HL is considered a prime example of treatment success with more than 80% cure rates using modern combined modality therapies (Mottok and Steidl, 2018). The exact choice of treatment depends on the precise stage of the disease. Patients in early stages are effectively treated with combination chemotherapy followed by involved-field radiation therapy. Patients in advanced-stage disease are often offered chemotherapy together with radiation therapy either for a longer duration or of a different type. For patients who are not cured with the first-line therapy, multiple second-line therapies such as immunotherapy or stem cell transplant are considered acceptable (Ansell, 2015).

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) is a diverse group of blood cancers that includes all types of lymphomas except HL (Table 1.1). It represents a wide spectrum of illnesses that vary from the most indolent to the most aggressive types. They arise from lymphocytes that are at various stages of development, and the characteristics of the specific disease subtype reflect those of the cell from which they originate (Armitage et al., 2017). NHL is the most common hematologic malignancy and the fifth most common type of cancer in more developed regions of the world (Morton et al., 2014). It represents a wide spectrum of illnesses that vary from the most indolent to the most aggressive malignancies (Armitage et al., 2017).

<u>Risk factors</u>

Various factors have been found to affect an individual's risk of developing NHL. Some of these factors are common while some of them are subtype specific (Morton et al., 2014).

Common risk factors include family history of NHL, recreational sun exposure, hay fever, allergy, and socioeconomic status (Morton et al., 2014). Take immunosuppressant drugs or having any medical conditions that weakens the immune system, such as autoimmune diseases, HIV infection, or undergoing organ transplantation is also related to higher risk of getting NHL (Shiels et al., 2013; Zintzaras et al., 2005). Obesity is a risk factor for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Castillo et al., 2014). The Epstein-Barr virus is closely associated with both Burkitt lymphoma and nasal NK–T-cell lymphoma (Kwong, 2005; Saha and Robertson, 2011). Hepatitis C virus has been associated with splenic marginal zone lymphoma and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Giordano et al., 2007).

Pathophysiology

NHL is a cancer with a number of subgroups. It arises from the clonal transformation of lymphocytes. B cell lymphomas account for more than >85% of cases of NHL, while the others are derived from T cells or natural killer cells (Chaudhari et al., 2019). The classification of NHL is complex and ever evolving, reflecting new insights into the cells of origin and the biologic bases of these heterogeneous diseases. Currently, there are more than 50 different subtypes listed in the latest World Health Organization classification (Swerdlow et al., 2016). For nonspecialists, NHL is most usefully categorized as low grade (indolent) or high grade (aggressive) lymphoma. Follicular lymphoma and diffuse large B cell lymphomas are the most common indolent and aggressive subtypes, respectively (Chaudhari et al., 2019).

Signs and symptoms

The presenting features of NHL are diverse. Patients may be entirely asymptomatic. The most common symptom of NHL is the painless enlargement of cervical or axillary nodes (Al-Naeeb et al., 2018). Patients may later have systemic symptoms such as fevers, drenching night sweats, weight loss, pruritis, and fatigue. Since NHL can involve any organ in the body, a myriad of presentations are possible, mimicking a wide range of other conditions (Armitage et al., 2017).

<u>Treatment</u>

The principles of treatment differ for high-grade and low-grade lymphoma. For patients with low grade lymphomas and no significant signs or symptoms, a "watch and wait" approach can be used (Al-Naeeb et al., 2018). High grade NHL may progress rapidly and requires urgent treatment. Standard treatment includes radiation therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy, or stem cell transplant. Patients who fail to respond to first line chemotherapy or who relapse after chemoimmunotherapy may consider clinical trials as they are the only way to get state-of-the-art cancer treatment (Chiappella et al., 2017).

1.3. Epigenetics and Sphingolipid Metabolism in Health and Disease²

Abstract

Sphingolipids represent one of the major classes of bioactive lipids. Studies of sphingolipids have intensified in the past several years, revealing their roles in nearly all cell biological processes. In addition, epigenetic regulation has gained substantial interest due to its role in controlling gene expression and activity without changing the genetic code. In this review, we first introduce a brief background on sphingolipid biology, highlighting its role in pathophysiology. We then illustrate the concept of epigenetic regulation, focusing on how it affects the metabolism of sphingolipids. We further discuss the roles of bioactive sphingolipids as epigenetic regulators themselves. Overall, a better understanding of the relationship between epigenetics and sphingolipid metabolism may help to improve the development of sphingolipidtargeted therapeutics.

Sphingolipid biology

Sphingolipids are a class of bioactive lipids that contain a sphingoid base backbone, they are a class of aliphatic amino alcohols that include sphingosine and are found in all cellular and subcellular membranes (Borodzicz et al., 2015). There are variety of sphingolipids including ceramides and dihydroceramides, phytoceramides, sphingosine and dihydrosphingosine (sphinganine), various phosphorylated sphingolipids, sphingomyelins, glycosphingolipids, gangliosides, cerebrosides, and sulfatides. Sphingolipids can be formed by *de novo* synthesis or

² <u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Paul T. Toran, Rachel J. Sabol, Timothy J. Brown, and Brian M. Barth. Epigenetics and Sphingolipid Metabolism in Health and Disease. *International Journal of Biopharmaceutical Sciences*. 2018 Oct; 1(2): 105.

generated through salvage pathways from existing sphingolipids via various catabolic enzyme activities (Figure 1.3). Ceramide can be deacetylated to form sphingosine, and subsequently phosphorylated to form sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P). Ceramide can also be glycosylated to form glycosphingolipids or acquire a phosphocholine group to form sphingomyelin. The synthesis and degradation of sphingolipids are finely tuned to maintain cellular homeostasis. On the cell surface, they can function as adhesion sites for extracellular proteins and serve both as structural lipids and signaling molecules (Iqbal et al., 2017). In 1996, the "sphingolipid rheostat" model was proposed. It postulated that ceramide and S1P differentially regulate cellular signaling pathways involved in cellular death and proliferation/survival, respectively. Factors including growth factors, cellular stress and inflammatory mediators may alter the balance between ceramide and S1P to control cell fate (Evangelisti et al., 2016).



Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P)

Figure 1.3. Ceramide is at a hypothetical center of sphingolipid metabolism. De novo ceramide synthesis initially generates dihydro-sphingoid species prior to desaturation. Salvage ceramide synthesis, or turnover by the successive activities of acidic/lysosomal-localized catabolic enzymes, generates sphingosine that escapes the lysosome to be re-acylated to ceramide. Glucosylceramide synthase (GCS); cerebrosidase (GBA); sphingomyelin synthase (SGMS); ceramide kinase (CERK), ceramide-1-phosphate phosphatase (C1PP); ceramidases (CDase); ceramide synthases (CERS); sphingosine kinases (SPHK); S1P phosphatase (S1PP).

Pathophysiological roles of sphingolipids

Structurally diverse sphingolipids are bioactive and have roles in multiple biological processes. which include cell growth, cell death, cell differentiation, inflammation, apoptosis and angiogenesis (Hannun and Obeid, 2018). Consequently, abnormalities in sphingolipid homeostasis can lead to or contribute to aberrant pathophysiological processes such as metabolic disorders, cancer, inflammation, neurological syndromes and cardiovascular disease (Schneider-Schaulies, 2015).

Metabolic disorders

Sphingolipids influence glucose metabolism in a variety of tissues. Changes in sphingolipid levels have consequential pathophysiological effects in metabolic syndromes. It has been observed that diabetic patients have elevated plasma ceramide levels (Borodzicz et al., 2015). Furthermore, increased levels of ceramide have been shown to result in attenuation of insulin action, most likely via inhibition of AKT (Hannun and Obeid, 2018; Hla and Dannenberg, 2012). In a similar manner, other sphingolipids, including sphingomyelin, glucosylceramide, and other glycosphingolipids, have been shown to inhibit insulin action (Aerts et al., 2011; Chavez et al., 2014). On the contrary, extracellular S1P carried by high-density lipoprotein can increase insulin levels by protecting pancreatic islet cells from apoptosis (Rütti et al., 2009).

<u>Cancer</u>

Sphingolipids have a strong influence in the development and progression of cancer and have gained attention for their roles in cell death, proliferation, and multi-drug resistance.

Ceramide can function as a tumor suppressor lipid by potentiating signaling events that drive apoptosis, autophagic responses and cell cycle arrest (Morad and Cabot, 2013). Total plasma ceramide has been shown to be a promising biomarker of metastatic tumor response to radiation therapy (Dubois et al., 2016). However, defects in ceramide generation and metabolism in cancer cells have been shown to contribute to tumor cell survival and resistance to chemotherapy likely by neutralizing ceramide or generating pro-survival and mitogenic sphingolipids such as S1P (Morad and Cabot, 2013). In addition, increased S1P signaling in endothelial cells has been associated with induction of angiogenesis and inflammatory pathways, thereby contributing to tumor invasion and metastasis (Hannun and Obeid, 2018; Hla and Dannenberg, 2012).

Inflammation

During inflammation, immune cells are recruited to sites of infection or injury and activate cytokine networks to protect the host. However, unchecked inflammation can lead to numerous pathophysiological states such as autoimmune disorders. It has been demonstrated that circulating S1P is a key regulator of lymphocyte egress (Cyster and Schwab, 2012). S1P is enriched in lymph and blood compared to interstitial fluids. What's more, the majority (65%) of plasma S1P is complexed with Apolipoprotein M (ApoM) (Blaho et al., 2015). ApoM–S1P is dispensable for lymphocyte trafficking yet restrains lymphopoiesis by activating the S1P1 receptor on bone marrow lymphocyte progenitors. Thus, the signaling axis of ApoM–S1P–S1P1 regulates the lymphocyte emigration from the graining lymph node and adaptive immune responses (Blaho et al., 2015). High levels of S1P have also been found in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and with ulcerative colitis (Kitano et al., 2006; Maceyka and Spiegel, 2014).

Altogether, these roles for S1P signaling in inflammatory and immune disease has led to clinical trials and FDA-approval of various S1P receptor modulators (Maceyka and Spiegel, 2014).

Neurological disease

In humans, sphingolipid concentrations are highest in the nervous system where their dysfunction contributes to neurological diseases. Key sphingolipid species are critical for the normal development and function of brain. Gangliosides, which are heavily glycosylated sphingolipids, are major components of neuronal membranes and account for 10–12% of the lipid content in the nervous system (Posse de Chaves and Sipione, 2010). There is evidence that gangliosides can contribute to the initiation and progression of Alzheimer's disease by facilitating plaque formation (Olsen and Færgeman, 2017). Conversely, defective ganglioside biosynthesis is associated with the development of epilepsy through a loss-of-function mutation in the monosialodihexosylganglioside 3 (GM3) synthase gene (Fragaki et al., 2013).

Cardiovascular disease

Recent data suggests that specific ceramide species are linked to cardiovascular disease (Chen et al., 2011). Higher plasma levels of sphingomyelin have been associated with increased atherosclerosis and have been proposed as independent risk factors for coronary heart disease in humans (Jiang et al., 2000). Similarly, plasma ceramides have been linked to atherogenesis and can predict cardiovascular death in patients with stable coronary artery disease and acute coronary syndromes (Laaksonen et al., 2016). These types of findings have led to the idea that inhibition of ceramide *de novo* synthesis could serve as a post-ischemic strategy to reduce myocardial reperfusion injury (Reforgiato et al., 2016). In contrast, plasma S1P is believed to be

cardioprotective. Low S1P levels have been associated with impaired cell signaling and ischemic heart disease, although the exact relation between the two has not been conclusively addressed (Polzin et al., 2017).

Epigenetic regulation

The human genome is an expanse of genomic loci that contain protein-coding genes and their regulatory elements, such as promotors and enhancers. Genes are only actively expressed when they are accessible to regulatory factors and transcriptional machinery, or they are transcriptionally suppressed within compact and inaccessible structures (Mann et al., 2007). Epigenetics are inherited traits that are functionally relevant changes to the genome which cannot be identified by changes in the nucleotide sequence (Figure 1.4). Covalent modifications to histones and DNA without altering the DNA nucleotide sequence facilitate how cells maintain "memories" for gene expression patterns (Ronnekleiv-Kelly et al., 2017). These changes can be maintained through multiple cell divisions or may persist for multiple generations as non-genetic factors leading to permanent changes in gene expression (McCarrey, 2015). Epigenetic regulation of gene expression is essential for normal development and cellular function. Changes in chromatin configuration may cause a wide range of diseases by altering the activity of specific genes (Brookes and Shi, 2014). Currently, three major mechanisms are thought to be involved in the epigenetic regulation of gene expression patterns: DNA methylation, histone modification and non-coding RNAs.



Figure 1.4. Epigenetic regulation is a dynamic process that occurs above the level of traditional base pair alterations. Common modifications include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination. Chromatin remodeling events can be either activating or repressive and occur at the histone level. Common activating events at the chromatin level include acetylation of histone tails by histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and removal of methyl groups by histone demethyltransferases (HDMTs). However, addition of methyl groups by histone methyl transferases (HMT) can also be activating. These modifications produce an open chromatin state, in which transcription factors can more easily access the DNA and facilitate gene expression. Common repressive events at the histone level include removal of acetyl groups by histone deacetylases (HDACs) and addition of methyl groups by HMTs. Epigenetic control can also be exhibited by direct modifications to nucleotides in certain sequences, such as CpG islands. Addition of methyl groups by methyltransferases is a repressive mark and reversal of methylation by demethyltransferases (DMTs) is frequently activating.

DNA methylation

DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group to cytosine at the 5'-position, converting it to 5-methylcytosine. DNA methylation is mainly catalyzed by three DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs): DNMT3A and DNMT3B primarily establish new sites of methylation whereas DNMT1 maintains existing methylation patterns (Ahuja et al., 2016). Cytosine methylation within DNA sequences that serve as recognition sites for transcription factors (TFs) directly can interfere with TF binding or recruit transcriptional repressor complexes, both of which can repress transcription of genes. Most of our DNA is heavily methylated, thus DNA methylation is critical for silencing of transcription and resulting in changes to numerous cellular processes (Azad et al., 2013). Abnormalities in DNA methylation play a role in pathological processes such as carcinogenesis and oncogenesis. As a result, DNMT inhibitors are being explored as potential cancer therapies. These inhibitors are cytidine analogues and work by incorporating into replicating DNA, covalently binding to the catalytic sites, and inhibiting the enzymatic activities of DNMTs (Azad et al., 2013). To date, two DNMT inhibitors — azacitidine (also known as 5-azacytidine) and decitabine (also known as 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine), have been approved by the FDA for the clinical treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome (Pfister and Ashworth, 2017).

Histone modification

Histones are the chief protein components of chromatin that act as spools for DNA to wind around. Histones affect gene transcription by changing the accessibility of chromatin to transcription factors and gene expression machinery. They are subject to a wide range of modifications, including methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination (Tan et

al., 2011). Most studies regarding transcriptional changes with respect to histone modification have focused on acetylation and methylation (Tough et al., 2016). Histone acetylation primarily occurs at lysine residues H3K18 and H3K27. The acetylation alters the net charge of histone and weakens its interaction with DNA leading to a more open chromatin state. The enzymes responsible for this type of modification are histone acetylases (HATs) and antagonized by histone deacetylases (HDACs). Overexpression of HDACs is observed in many cancer types, including prostate, gastric, and endometrial cancers (Tough et al., 2016). Currently, three HDAC inhibitors are approved by the FDA: vorinostat (also known as SAHA) for the treatment of cutaneous T cell lymphoma, belinostat for the treatment of peripheral T cell lymphoma, and romidepsin for the treatment of both cutaneous and peripheral T-cell lymphoma (Campbell and Thomas, 2017; Smolewski and Robak, 2017).

Histone methylation occurs on both lysine and arginine residues. Methylation of residue H3K4 acts as a gene enhancer whereas methylation of residues H3K9 or H3K27 represses gene promoters. Methylation of histones are catalyzed by histone methyltransferases and are removed by histone demethylases. Specifically, methylation of H3K27 is regulated by Polycomb-group proteins (PcGs), which are important in many aspects of development like homeotic gene regulation and X chromosome inactivation (Kassis et al., 2017; Maclary et al., 2017). The catalytic enzyme in the PcG, EZH2, is upregulated in numerous cancers. Currently, inhibitors of several histone methyltransferases are being tested in clinical trials, such as inhibitors of EZH2 and DOT1L, although no drugs have been approved in clinical use (Hock, 2012).

Non-coding RNAs

Non-coding RNA transcripts, RNA transcripts that do not code for translated proteins, that include microRNAs (miRNAs), piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs), circular RNAs (circRNAs), and long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs), have a profound epigenetic influence on transcriptional output of the genome (Wang et al., 2013b). Approximately 50% of miRNA genes are repressed by epigenetic methylation of their own promoter while other miRNAs are derived from spliced intronic sequences of coding mRNA (Wang et al., 2013b). After being processed into mature miRNA and incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) miRNAs bind to the 3'-UTR of target mRNAs for degradation. A single miRNA is capable of binding and degrading multiple mRNAs (Bamezai et al., 2012). Like miRNAs, piRNA associate with the RISC complex and function as gene silencing mechanism, especially silencing of transposons. Originally, piRNAs were thought to be expressed exclusively in germline tissue and only play a biological role in development. Recently evidence has implicated piRNA to be a functional epigenetic modifier in both germ and somatic stem cell self-renewal as well as tumorigenesis (Bamezai et al., 2012). Conversely, ciRNA antagonize gene silencing by acting as miRNA "sponges "or a decoy to miRNA normal target genes and play a key role in disease progression, especially cancer (Di Ruscio et al., 2013). Lastly, lncRNA have the most dynamic range of epigenetic regulatory mechanisms that have been characterized to date. Evidence has demonstrated that lncRNAs have functional roles in chromatin remodeling, X-chromosome inactivation, RNA splicing, genomic imprinting and DNA methylation (Ahuja et al., 2016; Di Ruscio et al., 2013; Lee and Bartolomei, 2013; Mercer et al., 2009; Rinn et al., 2007).
Epigenetic regulators of sphingolipid metabolism

Beyond being lipid components of cellular membranes, sphingolipids mediate signaling functions in both physiological and pathophysiological processes. Multiple factors including but not limited to development, environmental chemicals, drugs and diet affect sphingolipid homeostasis through epigenetic mechanisms (McCarrey, 2015; Wegner et al., 2016).

Development

Gangliosides are a class of glycosylated sphingolipids with one or more sialic acids bound to a carbohydrate and are particularly abundant in the nervous system (Yu et al., 2009). During brain development there is a pattern shift of gangliosides from simple to complex species that is mainly regulated by the stage expression of genes that encode the glycosyltrasferase enzymes (Tsai and Yu, 2014). A study found that the developmental alteration of gangliosides is regulated through histone acetylation of the glycosyltransferase enzymes in the mouse brain. Furthermore, HDAC inhibitors can effectively change the expression patterns of gangliosides and glycosyltransferases in neuroepithelial cells (Suzuki et al., 2011).

Environmental factors

Hypoxia occurs from stress at high altitude or an otherwise oxygen-depleted environment. In tissues and cells, hypoxia can occur where blood flow is limited due to various physiological conditions (Salminen et al., 2016). During hypoxia, hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) is expressed to boost energy metabolism and autophagy. Recent studies found that hypoxia induces the expression of HIF-1 α through increased activity of sphingosine kinase (SPHK). This effect can be blocked by administration of a SPHK inhibitor or

S1P receptor antagonists (Sanagawa et al., 2016). Stabilization of HIF-1α further increases the expression of distinct histone lysine demethylases to promote gene expression (Salminen et al., 2016). Thus, sphingolipid metabolism is closely intertwined with epigenetic changes in chromatin during hypoxia. Similarly, cigarette smoke has long been proven to induce epigenetic modifications such as aberrant methylation (Zöchbauer-Müller et al., 2003). It is also the major cause of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) where alveolar macrophages are defective in their ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells (Barnawi et al., 2017). A study identified that cigarette smoke extract significantly increased expression of S1P receptor 5 (S1PR5). In alveolar macrophages from COPD patients, the expression levels of S1PR5 is significantly increased and is correlated with defective efferocytosis (Barnawi et al., 2015). They further found that this dysregulation of S1P signaling system is caused by reduced DNA methylation of the S1PR5 gene. In this way, decreased promoter methylation released gene transcription of S1PR5, which is essential for S1P-mediated clearance of apoptotic cells (Barnawi et al., 2015).

<u>Drugs</u>

Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) is a key ceramide-producing enzyme in cellular stress responses. Tretinoin, also known as all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), is medication used for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) (Abaza et al., 2017). Although the mechanism of action is still unknown, studies have demonstrated that tretinoin encourages progenitor cells in APL patients to differentiate terminally and thereby ameliorating the progression of the disease (Nitto and Sawaki, 2014). A recent study identified nSMase2 as an early ATRA-induced gene and implicated nSMase2 having a role in growth arrest after ATRA treatment (Clarke et al., 2016). Furthermore, it was found that ATRA regulates nSMase2 directly

through modulation of histone acetylation in a CREB-binding protein and p300 dependent manner (Clarke et al., 2016).

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are multipotent progenitor cells that can be used to improve tissue repair. Current MSC therapies are often primed with bioactive lipids such as S1P and ceramide-1-phosphate, which can enhance in vivo engraftment and survival of transplanted cells (Ratajczak et al., 2010). A recent study found that the HDAC inhibitor valproic acid (VPA) enforced the priming effect of S1P at a low dosage in human umbilical cord derived MSCs through the activation of the MAPK and AKT signaling pathways (Kim et al., 2013). This study indicated that the combinatory effects of epigenetic modulators and S1P-priming strategies can improve the therapeutic potency of stem cells. Similarly, VPA has been found to induce the generation of glycosphingolipid GM3, a known suppressor of epidermal growth factor receptor phosphorylation to suppress cancer cell proliferation (Kawashima et al., 2016). Additionally, another HDAC inhibitor, AR-42, has been shown to exert an anti-colon cancer activity through a mechanism of ceramide production (Xu et al., 2015).

Toxins

Fumonisin B1 (FB1) is a Fusarium mycotoxin frequently occurring in maize-based food and feed. Importantly, FB1 is a well-recognized inhibitor of *de novo* ceramide synthesis due to its ability to inhibit (dihydro)ceramide synthase activity. Intriguingly, FB1 may lead to liver tumorigenesis by disrupting DNA methylation and chromatin modifications which causes chromatin instability in HepG2 cells (Chuturgoon et al., 2014; Demirel et al., 2015).

Sphingolipids as epigenetic regulators

As mentioned, bioactive sphingolipids serve both as structural lipids and signaling molecules. Aside from prominent roles associated with being located on the plasma membrane, sphingolipids and their metabolizing enzymes are also found in the nucleus and associated with the nuclear matrix and chromatin. Their metabolism in the nucleus has been linked to remodeling of chromatin and epigenetic regulation of gene expression (Spiegel et al., 2012).

<u>S1P</u>

S1P was the first identified endogenous nuclear regulator of HDACs. In human MCF-7 breast cancer cells, S1P in the nucleus was found to specifically bind to the HDAC1 and HDAC2 and inhibited their enzymatic activity (Hait et al., 2009). Another study in dystrophic mice revealed that expression of S1P increased histone acetylation of specific genes, in which inflammatory genes are downregulated while metabolic genes are upregulated, helping muscle cells maintain energy metabolism (Nguyen-Tran et al., 2014). Additionally, in drosophila of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, S1P was found to increase the capacity of the muscle cell to use fatty acids as an energy source by inhibiting the acetylation of specific histone residues (Nguyen-Tran et al., 2014). Thus, nuclear S1P can be directly linked to epigenetic regulation of gene expression by modulating histone acetylation. In a somewhat contrasting manner, the degradation of S1P by the S1P lyase has also been attributed to the regulation of sepsis-mediated inflammation. This was attributed to S1P degradation products serving as regulators of histone acetylation (Ebenezer et al., 2017).

<u>Ceramide</u>

Inhibitor 2 of protein phosphatase 2A (I2PP2A) is a biological inhibitor of the cellular serine/threonine protein phosphatase PP2A (Dent, 2013; Mukhopadhyay et al., 2013). I2PP2A has been suggested to be oncogenic and has been shown to be overexpressed in many tumor cell types. I2PP2A also has other targets besides PP2A, e.g., DNA exonucleases and the modification of histone acetylation. It has been shown that ceramide can disrupt the association between PP2A and I2PP2A. Additionally, ceramide inhibits I2PP2A's upregulation of c-Myc and its downregulation of histone acetylation in prostate cancer cells, blocking the epigenetic action of I2PP2A (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2013). Conversely, in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells, sphingomyelin-derived ceramide has also been shown to inhibit the deacetylation of microtubules which induces formation of a ciliogenic lipid-protein complex that can sustain primary cilia (He et al., 2012). This may not be directly epigenetic in nature but involves the regulation of a post-translational modification that also can play a role in epigenetics.

Gangliosides

Gangliosides are expressed primarily on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane of cells in all vertebrates, and are most abundant in the nervous tissues (Tsai et al., 2016). Studies have provided evidence that ganglioside GM1 is associated with gene regulation in neuronal cells through an interaction with active chromatin via acetylated histones (Itokazu et al., 2017). Ganglioside GM1 was found to bind to acetylated histones H3 and H4 on the promoters of the *GalNAcT* and *NeuroD1* genes. This interaction was shown to activate neuronal differentiation in neural stem cells, and was further supported by exogenous supplementation of ganglioside GM1 (Itokazu et al., 2017; Tsai et al., 2016).

<u>Sulfatide</u>

Sulfatide also is a glycosphingolipid. In hepatocellular carcinoma cells, it has been found to suppress *miR-223* expression in association with reduced recruitment of acetylated histone H3 and C/EBP α to the *pre-miR-223* gene promoter. Sulfatide was also shown to stimulate the expression of histone deacetylases HDAC9 and HDAC10, and enhance their recruitment to the *miR-223* gene promoter (Dong et al., 2014).

Concluding thoughts

Sphingolipid metabolism and epigenetic modulation are closely intertwined with one another. Epigenetic regulation is an important regulatory mechanism for controlling the expression pattern of sphingolipids. Conversely, sphingolipids in the nucleus can directly modulate transcriptional activity via epigenetic modulation. An understanding of both processes is critical as they play an integral role in both normal development and pathological processes. A deeper investigation into how sphingolipid metabolism influences epigenetic regulation, and the reciprocal relationship, in the context pathophysiology of disease development can potentially lead to new diagnostics and therapeutic targets (Hannun and Obeid, 2018).

Future studies of the relationships between epigenetics and sphingolipid metabolism should address the following questions: 1) what other sphingolipids can directly influence epigenetic regulation, 2) how can aberrant epigenetic regulation and sphingolipid metabolism contribute to the development of cancer and other diseases, and 3) what are the mechanisms that dictate the interplay between epigenetic and sphingolipid metabolic regulation? Investigation of these questions may yield results that could contribute to the advancement of biomedical

research and the development of the next generation of molecular and sphingolipid-targeted therapies.

1.4. Therapeutic Potential of Ceramides in Cancer Treatment³

Abstract

Ceramides are a family of wax-like lipids that fall under the broader category of sphingolipids. A ceramide molecule is composed of a sphingosine side chain linked to a fatty acid via an amide group. Distinct from other sphingolipids, the head of the ceramide sphingosine side group is a simple alcohol rather than a sugar or phosphocholine linkage. The fatty acid chains of ceramide can vary in chain length and degree of saturation. The degree of saturation determines the biological activity of the ceramide (Ventura et al., 2019). Shorthand nomenclature for these backbones include a "d" or "t" to indicate the number of hydroxyl groups followed by the acyl chain length and number of double bonds as seen in fatty acids. For instance, sphingosine can be written as d18:1 (Pruett et al., 2008). Ceramides are highly abundant within the cell membrane of eukaryotic cells and are classically appreciated for their role as structural elements. More recently, ceramides are being appreciated for their biological activity as well. They have been found to participate in a variety of cellular pathways including apoptosis, cell senescence, the cell cycle, and cell differentiation (Holthuis et al., 2001). This review discusses pathways of ceramide synthesis and metabolism, roles of ceramide in different diseases, targeting ceramide metabolism in the treatment of cancer, as well as ceramide-delivering nanotechnologies.

³ <u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Bert F. Prince, Alexander J. Thorpe, Brian M. Barth. Therapeutic Potential of Ceramides in Cancer Treatment. In preparation for submission.

Ceramide Metabolism

Ceramide metabolism is a complex network of interconnected pathways with many origins (Figure 1.5). Broadly, ceramide metabolism can be classified into *de novo* synthesis and catabolism, including recycling, salvage, and degradation.



Figure 1.5. Pathway for ceramide synthesis and metabolism. *De novo* ceramide synthesis initially generates dihydrosphingoid species prior to desaturation. Salvage ceramide synthesis, or turnover by the successive activities of acidic/lysosomal-localized catabolic enzymes, generates sphingosine that escapes the lysosome to be re-acylated to ceramide. Glucosylceramide synthase (GCS); cerebrosidase (GBA); sphingomyelin synthase (SGMS); ceramide kinase (CERK), ceramide-1-phosphate phosphatase (C1PP); ceramidases (CDase); ceramide synthase (CERS); sphingosine kinase (SPHK); S1P phosphatase (S1PP).

<u>De novo synthesis</u>

De novo synthesis of ceramide occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum. It starts with the condensation of a serine residue and a palmitoyl-CoA by serine palmitoyltransferase, which produces 3-keto-dihydrosphingosine. This unstable intermediate is rapidly reduced to dihydrosphingosine (also known as sphinganine) by 3-ketosphinganine reductase. The ceramide synthase (CERS) family catalyzes the N-acylation of dihydrosphingosine into dihydroceramide. Desaturase then introduces a 4,5-trans-double bond into the sphinganine backbone of dihydroceramide, producing a complete ceramide molecule.

Six ceramide synthases (CERS1-6) have been identified in humans (Table 1.2). Each CERS enzyme prefers different chain lengths of the fatty acyl-CoA substrate involved in the Nacylation of dihydrosphingosine. The resulting dihydroceramide will contain a fatty acid of varying lengths depending on the CERS enzyme used. The chain lengths of the fatty acyl-CoA used will vary from 14 to 36 carbons. Ceramides with different chain compositions impact cell physiology differently (Pinto et al., 2014). In addition, different ceramide synthases have different tissue distribution patterns. For example, CERS1 is most highly expressed in the brain and skeletal muscle, which correlates with an abundance of C18 ceramide in those tissues. CERS2 is most highly expressed in the liver and kidneys and favors long chain fatty acids (C22:0-24:0) (Wattenberg, 2018). CERS3 is highly expressed in the skin and testis and is highly selective toward very-long (C22:0-C24:0) and ultra-long (more than C26:0) chains. CERS4 is highly expressed in the skin and leukocytes and catalyzes formation of ceramide with a high selectivity towards long and very-long chains (C18:0-C22:0) (Kihara, 2012). CERS5 is more commonly found in the muscle and brain. It prefers short chain fatty acyl-CoA and mainly produces ceramides incorporating C16:0 fatty acyl-CoA (Wattenberg, 2018). CERS6 also uses

C16:0 fatty acyl-CoA as a substrate and is most commonly found in the brain (Kitatani et al., 2008).

| Ceramide synthase | Chain length of the fatty acyl-CoA substrate | Tissue distribution |
|-------------------|--|---------------------|
| | | Brain and skeletal |
| CERS1 | C18 | muscle |
| CERS2 | C22-C24 | Liver and kidneys |
| CERS3 | C22-C24, > C26 | Skin and testis |
| CERS4 | C18-22 | Skin, leukocytes |
| CERS5 | C16 | Muscle and brain |
| CERS6 | C16 | Brain |

Table 1.2. Classification and distribution of ceramide synthases

Salvage, recycling, and degradation

In addition to the *de novo* synthesis, ceramide can be "salvaged" from complex sphingolipid reservoirs, recycled into other sphingolipids, or degraded into simple molecules. These three pathways, alongside with *de novo* synthesis, regulate the cellular levels of ceramide.

The salvage of ceramide from larger sphingolipids provides for more than half of ceramide biosynthesis. One such example is the catabolism of glycosphingolipids. During the breakdown of large glycosphingolipids, sugar groups are cleaved off which leads to the formation of either glucosylceramide or galactosylceramide. In turn, specific β-glucosidases and galactosidases hydrolyze these lipids to form ceramide (Kolter and Sandhoff, 2005). In addition to the formation of ceramide from larger sphingolipids such as glycosphingolipids, ceramide can be formed via the hydrolysis of sphingomyelin by acid sphingomyelinase (aSMase) (Wattenberg, 2018). Ceramide can also act as a substrate to build more complex sphingolipids. For instance, ceramide can be converted into sphingomyelin, a large component of the fatty myelin sheath, via

the action of sphingomyelin synthase (SGMS). Similarly, ceramide can be acted on by glucosylceramide synthase (GCS) to form glucosylceramide. GCS is an enzyme that in humans is encoded by the *UGCG* gene. These new substrates can go on to form more complex sphingolipids in the Golgi apparatus, an example of which would be gangliosides. These products are then transported to the plasma membrane, the major reservoir of these lipids (Hanada et al., 2003; Maceyka and Spiegel, 2014). The degradation of ceramide is also a necessary part of maintaining lipid homeostasis. Ceramides present in endothelial cells are deacylated by acid ceramidase to form sphingosine, the center of sphingolipid metabolism. It eventually results in the hydrolysis of triglycerides and phospholipids and shedding of some of the surface components (Hussain et al., 2012).

Ceramide and Sphingosine-1-phosphate

In addition to ceramide, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) is an important sphingolipid to highlight. Ceramide can be converted into S1P via two enzymatic reactions. First, ceramidase (CDase), typically acid CDase, converts ceramide to sphingosine and then sphingosine kinase (SPHK), typically SPHK1, phosphorylates sphingosine to S1P. Although S1P and ceramide share structural similarities and are easily interconverted, the two exhibits opposite effects. Whereas ceramide is well appreciated for its role in the stimulation of apoptosis, S1P is appreciated as a pro-survival signal, leading to increased cell growth and viability (Ogretmen, 2018). S1P's pro-survival effects are beneficial to tumors and thus an excess of S1P in tissues is associated with tumor neogenesis. S1P signals through G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) known as S1P receptors (S1PRs). Activation of S1PRs often leads to subsequent activation of the Raf-Mek-Erk pathway, a classic mitogenic pathway. Thus, activation of these GPCRs leads to

increased tumor cell viability. The control of the titer of ceramide and S1P in tumors is thought to be a potential therapeutic target (Wang et al., 2018).

Roles of ceramides in diseases

Structurally diverse ceramides can provide platforms for signaling events and protein/lipid trafficking along cellular membranes (Bieberich, 2018). Thus, changes in ceramide levels can alter the biophysical properties of the membrane. In this way, ceramide functions as a sensor and affects the distribution of transmembrane proteins and other cellular responses (Ventura et al., 2019). Consequently, abnormalities in ceramide homeostasis can lead to various diseases.

<u>Skin diseases</u>

Skin ceramide composition, which plays crucial roles in maintaining the barrier function of the stratum corneum, is changed in patients with atopic dermatitis (Shen et al., 2018). It is accompanied by a change of ceramide synthase isoform expression from CERS3 to CERS4, leading to a barrier repair response (Peters et al., 2020). Topical treatment with pseudo-ceramide lotion, which contains 3% of Cetyl-PG hydroxyethyl palmitamide, has been found to significantly reduce skin symptoms. Additionally, a significant decrease in trans-epidermal water loss and increased water content has been shown with pseudo-ceramide treatment. Those changes are associated with a distinct switch of the ceramide profile from an atopic dermatitis to a healthy skin phenotype without any increased level of endogenous ceramides (Ishida et al., 2020). Increased ceramide content results in acceleration of epidermal barrier restoration after acute skin damage (Shin et al., 2020).

Metabolic syndrome

Ceramides contribute to lipotoxicity that underlies metabolic syndrome and related diseases such as type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Fang et al., 2019). The species of ceramide that are associated with cardiovascular disease progression are C16 ceramide (d18:1/16:0), C18 ceramide (d18:1/18:0), and C24:1 ceramide (d18:1/24:1). These ceramides lead to abnormalities in glucose metabolism by blocking insulin signaling. Additionally, these ceramides dysregulate lipid metabolism by promoting adipose inflammation. The C24 ceramide (d18:1/24:0) species has been associated with good cardiovascular health (Poss et al., 2019). It has been found that daily oral treatment with P053, which specifically targets CERS1, promotes skeletal muscle fatty acid oxidation and reduces whole-body fat accumulation without causing insulin resistance (Turner et al., 2018).

Infections and Inflammation

Different properties of structural domains formed by ceramides can cause changes in membrane curvature. These changes in membrane morphology may be exploited by pathogens, leading to easier host cell infection (Prévost et al., 2015). Bile acids and ceramides have been found to allow for the entry of viruses and to facilitate their subsequent replication in jejunal enteroids. Some viral pathogens invade the epithelial barrier and replicate in the human small intestine. Ceramide assists their release into the cytoplasm by acting as an initial binding factor for norovirus strains (Murakami et al., 2020). Conversely, it has also been found that ceramide can mediate a neutrophil extracellular trap formation to boost bactericidal capacity in neutrophils (Corriden et al., 2015).

Cancers

Ceramides of specific chain lengths have been found to be dysregulated in various cancer types, either mediating apoptosis via mitochondrial membrane perturbation and/or influencing cell death signaling or having protective roles against apoptosis (Ogretmen, 2018). The exact effect of ceramide on cancer depends on the specific ceramide structure and the cellular context (Jeffries and Krupenko, 2018). For example, C16 ceramide generation is decreased in human ovarian carcinoma cells (Prinetti et al., 2006). Overexpression of CERS2, which increased the generation of C24 ceramide, protected Hela cells from ionizing radiation (IR)-induced apoptosis (Mesicek et al., 2010). However, C14 ceramide, C16 ceramide, and C18 ceramide levels are significantly increased in breast cancer tissue compared to the normal tissue suggesting a contrast in function of ceramide in different cancers (Moro et al., 2018). Notably, various anticancer therapeutics have been shown to alter the levels of cellular ceramides (Table 1.3).

Table 1.3. Anti-cancer therapeutics that affect ceramide generation

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|
| Chemotherapy agents | | | | |
| Sorafenib | Kinase inhibitor against VEGFR, PDGFR and Raf kinases. | Increase CERS1 expression | Acute myeloid leukemia | (Dany et al., 2016) |
| Quizartinib | Tyrosine kinase inhibitor against FLT3/STK1, CSF1R/FMS, SCFR/KIT, and PDGFRs | Increase CERS1 expression | Acute myeloid leukemia | (Dany et al., 2016) |

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|--|---|--|---|
| Chemotherapy a | gents | | | |
| Crenolanib | Tyrosine kinase inhibitor against FLT3, PDGFRα and PDGFRβ | Increase CERS1 expression | Acute myeloid leukemia | (Dany et al., 2016) |
| Imatinib | Tyrosine kinase inhibitor against Bcr-Abl | Increase CERS1 expression | Chronic myelogenous leukemia | (Baran et al., 2007) |
| Dasatinib | Tyrosine kinase inhibitor against Bcr-Abl | Increase CERS1, CERS5, CERS6 expression | Chronic myelogenous leukemia | (Gencer et al., 2011) |
| Doxorubicin | Interfering with the function of DNA | Increase CERS1, CERS2, CERS5 expression | Embryonic kidney cells, Bladder cancer, Breast cancer | (Fan et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2018; Min et al., 2007) |
| Cinobufotalin | Inducing growth inhibition and apoptosis | Increase CERS1 expression | Hepatocellular carcinoma | (Cheng et al., 2015) |
| Aburs agglutinin | Inactivating Type II ribosome | Increase CERS1 expression | Glioblastoma | (Panda et al., 2018) |
| Teniposide | Inhibitor of topoisomerase II | Increase CERS1 expression | Glioma | (Wang et al., 2017) |
| Cisplatin | Interfering with DNA replication | Increase CERS1, CERS6 expression | Embryonic kidney cells, Oral squamous carcinoma | (Li et al., 2018; Min et al., 2007) |

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|--|---|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Chemotherapy a | gents | | | |
| Carboplatin | Interfering with DNA replication | Increase CERS1 expression | Embryonic kidney cells | (Min et al., 2007) |
| Vincristine | Inhibitor of mitosis at metaphase | Increase CERS1, CERS5 expression | Embryonic kidney cells | (Min et al., 2007) |
| Oxaliplatin | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase CERS5 expression | Colon cancer | (Brachtendorf et al., 2018) |
| Etoposide | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase CERS2, CERS3, CERS4 expression | Embryonic fibroblasts | (Siddique et al., 2012) |
| Fluorouracil (5- FU) | Inhibiting DNA replication | Decrease CERS5 expression | Colon cancer | (Brachtendorf et al., 2018) |
| Dorsomorphin | Inhibitor of BMP signaling | Increase CERS5 expression | Breast cancer | (Jin et al., 2009) |
| Methotrexate | Inhibiting the synthesis of DNA, RNA, thymidylate, and protein | Increase CERS6 expression | Liver cancer, Lung cancer | (Fekry et al., 2016) |
| Daunorubicin | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase CERS expression | Leukemia | (Bose et al., 1995) |
| Fludarabine | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase CERS2 expression | Chronic lymphocytic leukemia | (Biswal et al., 2000) |

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|--|--|------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Chemotherapy ag | gents | | | |
| Gemcitabine | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase CERS2 expression | Pancreatic cancer | (Modrak et al., 2009) |
| Camptothecin | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Increase <i>de novo</i> ceramide synthesis | Follicular thyroid carcinoma | (Rath et al., 2009) |
| Irinotecan | Inhibiting DNA synthesis | Block formation of glucosyl- ceramide | Colorectal cancer | (Litvak et al., 2003) |
| Radiation | | | | |
| UV-B radiation | Damaging DNA | Increase CERS1 expression | Lung cancer | (Sridevi et al., 2009) |
| Ionizing radiation | Damaging DNA | Increase CERS2, CERS5, CERS6 expression | Cervical cancer | (Mesicek et al., 2010) |
| Alternative medi | cine | | | |
| Staurosporine | Inhibitor of protein kinases against PKC | Increase CERS2, CERS6 expression | Glioma | (Jensen et al., 2014) |
| Hormone inhibitors | | | | |
| Anastrozole | Blocking the production of estrogens | Decrease CERS4, CERS5 expression | Endometrial cancer | (Mojakgomo et al., 2015) |

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|--|--|-------------------------|--|
| Hormone inhibite | ors | | | |
| Tamoxifen | Selective estrogen receptor modulator | Inhibit ceramide glycosylation | Breast cancer | (Wang et al., 2003) |
| Adjuvant drugs | | | | |
| Tetrahydrocanna binol (THC) | Partial agonist activity at cannabinoid receptors | Increase CERS5, CERS6 expression | Glioma | (Hernández- Tiedra et al., 2016) |
| R(+)- methanandamide | Synthetic long- lasting anandamide analog | Increase CERS6 expression | Mantle cell lymphoma | (Gustafsson et al., 2009) |
| Anti-inflammato | ry drugs | | | |
| Celecoxib | COX-2 inhibitor | Increase CERS6 expression | Colon cancer | (Schiffmann et al., 2010) |
| Drugs in clinical | trials | | | |
| Stichoposide D | Inducing apoptosis | Increase CERS6 expression | Leukemia | (Yun et al., 2015) |
| Cladososide C2 | Inducing apoptosis | Increase CERS6 expression | Leukemia | (Yun et al., 2015) |
| TRAIL(Apo-2L) | Inducing TNF- related apoptosis | Increase CERS6 expression | Colon cancer | (White- Gilbertson et al., 2009) |

| Name of the anti-cancer therapeutics | Mechanism of action | Effects on ceramide expression | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|---|--|-----------------|---------------------------|
| Drugs in clinical | trials | | | |
| IL-24 | Inducing apoptosis and angiogenesis | Increase CERS6 expression | Glioblastoma | (Yacoub et al., 2010) |
| Resveratrol | Not yet clear | Inhibition of dihydroceramide desaturase | Gastric cancer | (Signorelli et al., 2009) |
| Fenretinide | Inducing apoptosis | Activate serine palmitoyl transferase | Prostate cancer | (Wang et al., 2003) |

Targeting ceramide metabolism for cancer therapy

Considering the known effects of ceramide and its dysregulation in many cancers, developing ceramide-based therapies for cancers is very attractive. Various therapies have aimed to target ceramide metabolism as a method to control apoptosis in cancer cells (Table 1.4). These therapies upregulate endogenous production of ceramides or downregulate ceramide neutralization enzymes. Enzymes that neutralize ceramide convert ceramide to non-ceramide sphingolipids. Examples include SGMS and CDase (Figure 1.5). The goal of these therapies is to raise the intracellular concentration of ceramide to direct cancer cells towards apoptosis. In addition to augmenting endogenous ceramide synthesis via pharmacological interventions, increasing ceramide levels through exogenous analogs has been widely explored in various cancer models. Various analogs or inhibitors of ceramide signaling have also shown efficacy in clinical trials. Ceramides are not the only sphingolipids that are being explored for their potential to treat cancers. For example, Fingolimod (FTY720), a structural analog of S1P, has been approved for clinical use in the treatment of multiple sclerosis and has also shown efficacies in treatments of cancer (Chun and Hartung, 2010). Mechanistically, Fingolimod suppresses tumor growth via S1PR-dependent or receptor-independent mechanisms in colon and lung cancer, respectively (Liang et al., 2013; Saddoughi et al., 2013). It has also shown potential to treat imatinib-refractory chronic myeloid leukemia by inhibiting stem cell proliferation and expansion *in vitro* (Neviani et al., 2013).

| Synthetic drugs | Mechanism of action | Effective cancer types | Citations |
|-----------------------|---------------------|--|---------------------------|
| Analog 315 and 403 | Ceramide analog | Primary effusion lymphoma, breast cancer | (Chen et al., 2020) |
| Analog 406 | C8-Ceramide analog | Breast cancer, ovarian cancer | (Ponnapakam et al., 2014) |
| LCL30 | C16-Ceramide analog | Squamous carcinoma | (Separovic et al., 2011) |
| C16-serinol | C16-Ceramide analog | Neuroblastoma | (Bieberich et al., 2000) |
| LCL85 | C16-Ceramide analog | Colon carcinoma | (Paschall et al., 2014) |
| LCL29 | C6-Ceramide analog | Squamous carcinoma | (Separovic et al., 2011) |
| LCL85 | C16-Ceramide analog | Colon cancer, breast cancer | (Paschall et al., 2014) |
| LCL124 | C6-Ceramide analog | Pancreatic cancer | (Beckham et al., 2013) |

 Table 1.4. Synthetic drugs that target ceramide metabolism

Table 1.4. Continued

| Synthetic drugs | Mechanism of action | Effective cancer types | Citations |
|--------------------|--------------------------------------|--|---|
| LCL204 | Inhibitor of ceramidase | Head and neck squamous cell cancers | (Elojeimy et al., 2007) |
| D-MAPP, B13 | Inhibitors of ceramidase | Colon cancer | (Selzner et al., 2001) |
| Ceranib-2 | Inhibitor of ceramidase | Mammary adenocarcinoma | (Draper et al., 2011) |
| LCL385 | Inhibitor of ceramidase | Prostate tumors | (Mahdy et al., 2009) |
| LCL521 | Inhibitor of ceramidase | Squamous cell carcinoma | (Korbelik et al., 2016) |
| Fingolimod | Structural analog of S1P | Colon cancer, lung cancer, chronic myeloid leukemia | (Liang et al., 2013; Neviani et al., 2013; Saddoughi et al., 2013)l |
| SK1-I | Inhibitor of SPHK1 | Glioblastoma | (Kapitonov et al., 2009) |
| PF-543 | Inhibitor of S1P | Head and neck carcinoma, colorectal cancer | (Ju et al., 2016; Schnute et al., 2012) |
| VPC03090 | S1PR 1/3 antagonist | 4T1 mammary carcinoma | (Kennedy et al., 2011) |
| AB1 | S1PR 2 antagonist | Neuroblastoma | (Li et al., 2015) |
| Sonepcizumab | S1P antibody | Renal cell carcinoma | (Pal et al., 2017) |
| ABC294640 | Inhibitor of sphingosine kinase 2 | Pancreatic cancer, prostate cancer, advanced solid tumors, multiple myeloma, lymphoma | (Britten et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2016; Qin et al., 2014; Venant et al., 2015; Venkata et al., 2014) |

Nanotechnology for ceramide delivery

One of the issues with ceramide-based therapies is the delivery of the drug to appropriate body tissues. Since ceramide is highly hydrophobic, a suitable carrier is needed for its successful delivery without restricting its pharmacological effects. Recently, delivering drugs via nanotechnology has become more appreciated. Nanoparticles, measuring up to 400 nm in size, have demonstrated efficacy for carrying and delivering therapeutic molecules with diverse physiological properties. Several delivery materials have been explored to increase the drug performance (Table 1.5). Importantly, the use of nanoparticles may allow for selective targeting of tumors due to the enhanced permeation retention (EPR) effect. The EPR effect is the propensity of tumor vasculature to be leaky. This is largely due to the disorganized manner in which tumor-mediated neovascularization occurs. Gaps between vascular endothelium provides potential for targeting of anti-cancer therapies to specific tissues. Nanoparticles are small enough to leave the vasculature at points of disorganization and leakiness. In theory, this facet of tumors would allow for specific targeting of cancerous tissues by nanomedicines (Kester et al., 2015). A particularly optimistic facet of nanotechnology usage in ceramide delivery is the potential for non-toxic therapies. One of the largest issues in cancer therapeutics is the toxic nature of many of the drugs used to treat cancer. Unlike many standards of care therapeutics, the C6-ceramide nanoliposome has shown promising results in terms of toxicity. In dog and murine models, the C6-ceramide nanoliposome was minimally toxic (Kester et al., 2015). The use of nanotechnology in drug delivery may lead to a new generation of cancer therapeutics, one in which toxicity is not the norm for standard of care therapies.

| Delivery materials | Advantages | Citations |
|--|---|--------------------------------|
| C6-Ceramide Nanoliposome | Overcome the lack of solubility in physiological solutions, limited cell permeability and circulating catabolic enzymes | (Stover and Kester, 2003) |
| Poly(D,L-lactide-co- glycolide) PLGA | Exhibit favorable performances in anticancer drug delivery but insufficient tumor targetability | (Graf et al., 2012) |
| Polyethyleneglycol- chitosan-ceramide | Have sustained release and higher cellular uptake but lower cytotoxicity | (Battogtokh and Ko, 2014a) |
| Solid lipid nanoparticles | Provide large surface area and high loading content for hydrophobic drugs, have better stability | (Balakrishnan et al., 2016) |
| Chitosan-ceramide graft copolymer | Improve the stability and reduce toxicity under physiological conditions | (Battogtokh and Ko, 2014b) |

 Table 1.5. Nanotechnology for ceramide delivery

Combined usage of ceramide and other drugs in the treatment of cancer

With the application of nanotechnology, exogenous ceramides are being explored in various cancers. C6-ceramide has been found to prevent metastasis and recurrence of anaplastic thyroid carcinoma cell lines (Fujiwara et al., 2020). The C6-ceramide nanoliposome slows the growth of liver tumors in mice by boosting T-cell activity (Bai and Guo, 2018). In addition to being administered alone, exogenous ceramide can also be incorporated with other drugs into innovative cancer treatments (Moro et al., 2019). The nanoliposome shows potential as a delivery mechanism of such therapies because ceramide can be easily distributed into the hydrophobic membrane of the nanoliposome, and hydrophilic therapies can be placed into the aqueous interior of the nanoliposome. As emerging studies have shown that ceramide can

influence other drugs through nanoparticles, ceramide will probably have more significant clinical application in combination with chemotherapy (Table 1.6).

| Combination usage | Cancer types | Citations |
|--|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Curcumin + C6-ceramide | Melanoma | (Yu et al., 2010) |
| Curcumin + C6-ceramide | Osteosarcoma | (Dhule et al., 2014) |
| Vinblastine + C6-ceramide | Hepatocarcinoma and colorectal cancer | (Adiseshaiah et al., 2013) |
| Sorafenib + C6-ceramide + C8-ceramide | Melanoma and breast cancer | (Tran et al., 2008) |
| Safingol + C2-ceramide | Acute myeloid leukemia | (Tan et al., 2014) |
| Doxorubicin + C6-ceramide | Breast cancer and melanoma | (Fonseca et al., 2014) |
| Myrisplatin + C6-ceramide | Ovarian cancer | (S et al., 2014) |
| Paclitaxel + C6-ceramide | Melanoma | (Carvalho et al., 2017) |
| Gemcitabine + C6-ceramide | Pancreatic cancer | (Jiang et al., 2011) |
| PDMP + C6-ceramide | Pancreatic cancer | (Jiang et al., 2011) |

Table 1.6. Combination of ceramide and other drugs in the treatment of cancer

Conclusions

Sphingolipids, and other lipids as well, have been classically appreciated as being structural elements of cells. While this is a truism, it is not the whole picture. Biologically active

lipids play vital roles in the development and prevention of diseases. This is highlighted through an examination of ceramides, their metabolic pathways, and their demonstrative physiological effects. Ceramides play large roles in many disease processes. One disease that is highly associated with ceramides is cancer. Many cancers experience a downregulation of ceramides and the enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of ceramides. This is because the presence of large quantities of endogenous ceramides leads to the induction of apoptosis. Interestingly a highly-related sphingolipid, S1P, is highly bioactive but acts to achieve the opposite physiological effect of ceramide, that is an increase in mitogenic and cell survival signaling. Ceramides have antitumor therapeutic potential through their role in the stimulation of both mitochondrial mediated and death-receptor mediated apoptosis. The question of how to exploit this effect of endogenous ceramides is yet to be definitively answered. Some drugs, as mentioned above, have aimed to control the metabolism of ceramide. The result of these therapies is an increased abundance of intracellular ceramide. They do this primarily by downregulating ceramide neutralization enzymes, which are responsible for the conversion of ceramide to nonceramide sphingolipids. Within this category of therapeutics, therapies that aim to downregulate the activity of sphingosine-1-phosphate, such as AB1 and Sonepcizumab should be considered as well because they act to manipulate sphingolipid metabolism to combat cancers. As S1P's activity yields an opposite physiological effect of ceramide, the antagonism of S1PRs has therapeutic potential. Other drugs have instead focused on introducing exogenous ceramides to cancer tissues. Although the goal of the therapies is similar, these do not involve control of the metabolism of tumor cells. In many ways this is a more direct way of raising the intracellular levels of ceramide, but there are issues that need to be solved before these therapies can be brought to the bedside. Such therapies have had troubles finding effective and targeted methods

to deliver exogenous ceramides. The development of delivery systems such as the nanoliposome provide optimism for the next generation of cancer therapeutics. Through such delivery methods, there is real potential for less toxic and more efficacious therapies such as novel ceramide-based drugs. Although a promising field, ceramide-based therapies have a way to go until they are standard of care. New approaches to delivery will need to be developed to solve existing issues such as drug loading and non-specific tissue targeting. It is hoped that in time these novel ceramide-based therapies will efficiently treat a variety of malignancies.

1.5. Regulation of Growth/Differentiation Factor 1 in Human and Animals

Abstract

Growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is a protein that in humans is encoded by the *GDF1* gene. It is a member of the transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) superfamily, which encompasses a large group of structurally related polypeptides that regulate cell growth and differentiation. GDF1 is mainly found in the brain, spinal cord and peripheral nerves of embryos. It has a role in left-right patterning and mesoderm induction during embryonic development. This review further discusses GDF1's structure, signaling pathway, and function across different species.

Human

<u>Structure</u>

GDF1 encodes a secreted ligand of the TGF β superfamily of proteins. The GDF1 protein is a 12-15kDa secreted protein. It is synthesized as a preproprotein that contains a 29 amino acid signal peptide, a 224 amino acid propeptide, and a 119 amino acid mature peptide which is released following proteolysis at a dibasic cleavage site (Lee, 1991). It is mainly found in the brain of embryos and is absent from most normal adult tissue (Figure 1.6).

| GDF1 Location | RNA Protein | CERS1 Location | RNA Protein |
|-------------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------|--------------|
| Brain | • | Brain | 0 |
| Eye | • O | Eye | •O |
| Endocrine tissues | =© | Endocrine tissues | - O |
| Lung | -0 | Lung | - O |
| Proximal digestive tract | -O | Proximal digestive tract | O |
| Gastrointestinal tract | •0 | Gastrointestinal tract | · © — |
| Liver & Gallbladder | -0 | Liver & Gallbladder | 0 |
| Pancreas | -0 | Pancreas | 0 |
| Kidney & urinary bladder | -00 | Kidney & urinary bladder | • © |
| Male tissues | -0 | Male tissues | 0 |
| Female tissues | -0 | Female tissues | • • • |
| Muscle tissues | 0 | Muscle tissues | -0- |
| Adipose & soft tissue | -0 | Adipose & soft tissue | 0 |
| Skin | - (3) | Skin | |
| Bone marrow & Lymphoid tissue | -0 | Bone marrow & Lymphoid tissue | 0- |
| Blood | 0 | Blood | 0 |

Figure 1.6. Tissue-specificity of GDF1 and CERS1 mRNA and protein. RNA-seq was performed using tissue samples from healthy human individuals in order to determine tissue-specificity of all protein-coding genes. GDF1 and CERS1 are both predominantly expressed at high levels in human and murine brain and male tissues and are nearly absent in most other tissues. Image copied and modified from The Human Protein Atlas.

Interestingly, *GDF1* is located on a bicistronic gene on chromosome 19 which also produces the ceramide synthase 1 (CERS1) protein from a non-overlapping reading frame (Figure 1.7). CERS1 catalyzes the synthesis of C18 ceramide and is primarily expressed in the brain and male tissues (Ginkel et al., 2012) (Figure 1.6). The polycistronic structure of mRNAs is an important aspect of translational control in prokaryotes, in which genes belonging to the same functional pathways are often packaged into operons, which are transcribed into a single mRNA (Jacob and Monod, 1961; Kozak, 2005) (Figure 1.8). However, they are rare in eukaryotes such as mouse and human. The clusters of co-expressed genes may be conserved by natural selection (Singer et al., 2005). A mammalian bicistronic transcript of *SNURF-SNRPN* has been found to encode two independent proteins in human and mouse, and a polycistronic cDNA

that encodes two functional enzymes is found in tomato plant too (García-Ríos et al., 1997; Gray et al., 1999). Therefore, *CERS1* and *GDF1* may have functional connections in evolution.



Figure 1.7. Genomic context of *Homo sapiens* chromosome 19 -NC_000019.10 and schematic representations of human *GDF1* and *CERS1* mRNA transcript. Upper: The human *GDF1* and *CERS1* genes are both located on 19p13.11. They are transcribed to a single bicistronic mRNA. Lower: The mRNA transcript of *GDF1* and *CERS1* has eight exons, with the first six encoding for CERS1 and the last two encoding for GDF1. Each vertical green line in the figure represents one mRNA transcript isoform, with green block representing the exon and grey arrow representing the translating direction, respectively. Image copied and modified from NCBI Database.

Monocistronic transcription



Figure 1.8. Monocistronic vs polycistronic transcription in eukaryotes. A cistron is an alternative term for "gene", which is a region of DNA that encodes function. An mRNA molecule is said to be monocistronic when it contains the genetic information to translate only a single protein. This is the case for most of the eukaryotic mRNAs. On the other hand, polycistronic mRNA carries several open reading frames, each of which is translated into a polypeptide. These polypeptides usually have a related function, and their coding sequence is grouped and regulated together in a regulatory region, containing a promoter and an operator. Most of the mRNA found in bacteria and archaea is polycistronic, as is the human mitochondrial genome.

Signaling pathway

The encoded preproprotein of GDF1 is proteolytically processed to generate each subunit of the disulfide-linked homodimer. GDF1 potentiates NODAL activity by stabilizing a low molecular weight fraction (Fuerer et al., 2014). The NODAL-GDF1 heterodimer can bind to the serine/threonine kinase receptors ACVR2B and ACVR1B and the EGF-CFC coreceptor CRYPTO on the cell surface. Activated ACVR1B recruits and phosphorylates SMAD2 or SMAD3 in the cytoplasm. Two SMAD3 (or two SMAD2) then bind to SMAD4 and forms a heterodimeric complex. This complex then enters the cell nucleus and binds directly to DNA where it acts as a transcription factor for various genes (Sandomenico and Ruvo, 2019) (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9. Schematic diagram of GDF1 signaling pathway. GDF1 and NODAL form a dimer which binds to ACVR1B and ACVR1B as well as the coreceptor CRYPTO on the cell surface. The ligand binding triggers the phosphorylation of the type I receptor by the type II kinase, as well as the phosphorylation of SMAD2 (or SMAD3) on the inner surface of the cell membrane. Activated SMAD2/3 then forms a complex with Smad4 and translocate into the nucleus to affect the expression of various target genes.

Function

GDF1 is involved in the establishment of left-right asymmetry in early embryogenesis and in neural development in later embryogenesis. During early embryonic development, GDF1 controls the formation of organizing centers that are necessary for normal forebrain and branchial arch development in the anterior primitive streak (Olov Andersson et al. 2006). In the axis patterning of the embryo, the node is the central initiator of left-right asymmetry (Figure 1.10). NODAL and GDF1 secreted from the ventral node define the left side of the embryo through interactions with LEFTY2 and PITX in the lateral plate mesoderm. Meanwhile, a leftward flow induced by active cilia prevents NODAL from signaling on the right side of the embryo, in conjunction with the right side-specific expression of Cerberus (Quail et al., 2013). Mutations in this gene are associated with several congenital cardiovascular malformations (Marek- Yagel et al., 2020). For example, deletion of the GDF1 gene causes heterotaxy with varied complex heart malformations of left-right patterning (Jin et al., 2017). In the adult, the expression of *GDF1* is almost exclusively restricted to the central nervous system. Recent studies revealed that *GDF1* has a protective role in pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiac-specific GDF1 overexpression markedly attenuated cardiac hypertrophy, fibrosis, and cardiac dysfunction, whereas loss of GDF1 in cardiomyocytes exaggerated the pathological cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction in response to pressure overload (Zhang et al., 2014).





Figure 1.10. Schematic outline of the NODAL/GDF1 signaling pathway during establishment of left-right asymmetry. During gastrulation, the node is the central initiator of left-right asymmetry. GDF1 and NODAL from the node define the left side of the embryo through interactions with LEFTY2 and PITX in the lateral plate mesoderm. Meanwhile, a cilia leftward flow and CERBERUS signal prevent NODAL from signaling on the right side of the embryo.

Although GDF1 is absent from most normal adult tissue, its expression re-emerges during cancer progression. It was found that *GDF1* has a novel functional role in tumor suppression. Abnormal promoter hypermethylation is the major mechanism causing the loss of GDF1 in gastric cancer. Loss of GDF1 is associated with poor survival in stomach cancer patients. GDF1 functions to stimulate p-SMAD2/3 and p21, but it inhibits p-Rb in human gastric cells (Yang et al., 2016). Based on this notion, it is plausible that GDF1 may exert comparable antitumor functions in other cancers, which warrants future investigation.

Mouse

<u>Structure</u>

Mature mouse and rat *GDF1* shares an 81% sequence identity with human *GDF1*. The mouse *GDF1* gene is located on chromosome 8 upstream and in close proximity to the gene coding for CERS1 with which it is expressed on the same bicistronic mRNA (Ginkel et al., 2012). In the early embryonic stage, a 1.4kb mRNA fragment that expresses only *GDF1* is present. From embryonic day 9 and onwards, an additional 3kb fragment is detected which consists of *CERS1* and *GDF1* in a bicistronic mRNA. In the adult mouse, only the 3kb fragment is expressed; the 3-kb species is also found in adult spinal cord, cerebellum, and brain stem as well as in fetal brains from various developmental stages (Lee, 1991) (Figure 1.11).


Figure 1.11. Genomic context of *Mus musculus* **chromosome 8** – **NC_000074.7 and schematic representations of mouse** *GDF1* **and** *CERS1* **mRNA transcripts.** Upper: The *Mus musculus CERS1* and *GDF1* gene are both located on 8; 8 B3.3. *GDF1* is translated from a monocistronic mRNA early in development, and from a bicistronic mRNA in later stages that also encodes *CERS1*. Lower: The bicistronic mRNA of *GDF1* and *CERS1* has eight exons, with the first six encoding for CERS1 and the last two encoding for GDF1. The monocistronic mRNA of *GDF1* has two exons. Each vertical green line in the figure represents one mRNA transcript isoform, with green block representing the exon and grey arrow representing the translating direction, respectively. Image copied and modified from NCBI Database.

Function

Similar as in human, *GDF1* in mouse is involved in the establishment of left-right asymmetry in early embryogenesis and in neural development in later embryogenesis. At early stages of mouse development, *GDF1* is expressed initially throughout the embryo node and then most prominently in the primitive node, ventral neural tube, and intermediate and lateral plate mesoderm (Shen, 2007). It is crucial for mouse embryonic development, particularly the leftright patterning, by acting as an upstream regulator of multiple symmetry-associated genes such as *Lefty2*, *Nodal*, and *Pitx*. Deletion of the *GDF1* gene leads to embryonic lethality in mice

(Rankin et al., 2000). In late-stage embryos and adult mice, it is exclusively expressed in the nervous system such as the brain, spinal cord, and the peripheral nerves (Lee, 1991). The loss-of-function of GDF1 in mice exhibited a variety of defects with disturbance in the left-right axis formation, including heterotaxy and heart defects such as abnormal atrium and ventricle (Rankin et al., 2000; Tanaka et al., 2007). In addition, mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of the *GDF1* gene are resistant to cardiac remodeling via inhibition of MEK–ERK1/2 and SMAD signaling, indicating that GDF1 alleviates pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction (Yang et al., 2016).

Other animals

GDF1 is highly conserved across species (Andersson et al., 2007; Lee, 1990). It is the functional equivalent of *Xenopus* and chicken *VG1*, or zebrafish *DVR1*, or yeast *Longevity-assurance gene 1* (*Lag1*) (Table 1.6). *GDF1* has been proposed to be a mammalian ortholog of *Xenopus*, zebrafish, and chicken *Vg1*, due to their sequence similarity and the fact that both *GDF1* and *Vg1* regulate left–right patterning (Helde and Grunwald, 1993; Joseph and Melton, 1998; Shah et al., 1997; Wall et al., 2000). It also requires Activin as receptors and EGF-CFC proteins as coreceptors (Cheng et al., 2003). *Hyl-1*, a worm homolog to yeast LAG1, represents a novel mechanism for affecting lifespan in *C. elegans* (Tedesco et al., 2008). *GDF1* is the mammalian homologue of yeast *Lag1* which is differentially expressed during the yeast replicative life span and was shown to play a role in determining yeast longevity (Wang et al., 2007).

| Species | Homologs |
|---------------------------------|----------|
| Mammalian | GDF1 |
| Xenopus, Zebrafish, and chicken | Vg1 |
| C. elegans | Hyl-1 |
| Yeast | Lag1 |

1.6. Rationale and Significance of Thesis Research

Rationale

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a cancer of the myeloid lineage of blood cells. The disease can progress quickly and be fatal within days or months if left untreated. Currently, there are no viable curative treatments for AML besides bone marrow transplant, which has potentially life-threatening side effects.

Significance

Chapters 2 and 3 explore the role of growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) as a regulator of ceramide metabolism, as well as its therapeutic efficacy in preclinical models of AML. Experimental data indicates that GDF1 has the potential to promote ceramide buildup by downregulating the expression of genes encoding for ceramide de-toxifying enzymes. In addition, GDF1 was observed to regulate hematopoiesis, including specific regulation of erythropoiesis, as well as exert combinatorial efficacy with cytarabine *in vivo*. These results rationalize further investigation of GDF1 as a potential therapeutic modality for AML.

Chapter 4 evaluates the role of obesity in the progression of AML, where it facilitates a ceramide-dependent pathway. That obesity directly accelerates the development of AML emphasizes the necessity of elucidating mechanisms linking cancer and obesity to better address and reduce the burden of both diseases.

1.7. Aims and Hypotheses of Individual Chapters

CHAPTER 2

GDF1 REGULATES CERAMIDE DETOXIFICATION IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

Hypothesis - GDF1 regulates ceramide detoxification in acute myeloid leukemia (AML).

Aim 1 - To study GDF1 regulation of ceramide metabolism in AML.

Aim 2 - To evaluate SMAD2/3 and STAT3 signaling as GDF1-mediated pathways in AML.

CHAPTER 3

REGULATION OF HEMATOPOIESIS BY GDF1 IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

Hypothesis - GDF1 promotes hematopoiesis in AML.

Aim 1 - To investigate GDF1 regulation of hematopoiesis and erythropoiesis.

Aim 2 - To evaluate the anti-AML therapeutic efficacy of GDF1 alone or in combination with cytarabine.

CHAPTER 4

OBESITY PROMOTES ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA PROGRESSION BY

UPREGULATING THE CERAMIDE-MEDIATED NADPH OXIDASE 2

Hypothesis - Obesity promotes AML progression by upregulating the ceramide-mediated NADPH oxidase 2.

Aim 1 - To demonstrate that obesity mediates the progression of AML.

Aim 2 - To show that obesity in AML upregulates the ceramide-medicated NADPH oxidase 2.

CHAPTER 2

GDF1 REGULATES CERAMIDE DETOXIFICATION IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA⁴

2.1. Abstract

Growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is primarily known for its role in development, especially that of the heart. GDF1 is a member of the transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) superfamily. The gene encoding for GDF1 is encoded from a rare bicistronic transcript that also encodes for ceramide synthase 1 (CERS1). Due to its connection to CERS1, it was speculated that GDF1 may play a role in sphingolipid metabolism or signaling. Therefore, the regulation of CERS1/GDF1 was investigated in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in addition to its effects on the expression of sphingolipid-modifying enzymes. In this study, it is reported for the first time that GDF1 can alter sphingolipid metabolism in a manner that may restore AML sensitivity to nanoliposomal C6-ceramide (Lip-C6). Gene expression analysis revealed that CERS1/GDF1 is variably expressed in AML. Treatment of leukemia cells with recombinant GDF1 reduced the expression of ceramide-neutralizing enzymes encoded by UDP-glucose ceramide glycosyltransferase (UGCG) and sphingomyelin synthase 1 (SGMS1). It was further shown that GDF1 exerted divergent transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGF β R1)-dependent upregulation of SMAD2/3 and downregulation of STAT3. Altogether, these results identify GDF1 as a novel regulator of ceramide metabolism in AML. Moreover, this study suggests that GDF1 may be able to restore anti-AML therapeutic efficacy of therapeutics such as Lip-C6.

⁴ <u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Paul T. Toran, Andrea L. Cote, Emma J. Arsenault, Alexander J. Thorpe, Vasiliki Papakotsi, Emily C. Sullivan, Rachel J. Sabol, Mary A. Hurley, Brian M. Barth. GDF1 Regulates Ceramide Detoxification in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. In preparation for submission.

2.2. Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a heterogenous malignancy characterized by the expansion of immature myeloid progenitors, primarily in the blood and bone marrow (Grimwade et al., 2016). Genetic abnormalities and molecular abnormalities such as chromosomal changes are common in AML (Kumar, 2011). This cancer can occur in several different ways. AML that arises from myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) is known as AML with MDS-related changes (AML-MRC) (Arber et al., 2016; Papaemmanuil et al., 2016). Other patients that do not have clinical history of prior MDS are classified as de novo AML (DN-AML). In general, AML-MRC occurs in older patients and has more unfavorable outcomes (Arber and Erba, 2020). The poor prognostics and increasing incidence of this disease demand novel therapies for the treatment of AML (Baldus et al., 2007). One potential therapy of particular interest is ceramide, a proapoptotic sphingolipid which, when formulated into a nanoliposome, becomes a potent anticancer drug called nanoliposomal C6-ceramide (Lip-C6) (Barth et al., 2011). The AML-MRC variant of AML appears to be predominantly sensitive to Lip-C6 due whereas enhanced ceramide metabolism in DN-AML predominates as a mechanism of resistance (Barth et al., 2019). For this reason, increasing sensitivity to ceramide-regulating therapeutics is an adequate strategy to combat drug resistance in cancer.

Growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is a member of the transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) superfamily. It is primarily known for its role in development and stem cell biology, including anterior axis development, left-right patterning, and cardiac development (Andersson et al., 2006; Karkera et al., 2007a). GDF1 is a ligand of the transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGF β R1), a receptor serine/threonine kinase which functions through receptor

heterodimerization and activation of downstream SMAD signaling (Moore-Smith and Pasche, 2011).

GDF1 is also a factor in AML, wherein it regulates sphingolipid metabolism through downregulation of genes that produce enzymes to break down ceramide (Wang et al., 2019). The gene encoding for GDF1 is a rare bicistronic gene that also encodes for ceramide synthase 1 (CERS1). Both genes are under control of the same promoter, which is found upstream of *CERS1* (Meyers-Needham et al., 2012). CERS1 promotes the formation of C18:0 dihydroceramide from dihydrosphingosine, as well as C18:0 ceramide from sphingosine in salvage ceramide biosynthetic pathways (Mullen et al., 2012).

The present study explores a hypothesis that GDF1 regulates ceramide detoxification in AML, which would enhance the sensitivity of AML to ceramide-regulating therapies such as Lip-C6. This study first demonstrates that the *CERS1/GDF1* transcript is variably expressed in AML, with a slight upregulation in AML-MRC. Furthermore, treatment with recombinant GDF1 was shown to reduce the expression of enzymes that break down ceramide, while also upregulating SMAD2/3 phosphorylation and downregulating STAT3 phosphorylation in a TGFβR1-dependent manner.

2.3. Results

The efficacy of Lip-C6 was first evaluated in murine models of AML. Both DN-AML (FLT3^{ITD} and MLL-AF9) and AML-MRC (Nup98-HoxD13) models were used. Lip-C6 therapy was more effective in reducing the colony forming ability of bone marrow from AML-MRC mouse models as compared with bone marrow from DN-AML or wildtype mouse models (Barth et al., 2019) (Figure 2.1A). Similarly, *in vivo* treatment with Lip-C6, but not the nanoliposomal

ghost control (Lip-Ghost), significantly decreased CD11b⁺/Gr-1⁺ myeloid leukemia cells in AML-MRC mice but not DN-AML mice (Barth et al., 2019) (Figure 2.1B).



Figure 2.1. AML-MRC is more sensitive to Lip-C6 compared with DN-AML. (A) Bone marrow of DN-AML (FLT3^{ITD} and MLL-AF9) and AML-MRC (Nup98-HoxD13) mice was harvested and treated with varying concentrations of ceramide nanoliposome (Lip-C6) in a colony-forming assay. (*p<0.05, ANOVA) (B) DN-AML (FLT3^{ITD}) and AML-MRC (Nup98-HoxD13) transgenic mice models were treated daily for 10 days with Lip-C6 (11.6 mg/kg) or Lip-Ghost, which is a nanoliposome without ceramide. Mice were euthanized, and bone marrow was collected, prepared, and analyzed via flow cytometry to evaluate Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells, representing leukemia burden. **P* = .045 (n = 4 per group; unpaired Student *t* test with Welch's correction) comparing leukemia burden in AML-MRC mice treated with Lip-C6 versus Lip-Ghost. Lip-C6: Nanoliposomal C6-ceramide, Lip-Ghost: Nanoliposomal Ghost. Adapted from published manuscript (Barth et al., 2019).

A role for GDF1 was next evaluated as a possible explanation for the observed differences in sensitivity to Lip-C6 between AML-MRC and DN-AML. It was speculated that GDF1 may increase the sensitivity to ceramide-based therapies in AML by impacting ceramide metabolism. *CERS1/GDF1* expression was initially evaluated by analyzing RNA sequencing data from the BEAT AML dataset (Tyner et al., 2018). Patient samples (n=404) from the BEAT AML dataset have varying expression of *CERS1/GDF1* (Figure 2.2A) (Tyner et al., 2018). *CERS1/GDF1* is also variably expressed in the bone marrow of murine transgenic mouse models of AML and other myeloid hematologic disorders, with the data trend mirroring that of the BEAT AML patient data (Figure 2.2B). More specific comparison of bone marrow from AML-MRC and DN-AML mouse models indicated that *GDF1* is expressed at different levels in these two variants of AML. Despite a high amount of variability, *GDF1* expression was generally observed to be greater in AML-MRC when compared to DN-AML (Figure 2.2C). Therefore, these differences in *CERS1/GDF1* expression may be responsible for distinct sensitivity to Lip-C6 between AML-MRC and DN-AML.



Figure 2.2. *CERS1/GDF1* is differentially expressed in AML. (A) RNA sequencing data from AML patients (n=404) in the BEAT AML dataset was analyzed for expression of *CERS1/GDF1* and found to be mostly downregulated (samples with matched transcriptomic and genomic sequencing) (Tyner et al., 2018). (B, C) Bone marrow samples from various transgenic mouse models of both DN-AML (FLT3^{ITD} and MLL-AF9) and AML-MRC (Mx1-Asx11+/-; Mx1-Srsf2^{P95H}; Mx1-Tet2+/-; Mx1-Asx11+/-Tet2+/-; Nup98-HoxD13; Vav1-Tert+/-) (n=22) were analyzed via RT-qPCR. Wildtype and leukemic murine tissue samples were age- and sex- matched and housekeeping gene normalization was performed. Not all subtypes cluster, indicating that distinct molecular evolution of the disease may contribute to differential regulation of *CERS1/GDF1*.

Leukemia where *CERS1/GDF1* is downregulated may benefit from treatment with recombinant GDF1 to gain a possible therapeutic effect. *CERS1/GDF1* was observed to be downregulated in the bone marrow of FLT3^{ITD} transgenic mice, a model of DN-AML (Figure 2.3A). In contrast, the expression of *UGCG* and *SGMS1* was augmented in the bone marrow of these DN-AML mice (Figure 2.3A). Interestingly, *in vivo* treatment with the hypomethylating agent decitabine augmented *CERS1/GDF1* expression while downregulating *UGCG* and *SGMS1* expression (Figure 2.3A). These results indicate an inverse correlation between *CERS1/GDF1* and *UGCG* and *SGMS1* expression in DN-AML. The ability of recombinant GDF1 to regulate

the expression of *UGCG* and *SGMS1*, genes encoding enzymes responsible for ceramide neutralization, was further evaluated by *in vitro* treatment of AML cell lines. Recombinant GDF1 treatment of HL-60, Kasumi-1, and Kasumi-3 cells led to a downregulation of expression for both *UGCG* and *SGMS1* (Figure 2.3B).

Phosflow was used to further evaluate GDF1-mediated signaling in AML cell lines. Recombinant GDF1 treatment increased phosphorylation of SMAD2/3 while simultaneously decreasing tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 (Figure 2.3C-D). The TGFBR1 inhibitor IN-1130 blocked GDF1-stimulated SMAD2/3 phosphorylation while also preventing the GDF1-mediated decrease in tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 (Figure 2.3C-D). This demonstrated a TGF^βR1dependent mechanism for GDF1 in AML cells. In contrast, TGFB and growth/differentiation factor 3 (GDF3), which are related to GDF1 and can also engage TGFβR1, did not fully recapitulate the effects of GDF1 on SMAD2/3 and STAT3 signaling. Specifically, TGFB similarly increased SMAD2/3 phosphorylation but did not impact STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation (Figure 2.3C-D). More so, GDF3 similarly downregulated STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation but had no effect on SMAD2/3 phosphorylation (Figure 2.3C-D). This is despite GDF1 and GDF3 having recently been suggested to be evolutionarily linked and shown to have partially redundant functions in the pre-gastrulation embryo (Opazo and Zavala, 2018). The unique ability of GDF1 to both increase SMAD2/3 phosphorylation and decrease STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation may be due to the engagement of a separate co-receptor from other related ligands in addition to its TGF^βR1 engagement. Overall, these results suggest that GDF1 may have a unique impact on leukemia cells compared to other ligands of the TGF β R1 system.



Figure 2.3. Treatment with recombinant GDF1 triggers multiple cellular effects. (A) FLT3^{TTD} mice were treated with the hypomethylating agent decitabine. Bone marrow samples were obtained and RTqPCR was used to analyze the expression change of genes encoding for ceramide neutralizing enzymes. Decitabine treatment led to an increased expression of *CERS1/GDF1* and a decreased expression of *UGCG* and *SGMS1* (B) Recombinant GDF1 was administered *in vitro* to three leukemia cell lines: HL-60, Kasumi-1, and Kasumi-3 (200 ug/ml, 48 hours). RT-qPCR was performed to analyze the expression of *UGCG* and *SGMS1*. Both *UGCG* and *SGMS1* were downregulated following treatment. (C, D) Kasumi-1 cells were treated with the TGFβR1 inhibitor IN-1130, recombinant GDF1, a combination of recombinant GDF1 and IN-1130, TGFβ, or GDF3. Phosflow was used to evaluate phosphorylation of SMAD2/3 and tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 (residue Y705). In a TGFβR1-dependent fashion, GDF1 both (C) upregulated SMAD2/3 signaling and (D) downregulated STAT3 signaling. * p > 0.05, n=3.

2.4. Discussion

These findings highlight a role for GDF1 as a regulator of ceramide metabolism in AML. AML-MRC is uniquely sensitive to Lip-C6 as compared with DN-AML (Barth et al., 2019), which further highlights the need to increase DN-AML sensitivity to ceramide-based therapeutics. It was observed that the expression of *CERS1/GDF1* is highly variable in both AML patient samples and murine models of AML. Interestingly, *GDF1* expression was generally lower in the bone marrow of DN-AML transgenic mouse models as compared with AML-MRC transgenic mouse models. These discrepancy in *GDF1* expression may help explain differential sensitivity to Lip-C6 in AML. Increasing *GDF1* expression or administering recombinant GDF1 may enhance AML sensitivity to Lip-C6 and other ceramide-elevating therapeutics.

Ceramide is a powerful proapoptotic sphingolipid with the potential to treat many different cancers (Barth et al., 2011). Unfortunately, AML can resist Lip-C6 by upregulating ceramide-neutralizing enzymes (Barth et al., 2019). Therefore, strategies to inhibit these enzymes, or to downregulate their expression, are of interest in the treatment of AML and other ceramide-resistant cancers. Recombinant GDF1 was observed to lower the expression of ceramide-neutralizing enzymes encoded by *UGCG* and *SGMS1*. These enzymes prevent apoptosis by neutralizing proapoptotic ceramide to nonapoptotic sphingolipid metabolites.

This study further indicated that GDF1 promoted the phosphorylation of SMAD2/3, while simultaneously inactivating STAT3 by decreasing its tyrosine phosphorylation. Both these effects occurred in a TGF β R1-dependent fashion and distinct from the single SMAD2/3regulating or STAT3-regulating effects of the related ligands TGF β and GDF3, respectively. This suggests that GDF1 has a unique capacity to regulate leukemia cells in by engaging

TGFβR1 to regulate both SMAD2/3 and STAT3 capability to shift sphingolipid metabolism towards ceramide accumulation by downregulating the expression of genes encoding for ceramide detoxification enzymes (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Schematic diagram of GDF1 signaling pathway. GDF1, translated from a bicistronic gene, signals through a receptor serine/threonine kinase system that includes TGFβR1. Upon ligand binding, the receptor system triggers phosphorylation of SMAD2/3, which induces the expression of target genes. Simultaneously, the receptor system inactivates STAT3 by decreasing its tyrosine phosphorylation. Collectively, the effects of GDF1 is to block ceramide neutralization to glucosylceramide by binding to the promoter region of genes such as *UGCG*, which encodes for GCS. In this way, GDF1 can help to increase intracellular ceramide levels. *CERS1, ceramide synthase 1*; GCS, glucosylceramide synthase; *UGCG*, gene encoding for GCS.

2.5. Materials and Methods

BEAT AML dataset

The BEAT AML program is a collaborative program for functional genomic data integration involving numerous academic medical centers working collectively to accrue and characterize a large cohort of AML patient specimens. Information available in the BEAT AML dataset includes whole exome sequencing and RNA-sequencing, which is available through recent publication (Tyner et al., 2018). For the present study, samples from the BEAT AML dataset that have paired genomic and transcriptomic data were analyzed.

Cell culture

The human Kasumi-1 and Kasumi-3 cell lines were maintained in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 20% FBS. Similarly, the human HL-60 cell line was maintained in Isocove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium supplemented with 20% FBS. All cultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2.

Animal studies

C57BL/6-Tg(Vav1-NUP98/HOXD13)G2Apla/J (Nup98-HoxD13), B6.Cg-Tg(Mx1cre)1Cgn/J-Asxl1^{tm1.1Iaai}/J (+/-)(Mx1-Asxl1+/-), B6.Cg-Tg(Mx1-cre)1Cgn/J-B6J.B6NTac(SJL)-Srsf2^{tm1.1Oaw}/J (+/-)(Mx1-Srsf2^{P95H}), B6.Cg-Tg(Mx1-cre)1Cgn/J-B6J.B6NTac(SJL)-B6;129S-Tet2^{tm1.1Iaai}/J(+/-)(Mx1-Tet2+/-), B6.Cg-Tg(Mx1-cre)1Cgn/J-B6J.B6NTac(SJL)-Asxl1^{tm1.1Iaai}/J-B6;129S-Tet2^{tm1.1Iaai}/J(+/-)(Mx1-Asxl1+/-Tet2+/-), B6.Cg-Commd10^{Tg(Vav1-icre)A2Kio}/J-B6.129S-Tert^{tm1Yjc}/J (+/-)(Vav1-Tert+/-) transgenic mice are commonly used murine models of MDS and other myeloid hematologic disorders, many which evolve to AML-MRC (Chou et al., 2010; Hou et al., 2016; Kirwan et al., 2009; Nibourel et al., 2010; Slape et al., 2008). In contrast, B6.129-Flt3^{tm1Dgg}/J (Flt3^{ITD}) and Kmt2a^{tm2(MLLT3)Thr}/KsyJ (MLL-AF9) transgenic mice were used as models of DN-AML (Chen et al., 2019; Loghavi et al., 2014).

Bone marrow cells were isolated from the femurs and tibias of 4–8-month-old (male and female) transgenic mice and their respective wildtype littermates for colony-forming assay, flow cytometry, and RT-qPCR analysis. These transgenic mice include AML-MRC mouse models such as Nup98-HoxD13, Mx1-Asxl1+/-, Mx1-Srsf2^{P95H}, Mx1-Tet2+/-, Mx1-Asxl1+/-Tet2+/-, Vav1-Tert+/-, as well as DN-AML mouse models such as MLL-AF9 and FLT3^{ITD}. Mice were submitted to the New Hampshire Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (NHVDL) at the University of New Hampshire for histopathological evaluation. Leukemia was confirmed by the investigative team and the NHVDL in transgenic mice based on spleen or bone marrow histopathology, and/or peripheral blood smear evaluation. All animal studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of New Hampshire.

Ceramide Nanoliposome (Lip-C6) formulation and treatment

Lip-C6 and Lip-Ghost were generously prepared and provided by Dr. Mark Kester of the University of Virginia. Briefly, lipids dissolved in chloroform, were combined in specific molar ratios, dried to a film under nitrogen, and then hydrated by addition of 0.9% NaCl. Solutions were sealed, heated at 60°C for 60 minutes, subjected to vortex mixing, and sonicated until light no longer diffracted through the suspensions. Lipid vesicle-containing solutions were then extruded at 60°C by passing the solutions 10 times through 100 nm polycarbonate filters using an Avanti Mini-Extruder (Avanti Polar Lipids, Alabaster, AL). Size and charge were validated using a Malvern Zetasizer Nano ZS at 25°C, and C6-ceramide encapsulation into anionic

formulations was quantified by mass spectroscopy. Liposomal suspensions were stored at room temperature until use.

Therapeutic efficacy of Lip-C6 as a standalone treatment was evaluated using transgenic mouse models. 4–8-month-old (male and female) AML-MRC (Nup98-HoxD13) and DN-AML (Flt3^{ITD}) transgenic mice were injected with Lip-C6 (11.6 mg/kg) or Lip-Ghost (volume matched) daily for 10 days. One day after the final injection, mice were euthanized and bone marrow was collected from femurs and tibias, spleens were removed and measured, and blood was collected by cardiac puncture for blood smears.

Recombinant GDF1 formulation and treatment

Recombinant human GDF1 was purchased from R&D Systems. It arrived in a lyophilized form with BSA as a carrier protein and was re-suspended according to the manufacture's direction. Therapeutic efficacy of recombinant GDF1 as a standalone treatment was evaluated using HL-60, Kasumi-1, and Kasumi-3 cell lines. These cell lines were first cultured in T25 flasks, then 1.2×10^6 cells were seeded into each well of a six-well plate and treated with recombinant GDF1 reagent (200 ug/ml, 48 hours).

Colony-forming assays

Murine bone marrow mononuclear cells were isolated and prepared from transgenic mice and their wildtype counterparts and cleaned of debris using Ficoll-Paque PLUS (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) density gradient centrifugation. Prior to colony-forming assays, leukemia was confirmed by the investigative team and the NHVDL in transgenic mice based on spleen or bone marrow histopathology, and/or peripheral blood smear evaluation. Murine samples were cultured in triplicate in 12-well plates at a density of 2.5×10^4 cells per well in Murine MethoCult GF (#M3434) (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC). The plating density was selected to yield typical wildtype or transgenic mouse colony out-growth of ~30-150 colonies per well in the absence of drug treatment. Sterile water was added into empty wells, and space between wells, to maintain optimal humidity necessary for colony growth. During assay set-up, murine bone marrow cells were added simultaneously to the culture media with Lip-C6 or controls. The cultures were mixed vigorously and then dispensed to multi-well plates and incubated for 10-14 days. Blinded investigators manually counted total colonies, including blast or miscellaneous colonies.

RT-qPCR analysis

Total cellular RNA from mouse bone marrow samples or cell lines was extracted and cleaned using Zymo Research kits. RNA quality was evaluated using a NanoDrop 8000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and reverse transcribed with Taq polymerase to generate cDNA. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed using PrimeTime® Gene Expression Master Mix (Integrated DNA Technologies) on a CFX96 Real-Time PCR System (Biorad). Gene expression was determined using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method using cycle threshold (Ct) values for target genes as well as two endogenous reference genes (*ACTB* and *TBP*). Primer and probe assays were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies.

Flow cytometry and Phosflow

Isolated bone marrow cells from transgenic mice were prepared and stained with Mouse Fc Block, fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse Gr-1 (clone RB6-8C5) and fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse CD11b (clone M1/70) monoclonal antibodies from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA). Gr-1+ CD11b+ cells were evaluated and quantified as representative of leukemia burden. Phosflow was performed to evaluate phosphorylation of SMAD2/3 on serine/threonine residues and tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 (residue Y705). For Phosflow studies, Kasumi-1 cells were fixed, permeabilized, and stained with specific fluorophore-conjugated antibodies, all with reagents from BD Biosciences. Flow cytometry was performed at the University of New Hampshire's University Instrumentation Center using a Sony SH800Z sorting flow cytometer.

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA) was used to perform data analyses. For dose-response colony-forming assays, a 2-way ANOVA with a Tukey's post hoc multiple comparisons test was performed. Comparisons of colony-forming, RT-qPCR, or Phosflow data were made using a student t-test or 1-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

CHAPTER 3

REGULATION OF HEMATOPOIESIS BY GDF1 IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA⁵

3.1. Abstract

In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), hematopoiesis is altered such that maturation arrests at the myeloid blast phase, leading to the expansion and proliferation of myeloid progenitors. Consequently, restoration of normal hematopoiesis may be a viable strategy to treat AML and other related blood disorders. Growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is a transforming growth factor beta (TGFβ) superfamily member protein. This ligand, which is an important factor in embryonic development, may also be effective in re-establishment of normal hematopoiesis in AML. Earlier GDF1 was identified as a potential treatment to enhance sensitivity to ceramide-based therapeutics, due to a role downregulating ceramide-neutralizing enzymes. In the present study, therapeutic efficacy is reported for recombinant GDF1 as a standalone agent as well as in combination with cytarabine (AraC). It was determined that recombinant GDF1 treatment promotes blood cell differentiation in cells exhibiting abnormal hematopoiesis, while not impacting normal hematopoiesis. Collectively, these studies highlight the potential efficacy of recombinant GDF1 as a hematopoietic-regulating anti-AML therapy.

⁵ <u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Paul T. Toran, Alexander J. Thorpe, Emma J. Arsenault, Andrea L. Cote, Emily C. Sullivan, Vasiliki Papakotsi, Brian M. Barth. Regulation of Hematopoiesis by GDF1 in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. In preparation for submission.

3.2. Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is characterized by expansion of immature myeloid cells within the peripheral blood and bone marrow (Grimwade et al., 2016). In AML and related myeloid hematologic malignancies, such as myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), the differentiation of the myeloid lineage is arrested so that there is an accumulation of blasts expressing markers for monocytes, erythroid cells, and megakaryocytes (Saultz and Garzon, 2016). AML can be classified as either AML with MDS-related changes (AML-MRC) or as *de novo* AML (DN-AML) if there is no prior history of MDS or MDS-related changes (Arber and Erba, 2020; Barth et al., 2019).

The transforming growth factor-beta (TGF β) superfamily member growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) has a profound role in embryonic development and stem cell biology. In particular, it is involved in body plan and cardiac development (Andersson et al., 2006; Karkera et al., 2007b). GDF1 can bind to TGF β R1, which is a receptor serine/threonine kinase (Moore-Smith and Pasche, 2011). The gene encoding for GDF1 is a rare bicistronic gene that also encodes for ceramide synthase 1 (CERS1). Both genes are under control of the same promoter, which is found upstream of *CERS1* (Meyers-Needham et al., 2012). CERS1 promotes the formation of C18:0 dihydroceramide from dihydrosphingosine, as well as C18:0 ceramide from sphingosine in salvage ceramide biosynthetic pathways (Mullen et al., 2012).

Ceramide-based therapeutics are under investigation for the treatment of AML and other cancers due to their apoptosis-promoting abilities (Barth et al., 2011). In particular, nanoliposomal C6-ceramide (Lip-C6) has shown efficacy in AML-MRC but not DN-AML, due to enhanced metabolism of ceramide in DN-AML (Barth et al., 2019). Recently, recombinant

GDF1 was shown to downregulate ceramide metabolism and signal in a TGF β R1-dependent fashion in AML cells (Wang et al., 2019).

In the present study, anti-AML therapeutic efficacy of recombinant GDF1 was more closely evaluated by focusing on its regulation of hematopoiesis. It was found that recombinant GDF1 alters malignant hematopoiesis by promoting differentiation, as well as by specifically promoting erythropoiesis (red blood cell development). Interestingly, recombinant GDF1 did not appear to have an impact on normal blood cell differentiation. Additionally, recombinant GDF1 treatment exerted therapeutic efficacy in combination with the standard of care drug cytarabine (AraC). Taken together, this study provides evidence for the use of recombinant GDF1 as a potential therapy for AML due to its unique ability to regulate malignant hematopoiesis.

3.3. Results

The physiological impact of recombinant GDF1 was first assessed using bone marrow from transgenic mouse models of AML. When bone marrow from DN-AML transgenic mice was treated with recombinant GDF1 *in vitro*, blood cell differentiation was improved. This was evident by an increase in CFU-M, BFU-E, and CFU-E and reduction in CFU-GM. Recombinant GDF1 treatment effectively promoted differentiation while decreasing the number of immature cells in this model (Figure 3.1). Notably, these results also demonstrated that recombinant GDF1 promoted erythropoiesis (red blood cell development). Importantly, recombinant GDF1 treatment did not significantly affect blood cell differentiation of bone marrow from wildtype mice (Figure 3.1). Therefore, recombinant GDF1 appears to only affect abnormal, malignant hematopoiesis, while not impacting normal hematopoiesis.



Figure 3.1. GDF1 treatment promotes hematopoiesis in leukemic mice alone. Bone marrow from FLT3^{ITD} transgenic and C57BL/6J wildtype mice were treated with recombinant GDF1 in colony forming assays for 10 days. GDF1 caused a decrease in CFU-GM (immature myeloid cells) and an increase in maturation of monocytes (CFU-M) and erythrocytes (BFU-E and CFU-E) from FLT3^{ITD} mice but not wildtype mice, suggesting GDF1 only impacts abnormal hematopoiesis (*p<0.05, 1-way ANOVA).

Next, the Nup98-HoxD13 transgenic mouse model of AML-MRC was treated with recombinant GDF1, as well as with Lip-C6 and its control nanoliposomal Ghost (Lip-Ghost). Flow cytometry of harvested bone marrow revelaed that recombinant GDF1 promoted erythropoiesis, as evident by the increase in erythroid progenitors to a similar degree of that triggered by Lip-C6 (Figure 3.2). This treatment also reduced the amount of immature myeloid cells (myeloid leukemia cells), again in a similar effect of that of Lip-C6, suggesting that recombinant GDF1 also regulates myelopoiesis in AML-MRC (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. GDF1 regulates hematopoiesis in mice with AML-MRC. Nup98-HoxD13 transgenic mice were injected with recombinant GDF1, Lip-C6, or Lip-Ghost for 10 days. Following treatment, mice were euthanized, and bone marrow erythroid progenitors (A, C) and immature myeloid cells (B, D) were assessed using flow cytometry. Erythroid progenitors were upregulated while immature myeloid cells (myeloid leukemia blasts) were downregulated by GDF1 or Lip-C6 treatment (*p<0.05, 1-way ANOVA).

The effects of recombinant GDF1 treatment on the survival of mice engrafted with C1498 AML cells was also assessed. Overall survival was not significantly impacted by treatment with recombinant GDF1 or the standard of care agent AraC alone. However, combinatorial treatment with recombinant GDF1 and AraC significantly extended overall survival in this highly aggressive DN-AML model (Figure 3.3). These results suggest that recombinant GDF1 may be an effective agent to be combined with standard of care anti-AML chemotherapy, which can elevated endogenous ceramide levels, as well as other ceramide-based therapeutics.



Figure 3.3. GDF1 improves the survival rate of mice engrafted with AML and has a combinatorial effect with AraC. C57BL/6J wildtype mice were engrafted with C1498 AML cells, and then treated with recombinant GDF1 +/- AraC. Logrank analysis was used to evaluate survival. AraC: cytarabine.

3.4. Discussion

These findings substantiate recombinant GDF1 as a potential treatment for AML. Current therapies for AML include drugs such as AraC, as well as novel therapies under development, such as Lip-C6 (Barth et al., 2019; Galmarini et al., 2002). Unfortunately, AML often develops resistance to these therapies. For that reason, the development of strategies to combat resistance is a pressing challenge. Previously, GDF1 was shown to regulate sphingolipid metabolism by downregulating genes associated with ceramide neutralization (Wang et al., 2019). In addition, it was previously shown that GDF1 signaled uniquely by stimulating SMAD2/3 phosphorylation while downregulating STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation in a TGF β R1-dependent manner (Wang et al., 2019). The present study further demonstrates, for the first time, that recombinant GDF1 can impact malignant hematopoiesis by promoting differentiation along the myeloid and erythroid lineages. This may be beneficial as recombinant GDF1 only impacted malignant hematopoiesis and not that from normal controls, highlighting the reduced possibility of off-target effects. However, it is important to note that the present study focused solely on

hematopoiesis in the bone marrow, and so its impacts on hematopoiesis in other tissues remains in question. For instance, another group has found that a GDF15, another member of the TGF β superfamily, regulates stress erythropoiesis in the spleen (Hao et al., 2019). Therefore, future research may focus on the hematopoietic-regulatory role of GDF1 in other tissues.

The promotion of erythropoiesis (red blood cell development) by GDF1 could have further applications beyond AML. In low-risk MDS, incomplete erythropoiesis leads to macrocytic anemia (Sibon et al., 2019). Other forms of anemia with red blood cell deficiency including congenital hyperplastic anemia, also known as Diamond-Blackfan anemia as well as anemia occurring with chronic illnesses such as infection and inflammatory disorders are also triggered by failed differentiation of erythroid progenitors (Lipton et al., 1986; Means and Krantz, 1992). It is possible, then, that the promotion of erythropoiesis by recombinant GDF1 may be useful in the treatment of anemia in a variety of other conditions.

These results further showed that recombinant GDF1 exerted combinatorial anti-AML efficacy with AraC. In addition to acting as a nucleoside analog to promote DNA damage, AraC also promotes the generation of endogenous ceramide (Galmarini et al., 2002; Saddoughi et al., 2008). Therefore, these two treatments may work together by AraC triggering ceramide production and recombinant GDF1 preventing the breakdown of ceramide. Recombinant GDF1 and AraC combined to significantly extend leukemic mouse survival, whereas single-agent treatments had no beneficial effect on lifespan. Strikingly, this was a significant increase in lifespan using a highly aggressive murine model of DN-AML.

In summary, this study demonstrated that recombinant GDF1 is a powerful regulator of leukemic (abnormal) mouse hematopoiesis that does not affect wildtype (normal) mouse hematopoiesis. This is an exciting finding, as it demonstrates that recombinant GDF1 may be

unlikely to trigger side effects impacting normal, noncancerous hematopoiesis and erythropoiesis. Increased survival due to combinatorial treatment with recombinant GDF1 and AraC further indicates that recombinant GDF1 may be a suitable treatment to combine with ceramide-based therapeutics. Future work may focus on the use of recombinant GDF1 in other models of AML, as well as the combination of recombinant GDF1 with Lip-C6 or other ceramide-based therapeutics.

3.5. Materials and Methods

Cell culture

Murine C1498 cells were maintained in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. All cultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2.

Animal studies

C57BL/6-Tg(Vav1-NUP98/HOXD13)G2Apla/J (Nup98-HoxD13) transgenic mice are a murine model of MDS, which fully recapitulates the cellular features of MDS and predictably evolves to AML-MRC (Slape et al., 2008). In contrast, B6.129-Flt3^{tm1Dgg}/J (Flt3^{ITD}) transgenic mice were used as models of DN-AML (Loghavi et al., 2014). Alternatively, wildtype C57BL/6J mice were engrafted with 1 x 10⁶ C1498 AML cells for combinatorial therapeutic studies.

Bone marrow cells were isolated from the femurs and tibias of 4–8-month-old (male and female) transgenic mice and their respective wildtype littermates for colony-forming assay or flow cytometry analysis. Mice were submitted to the New Hampshire Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (NHVDL) at the University of New Hampshire for histopathological evaluation. Leukemia was confirmed by the investigative team and the NHVDL in transgenic mice based on

spleen or bone marrow histopathology, and/or peripheral blood smear evaluation. All animal studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of New Hampshire.

Ceramide Nanoliposome formulation and treatment

Lip-C6 and Lip-Ghost were generously prepared and provided by Dr. Mark Kester of the University of Virginia. Briefly, lipids dissolved in chloroform, were combined in specific molar ratios, dried to a film under nitrogen, and then hydrated by addition of 0.9% NaCl. Solutions were sealed, heated at 60°C for 60 minutes, subjected to vortex mixing, and sonicated until light no longer diffracted through the suspensions. Lipid vesicle-containing solutions were then extruded at 60°C by passing the solutions 10 times through 100 nm polycarbonate filters using an Avanti Mini-Extruder (Avanti Polar Lipids, Alabaster, AL). Size and charge were validated using a Malvern Zetasizer Nano ZS at 25°C, and C6-ceramide encapsulation into anionic formulations was quantified by mass spectroscopy. Liposomal suspensions were stored at room temperature until use.

Therapeutic efficacy of Lip-C6, Lip-Ghost, or recombinant GDF1 as a standalone treatments were evaluated using transgenic mouse models. 4–8-month-old (male and female) Nup98-HoxD13 transgenic mice were injected with Lip-C6 (11.6 mg/kg), Lip-Ghost (volume matched), or recombinant GDF1 (2 μ g/kg) daily for 10 days. One day after the final injection, mice were euthanized and bone marrow was collected from femurs and tibias, spleens were removed and measured, and blood was collected by cardiac puncture for blood smears.

Recombinant GDF1 formulation and treatment

Recombinant human GDF1 was purchased from R&D Systems. It arrived in a lyophilized form with BSA as a carrier protein and was re-suspended according to the manufacture's direction. Therapeutic efficacy of recombinant GDF1 as a standalone treatment was evaluated *in vitro* with colony-forming assays using bone marrow from FLT3^{ITD} transgenic or C57BL/6J wildtype mice as described below. In addition, therapeutic efficacy of recombinant GDF1 as a standalone treatment was evaluated *in vivo* using Nup98-HoxD13 transgenic mice as described above. Lastly, therapeutic efficacy of recombinant GDF1 in combination with AraC was evaluated using 4–8-month-old (male and female) C1498-engrafted wildtype mice. Mice were treated with recombinant GDF1 (2 μ g/kg) +/- AraC (50 ng/kg), three times per week for two weeks and survival was monitored.

Colony-forming assays

Murine bone marrow mononuclear cells were isolated and prepared from transgenic mice and their wildtype counterparts and cleaned of debris using Ficoll-Paque PLUS (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) density gradient centrifugation. Prior to colony-forming assays, leukemia was confirmed by the investigative team and the NHVDL in transgenic mice based on spleen or bone marrow histopathology, and/or peripheral blood smear evaluation. Murine samples were cultured in triplicate in 12-well plates at a density of 2.5×10^4 cells per well in Murine MethoCult GF (#M3434) (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC). The plating density was selected to yield typical wildtype or transgenic mouse colony out-growth of ~30-150 colonies per well in the absence of drug treatment. Sterile water was added into empty wells, and space between wells, to maintain optimal humidity necessary for colony growth. During assay set-up, murine bone

marrow cells were added simultaneously to the culture media with recombinant GDF1 (200 ug/ml) or controls. The cultures were mixed vigorously and then dispensed to multi-well plates and incubated for 10-14 days. Blinded investigators manually counted each type of colonies and total colonies, including blast or miscellaneous colonies. Other types of colonies counted were CFU-E, BFU-E, CFU-G, CFU-M, CFU-GM, and CFU-GEMM colonies.

Flow cytometry

Isolated bone marrow cells from transgenic mice were prepared and stained with Mouse Fc Block, fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse Gr-1 (clone RB6-8C5), fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse CD11b (clone M1/70), fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse CD117 (clone 2B8), fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse CD71 (clone C2), and fluorophore-conjugated anti-mouse TER-119/LY-76 (clone TER-119) monoclonal antibodies from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA). Gr-1+ CD11b+ cells were evaluated and quantified as representative of leukemia burden (immature myeloid cells). CD117- CD71+ Ter119+ cells were evaluated and quantified as representative of erythroid cells. Flow cytometry was performed at the University of New Hampshire's University Instrumentation Center using a Sony SH800Z sorting flow cytometer.

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA) was used to perform data analyses. Comparisons of colony-forming and flow cytometry data were made using 1-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's multiple comparisons test. The Mantel-Cox Logrank test was used to determine survival significance between *in vivo* treatment groups.

CHAPTER 4⁶

OBESITY PROMOTES ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA PROGRESSION BY UPREGULATING THE CERAMIDE-MEDIATED NADPH OXIDASE 2

4.1. Abstract

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a type of blood cancer of the myeloid cell lineage. Obesity is characterized by an increase in body weight that results in excessive fat accumulation. Obesity has been associated with an increased incidence of many cancers, including blood cancers. This study evaluated the role obesity in AML progression in a novel transgenic mouse model developed by crossing Flt3^{ITD} mice with Lep^{ob/ob} mice. Leukemia burden was augmented in obese AML mice. In addition, it was determined that obesity upregulated the ceramidemediated and ceramide-1-phosphate-mediated NADPH oxidase 2. Notably, increased oxidative pathways has been attributed to disease progression in AML. Taken together, this study demonstrates a direct link between obesity and the progression of AML in part by augmenting the ceramide-mediated NADPH oxidase 2.

4.2. Introduction

Cancer is a group of diseases involving abnormal cell growth that has the potential to invade into other parts of the body (Font-Burgada et al., 2016). Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a type of blood cancer of the myeloid cell lineage. It most commonly occurs in older adults

⁶ ⁶ <u>Weiyuan Wang</u>, Paul T. Toran, Rachel J. Sabol, Tamara G. Hathorn, Emma J. Arsenault, Andrea L. Cote, Emily C. Sullivan, Vasiliki Papakotsi, Brian M. Barth. Obesity Promotes Acute Myeloid Leukemia Progression by Upregulating the Ceramide-Mediated NADPH Oxidase 2. In preparation for submission.

over 60 years old and accounts for the largest number of annual deaths from leukemia in the United States (O'Donnell et al., 2013). In recent years, obesity has been found to be an important risk factor for the development of cancer, including blood cancers. Obesity can promote the progression of cancer through several systemic mechanisms, such as causing chronic inflammation; producing excess amounts of estrogen, insulin, adipokines; as well as changing the mechanical properties of the scaffolding surrounding cancer cells (Gallagher and LeRoith, 2015; Gregor and Hotamisligil, 2011; Seo et al., 2015). Chronic inflammation takes place at particular organ sites, including the liver, pancreas, and gastrointestinal tract (Font-Burgada et al., 2016). Obesity-associated inflammation can dramatically alter tissue composition, thereby creating a fertile environment for cancer development (Olson et al., 2017).

Sphingolipids are a class of lipids composed of sphingoid base and fatty acids with ceramide being a hypothetical central metabolite. Sphingolipid metabolism is a complex network of interconnected pathways. Sphingolipids are formed via the metabolism of sphingomyelin, a constituent of the plasma membrane, through metabolism of other complex sphingolipids, or by *de novo* synthesis. In addition to functioning as structural elements, sphingolipids also participate in a variety of cellular pathways including apoptosis, cell senescence, the cell cycle, and cell differentiation. Several sphingolipid mediators including ceramide and ceramide-1-phosphate (C1P) have been found to play an integral role in inflammation (Nixon, 2009).

This research study evaluated a link between obesity and AML in a novel transgenic mouse model. The impact of obesity on the progression of AML was further explored by studying the expression of genes encoding sphingolipid-metabolizing enzymes involved in inflammation and oxidative stress. Increased leukemia burden was observed in obese AML mice, which also upregulated inflammatory sphingolipid metabolism and the NADPH oxidase 2.

4.3. Results

Initially, a transgenic obese AML mouse model was developed by crossing the Flt3^{ITD} and Lep^{ob/ob} mice. The Lep^{ob/ob} mouse is a mjaor model of obesity that arises due to a spontaneous mutation in the gene encoding the hormone leptin (Lutz and Woods, 2012). Leptin is produced predominantly by adipocytes (Mohamed-Ali et al., 1998). It helps regulate energy balance by inhibiting hunger and diminishing fat storage in adipocytes. In obesity, the body develops insensitivity to leptin, thus is unable to detect satiety (Pan et al., 2014). Homozygous leptin-deficient mice are phenotypically indistinguishable from their unaffected littermates at birth, but gain weight rapidly throughout their lives, reaching a weight over twice that of unaffected mice. The Flt3^{ITD} transgenic mouse is a model where a myeloproliferative neoplasm evolves to AML. FMS-like tyrosine kinase-3 (FLT3) is a receptor tyrosine kinase and protooncogene involved in crucial steps of hematopoiesis such as proliferation, differentiation and survival. The FLT3^{ITD} mutation has been strongly associated with oor prognosis, leukocytosis, high blast counts, increased risk of relapse and shorter overall survival of AML patients (Lagunas-Rangel and Chávez-Valencia, 2017). These two mouse models were crossed to develop the Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mouse model to further study the role of obesity in AML development and progression. Notably, the Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mouse model had similar weight gain as the Lep^{ob/ob} mouse model and they were indistinguishable in appearance (Figure 4.1). In addition, peripheral blood smears demonstrated that the transgenic obese AML model (Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice) developed a more robust leukemia as evidenced by the substantial appearance of blasts as compared with the Flt3^{ITD} transgenic AML mouse model (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1. Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice have similar weight gain as Lep^{ob/ob} mice. An aged Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mouse (A) and an aged Lep^{ob/ob} mouse (B) are demonstrated visually. Weight gain patterns of Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice (C) and Lep^{ob/ob} mice (D). As the age of these transgenic mice approaches 160 days, their weight plateaus around 65 grams.



Figure 4.2. Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice developed robust AML compared with Flt3^{ITD} mice. A peripheral blood smear from a wildtype mouse (A) displays all small, pink, and normal red blood cells, indicative of normal and nonmalignant cells. Similarly, a peripheral blood smear from a Lep^{ob/ob} mouse (B) displays a similar appearance, indicative that obese mice likewise do not have notable phenotypic changes in the blood system. In contrast, a peripheral blood smear from a Flt3^{ITD} mouse (C) displays a handful of blasts, indicative that the mouse has leukemic transformation. Most notably, a peripheral blood smear from a Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mouse (D) shows considerably greater number of blasts than that of the Flt3^{ITD} mouse (C), indicative that the malignancy has more robustly developed.

The impact of obesity on ceramide metabolism and signaling in AML was next investigated to further explore a possible mechanism where obesity can promote AML progression. Obesity is known to induce several pathological conditions including insulin resistance, in which glucose metabolism and ceramide metabolism play key pathological roles (Longato et al., 2012). Obesity-driven increases in ceramide have been linked to glucose intolerance (Turpin et al., 2014). Acid sphingomyelinase (SMPD1) is an enzyme that hydrolyzes sphingomyelin to liberate ceramide, modulating membrane properties and signal transduction
pathways including those mediated by inflammation (Gorelik et al., 2016). Ceramide kinase (CERK) is a lipid kinase that is responsible for the phosphorylation of ceramide to ceramide-1-phosphate (C1P) at the plasma membrane and in Golgi complex (Boath et al., 2008). NADPH oxidase 2 is a superoxide generating enzyme. Superoxide is crucial in killing foreign bacteria in the human body. Decreased activity of NADPH oxidase 2 can lead to an increased susceptibility to organisms such as catalase-positive microbes, while its increased activity can lead to oxidative stress (Fuentes et al. 2018). Both ceramide and C1P have been found to activate NADPH oxidase 2 to participate in redox-mediated signaling processes (Barth et al., 2012).

In the present study, obesity in the Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mouse model was shown to lead to aberrant gene expression involving aspects of sphingolipid metabolism and redox signaling, reflected increased gene expression of *Smpd1*, *Cerk*, and *Nox2* (encodes primary membrane-bound subunit of NADPH oxidase 2) (Figure 4.3). Collective upregulation of these genes enables the ceramide-mediated NADPH oxidase 2 (Figure 4.4), where inflammatory stress can provoke ceramide and C1P generation that promotes activation of NADPH oxidase 2. Activation of this pathway would enable redox-mediated progression of AML, similar as observed in the Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} obese AML transgenic mouse model.



Figure 4.3. *Smpd1*, *Cerk*, and *Nox2* are upregulated in Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice. Bone marrow from agematched wildtype, Lep^{ob/ob}, Flt3^{ITD}, and Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/b} mice was harvested and analyzed by RT-qPCR (wildtype mice were used as a fully-normal control). Expression of *Smpd1*, *Cerk*, and Nox2 was elevated in all mice and was highest in the Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/b} obese AML mouse model. n=3 per mouse.



Figure 4.4. Schematic diagram of the ceramide- and C1P-mediated NADPH oxidase 2. Acid sphingomyelinase generates ceramide from sphingomyelin, including in response to obesity-driven inflammation. Ceramide kinase coverts ceramide into ceramide-1-phosphate. Both ceramide and ceramide-1-phosphate activate NADPH oxidase 2, which generates superoxide (O_2^{-1}). Membrane subunits of NADPH oxidase 2 include gp91^{phox} and p22^{phox}. Cytosolic subunits of NADPH oxidase 2 include p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, p40^{phox}, and Rac1/2.

4.4. Discussion

Obesity is an important risk factor for the development of cancer, although the relationship is not as clear as that between tobacco use and lung cancer (Zitvogel et al., 2017). Nearly 25% of the relative contribution to cancer has since been ascribed to being overweight and obese (Nimptsch and Pischon, 2016). It is widely agreed that obesity promotes both primary tumor growth and metastatic progression through several systemic mechanisms (Olson et al., 2017). In particular, obesity-associated oxidative stress has been found to cause genetic damage, facilitating the transformation of premalignant cells (Manna and Jain, 2015). Moreover, NADPH oxidase-dependent redox-signaling has been shown to promote proliferative signaling.

In this study, the role of obesity in the progression AML was evaluated in a novel transgenic obese AML mouse model (Flt3^{ITD} x Lep^{ob/ob} mice). Interestingly, these mice had similar weight gains as their obese littermates but developed a more robust AML than non-obese Flt3^{ITD} transgenic AML mice, indicative that obesity augments the progression of AML. Mechanistically, obesity upregulates the expression of genes encoding for the: 1) ceramide-generating enzyme SMPD1, 2) C1P-generating enzyme CERK, and 3) primary membrane-bound NADPH oxidase 2 subunit. Both ceramide and C1P can activate the NADPH oxidase 2 to promote redox signaling and oxidative stress. Therefore, these results indicate that transgenic obese AML mice have a high oxidative burden. By increasing oxidative stress and redox-signaling within the AML cells obesity may accelerate the molecular evolution of AML (Marseglia et al., 2014), as well as promote a more proliferative cellular state.

There are other mechanisms through which obesity can promote cancer progression. For example, at a primary tumor site, obesity increases myofibroblast content, which stiffens extracellular matrices and enhances cancer cell growth. Inflammasome activation in tumor-

128

infiltrating myeloid cells has also been shown to drive increased IL-1β signaling in tumors. In response, adipocytes express more VEGF-A, which increases tumor angiogenesis (Kolb et al., 2016). Additionally, cholesterol metabolites have been shown to promote metastasis of cancer by promoting the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Nelson et al., 2013). Moreover, at the metastatic site, IL5Ralpha+ monocytes generate GM-CSF and promote neutrophil expansion (Quail et al., 2017). Circulating neutrophilia occurs in response to the increased GM-CSF and can promote seeding and outgrowth of disseminated cancer cells (Olson et al., 2017).

Altogether, interventions are being investigated to mitigate the effects of obesity in cancer. Caloric restriction is the most widely studied strategy. Caloric restriction has been found to reverse breast inflammation associated with obesity in women (Bhardwaj et al., 2013). Second, lifestyle interventions, such as exercise and fasting, have been found to improve immune function in preclinical studies. Fasting increases the levels of lymphoid progenitor cells and cytotoxic CD8+ lymphocytes, enhancing the targeted killing of cancer cells (Di Biase et al., 2016). In conclusion, it is imperative to understand mechanisms by which obesity affects cancer progression. In this way, better personalized approaches to treat obese cancer patients can be developed.

4.5. Materials and methods

Animal studies

B6.129-Flt3^{tm1Dgg}/J (Flt3^{ITD}) transgenic mice develop a myeloproliferative neoplasm that evolves to AML (Loghavi et al., 2014). FLT3 is a receptor tyrosine kinase. It is important for the development of the hematopoietic and immune systems. The FLT3^{ITD} mutation is one of the most common molecular abnormality in acute myeloid leukemia (Levis and Small, 2003). Mice

129

that are homozygous for this targeted mutation develop a progressive myeloproliferative disease, exhibiting increased myeloid and monocytic cell populations and reduced B and T cell lymphoid cell numbers. These FLT3-mutant transgenic mice were crossed with B6.Cg-Lep^{ob}/J (Lep^{ob} , commonly referred to as *ob* or *ob/ob*) mice. Homozygous $Lep^{ob/ob}$ mice have a spontaneous mutation in the gene encoding for the hormone leptin, which normally regulates energy homeostasis and appetite. These homozygous leptin-deficient mice exhibit obesity, hyperphagia, transient hyperglycemia, glucose intolerance, and elevated plasma insulin. Therefore, crossing FLT3-mutant mice with leptin-deficient mice resulted in a new transgenic mouse that develops AML in the context of obesity.

Bone marrow cells were isolated from the femurs and tibias of 4–8-month-old (male and female) transgenic mice and their respective wildtype littermates for RT-qPCR analysis. Mice were submitted to the New Hampshire Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (NHVDL) at the University of New Hampshire for histopathological evaluation. Leukemia was confirmed by the investigative team and the NHVDL in transgenic mice based on spleen or bone marrow histopathology, and/or peripheral blood smear evaluation. All animal studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of New Hampshire.

Peripheral blood smear preparation

Peripheral blood smears are prepared by placing a drop of blood on one end of a slide and using a spreader slide to disperse the blood over the slide's length. The slide is left to air dry and stained with Wright-Giesma stain to distinguish the cells from each other. The eosin Y dye stains red blood cells a faint pink color, while the methylene blue and azure B dyes stains lymphocytes a purple-blue color (Schulte et al., 1989). The slide is left to air dry for roughly 24 hours before it is observed under a light microscope.

<u>RT-qPCR analysis</u>

Total cellular RNA from mouse bone marrow samples was extracted and cleaned using Zymo Research kits. RNA quality was evaluated using a NanoDrop 8000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and reverse transcribed with Taq polymerase to generate cDNA. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed using PrimeTime® Gene Expression Master Mix (Integrated DNA Technologies) on a CFX96 Real-Time PCR System (Biorad). Gene expression was determined using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method using cycle threshold (Ct) values for target genes as well as two endogenous reference genes (*ACTB* and *TBP*). Primer and probe assays were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies.

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA) was used to perform data analyses. Comparisons of RT-qPCR data were made using student's t-tests as well as 1-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

5.1. General Conclusions

Growth/differentiation factor 1 (GDF1) is transcribed from a bicistronic gene and can engage transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGF β R1) to mediate cellular effects including regulation of gene expression by the SMAD2/3 pathway. Currently, the understood role of GDF1 is limited to left-right patterning, including during cardiac development, as well as mesoderm induction during embryonic development. Little else is known about the role of GDF1, especially outside of embryonic development, although many related members of the transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) superfamily have been attributed roles in stem cell biology. Previously, nanoliposomal C6-ceramide (Lip-C6) was shown to exert preclinical therapeutic efficacy in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) with myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS)related changes (AML-MRC) whereas other types of AML were resistant due to enhanced ceramide metabolism. Intriguingly, *GDF1* expression is likewise low in these Lip-C6-resistant AMLs. Therefore, it was postulated that GDF1 may have anti-AML therapeutic efficacy due to an ability to regulate ceramide metabolism.

In the first research study (Chapter 2), *GDF1* was observed to be variably expressed in AML, and mostly downregulated in Lip-C6-resistant AML. More so, it was shown that GDF1 downregulated the expression of *UGCG* and *SGMS1*, both of which encode enzymes that metabolize ceramide into non-toxic sphingolipids. Lastly, GDF1 was observed to uniquely promote SMAD2/3 phosphorylation while downregulating STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation,

132

both in a TGFβR1-dependent manner. In the second research study (Chapter 3), it was found that recombinant GDF1 promotes hematopoiesis by decreasing immature myeloid cells while increasing the maturation of monocytes and erythrocytes. Moreover, it was found that recombinant GDF1 exerted combinatorial anti-AML efficacy with cytarabine (AraC). Collectively, the studies reported in Chapters 2 and 3 demonstrate an anti-AML effect for GDF1 that is inherently linked to its ability to regulate ceramide metabolism. In the final research study (Chapter 4), a transgenic obese AML mouse model was developed to study links between obesity and the development and progression of AML. These obese AML mice develop a more robust AML than non-obese counterparts and upregulate elements of the ceramide-mediated NADPH oxidase 2. In that way, obesity can activate a sphingolipid-mediated pathway that is responsive to obesity-driven inflammation to augment AML development and progression.

5.2. Future Directions

In the future, drug discovery efforts are planned to uncover compounds that regulate ceramide metabolism including regulators of GDF1. These studies are further planned to evaluate anti-AML therapeutic efficacy in combination with ceramide-based therapeutics such as Lip-C6. Previous studies have demonstrated an anti-AML therapeutic ability of bioactive compounds found in a plant called Devil's Club (*Oplopanax horridus*). This is a medicinal plant used among indigenous people of Southeast and Southcentral Alaska and the coastal Pacific Northwest. Future studies are planned to extract bioactive compounds of Devil's Club, and other medicinal plants, to uncover compounds that can regulate ceramide metabolism, GDF1, as well as exert anti-AML efficacy. This will shed more light on the potential of medicinal plants for the development of novel AML therapeutics.

133

LITERATURE CITED

Abaza, Y., Kantarjian, H., Garcia-Manero, G., Estey, E., Borthakur, G., Jabbour, E., Faderl, S., O'Brien, S., Wierda, W., Pierce, S., et al. (2017). Long-term outcome of acute promyelocytic leukemia treated with all-trans-retinoic acid, arsenic trioxide, and gemtuzumab. Blood *129*, 1275–1283.

Acar, M., Kocherlakota, K.S., Murphy, M.M., Peyer, J.G., Oguro, H., Inra, C.N., Jaiyeola, C., Zhao, Z., Luby-Phelps, K., and Morrison, S.J. (2015). Deep imaging of bone marrow shows nondividing stem cells are mainly perisinusoidal. Nature *526*, 126–130.

Adiseshaiah, P.P., Clogston, J.D., McLeland, C.B., Rodriguez, J., Potter, T.M., Neun, B.W., Skoczen, S.L., Shanmugavelandy, S.S., Kester, M., Stern, S.T., et al. (2013). Synergistic combination therapy with nanoliposomal C6-ceramide and vinblastine is associated with autophagy dysfunction in hepatocarcinoma and colorectal cancer models. Cancer Lett *337*, 254– 265.

Aerts, J.M., Boot, R.G., van Eijk, M., Groener, J., Bijl, N., Lombardo, E., Bietrix, F.M., Dekker, N., Groen, A.K., Ottenhoff, R., et al. (2011). Glycosphingolipids and insulin resistance. Adv Exp Med Biol *721*, 99–119.

Ahuja, N., Sharma, A.R., and Baylin, S.B. (2016). Epigenetic Therapeutics: A New Weapon in the War Against Cancer. Annu Rev Med *67*, 73–89.

Al-Naeeb, A.B., Ajithkumar, T., Behan, S., and Hodson, D.J. (2018). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. BMJ *362*, k3204. Andersson, O., Reissmann, E., Jörnvall, H., and Ibáñez, C.F. (2006). Synergistic interaction between Gdf1 and Nodal during anterior axis development. Developmental Biology *293*, 370–381.

Andersson, O., Bertolino, P., and Ibáñez, C.F. (2007). Distinct and cooperative roles of mammalian Vg1 homologs GDF1 and GDF3 during early embryonic development. Developmental Biology *311*, 500–511.

Ansell, S.M. (2015). Hodgkin Lymphoma: Diagnosis and Treatment. Mayo Clinic Proceedings *90*, 1574–1583.

Anthony, B.A., and Link, D.C. (2014). Regulation of hematopoietic stem cells by bone marrow stromal cells. Trends Immunol *35*, 32–37.

Arber, D.A., and Erba, H.P. (2020). Diagnosis and Treatment of Patients With Acute Myeloid Leukemia With Myelodysplasia-Related Changes (AML-MRC). American Journal of Clinical Pathology *154*, 731–741.

Arber, D.A., Orazi, A., Hasserjian, R., Thiele, J., Borowitz, M.J., Le Beau, M.M., Bloomfield,
C.D., Cazzola, M., and Vardiman, J.W. (2016). The 2016 revision to the World Health
Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood *127*, 2391–2405.

Armitage, J.O., Gascoyne, R.D., Lunning, M.A., and Cavalli, F. (2017). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Lancet *390*, 298–310.

Arranz, L., Sánchez-Aguilera, A., Martín-Pérez, D., Isern, J., Langa, X., Tzankov, A., Lundberg,
P., Muntión, S., Tzeng, Y.-S., Lai, D.-M., et al. (2014). Neuropathy of haematopoietic stem cell
niche is essential for myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nature *512*, 78–81.

Asada, N., Kunisaki, Y., Pierce, H., Wang, Z., Fernandez, N.F., Birbrair, A., Ma'ayan, A., and Frenette, P.S. (2017). Differential cytokine contributions of perivascular haematopoietic stem cell niches. Nat Cell Biol *19*, 214–223.

Azad, N., Zahnow, C.A., Rudin, C.M., and Baylin, S.B. (2013). The future of epigenetic therapy in solid tumours--lessons from the past. Nat Rev Clin Oncol *10*, 256–266.

Bai, A.-P., and Guo, Y. (2018). Ceramide is a Potential Activator of Immune Responses Against Tumors. Gastroenterology *155*, 579–580.

Balakrishnan, P., Song, C.K., Jahn, A., and Cho, H.-J. (2016). Ceramide and N,N,N-Trimethylphytosphingosine-Iodide (TMP-I)-Based Lipid Nanoparticles for Cancer Therapy. Pharm Res *33*, 206–216.

Baldus, C.D., Mrózek, K., Marcucci, G., and Bloomfield, C.D. (2007). Clinical outcome of de novo acute myeloid leukaemia patients with normal cytogenetics is affected by molecular genetic alterations: a concise review. Br J Haematol *137*, 387–400.

Bamezai, S., Rawat, V.P.S., and Buske, C. (2012). Concise review: The Piwi-piRNA axis: pivotal beyond transposon silencing. Stem Cells *30*, 2603–2611.

Baran, Y., Salas, A., Senkal, C.E., Gunduz, U., Bielawski, J., Obeid, L.M., and Ogretmen, B.(2007). Alterations of ceramide/sphingosine 1-phosphate rheostat involved in the regulation of

resistance to imatinib-induced apoptosis in K562 human chronic myeloid leukemia cells. J Biol Chem 282, 10922–10934.

Barker, J.E. (1994). Sl/Sld hematopoietic progenitors are deficient in situ. Exp Hematol 22, 174– 177.

Barnawi, J., Tran, H., Jersmann, H., Pitson, S., Roscioli, E., Hodge, G., Meech, R., Haberberger, R., and Hodge, S. (2015). Potential Link between the Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) System and Defective Alveolar Macrophage Phagocytic Function in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). PLoS One *10*, e0122771.

Barnawi, J., Jersmann, H., Haberberger, R., Hodge, S., and Meech, R. (2017). Reduced DNA methylation of sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor 5 in alveolar macrophages in COPD: A potential link to failed efferocytosis. Respirology *22*, 315–321.

Barth, B.M., Cabot, M.C., and Kester, M. (2011). Ceramide-based therapeutics for the treatment of cancer. Anticancer Agents Med Chem *11*, 911–919.

Barth, B.M., Gustafson, S.J., Hankins, J.L., Kaiser, J.M., Haakenson, J.K., Kester, M., and Kuhn, T.B. (2012). Ceramide Kinase Regulates TNFα-Stimulated NADPH Oxidase Activity and Eicosanoid Biosynthesis in Neuroblastoma Cells. Cell Signal *24*, 1126–1133.

Barth, B.M., Wang, W., Toran, P.T., Fox, T.E., Annageldiyev, C., Ondrasik, R.M., Keasey, N.R., Brown, T.J., Devine, V.G., Sullivan, E.C., et al. (2019). Sphingolipid metabolism determines the therapeutic efficacy of nanoliposomal ceramide in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Adv *3*, 2598–2603.

Battogtokh, G., and Ko, Y.T. (2014a). Self-assembled chitosan-ceramide nanoparticle for enhanced oral delivery of paclitaxel. Pharm Res *31*, 3019–3030.

Battogtokh, G., and Ko, Y.T. (2014b). Self-assembled polymeric nanoparticle of PEGylated chitosan-ceramide conjugate for systemic delivery of paclitaxel. J Drug Target *22*, 813–821.

Beckham, T.H., Lu, P., Jones, E.E., Marrison, T., Lewis, C.S., Cheng, J.C., Ramshesh, V.K., Beeson, G., Beeson, C.C., Drake, R.R., et al. (2013). LCL124, a Cationic Analog of Ceramide, Selectively Induces Pancreatic Cancer Cell Death by Accumulating in Mitochondria. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *344*, 167–178.

Behrmann, L., Wellbrock, J., and Fiedler, W. (2018). Acute Myeloid Leukemia and the Bone Marrow Niche—Take a Closer Look. Front Oncol *8*.

Belson, M., Kingsley, B., and Holmes, A. (2007). Risk Factors for Acute Leukemia in Children: A Review. Environ Health Perspect *115*, 138–145.

van den Berk, L.C.J., van der Veer, A., Willemse, M.E., Theeuwes, M.J.G.A., Luijendijk, M.W., Tong, W.H., van der Sluis, I.M., Pieters, R., and den Boer, M.L. (2014). Disturbed CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in paediatric precursor B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol *166*, 240–249.

Bhardwaj, P., Du, B., Zhou, X.K., Sue, E., Harbus, M.D., Falcone, D.J., Giri, D., Hudis, C.A., Kopelovich, L., Subbaramaiah, K., et al. (2013). Caloric Restriction Reverses Obesity Induced Mammary Gland Inflammation in Mice. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) *6*, 282–289. Bieberich, E. (2018). Sphingolipids and lipid rafts: Novel concepts and methods of analysis. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids *216*, 114–131.

Bieberich, E., Kawaguchi, T., and Yu, R.K. (2000). N-Acylated Serinol Is a Novel Ceramide Mimic Inducing Apoptosis in Neuroblastoma Cells. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 177–181.

Bigarella, C.L., Liang, R., and Ghaffari, S. (2014). Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development *141*, 4206–4218.

Birbrair, A., and Frenette, P.S. (2016). Niche heterogeneity in the bone marrow. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1370*, 82–96.

Biswal, S.S., Datta, K., Acquaah-Mensah, G.K., and Kehrer, J.P. (2000). Changes in ceramide and sphingomyelin following fludarabine treatment of human chronic B-cell leukemia cells. Toxicology *154*, 45–53.

Blaho, V.A., Galvani, S., Engelbrecht, E., Liu, C., Swendeman, S.L., Kono, M., Proia, R.L., Steinman, L., Han, M.H., and Hla, T. (2015). HDL-bound sphingosine-1-phosphate restrains lymphopoiesis and neuroinflammation. Nature *523*, 342–346.

Boath, A., Graf, C., Lidome, E., Ullrich, T., Nussbaumer, P., and Bornancin, F. (2008). Regulation and traffic of ceramide 1-phosphate produced by ceramide kinase: comparative analysis to glucosylceramide and sphingomyelin. J Biol Chem *283*, 8517–8526.

Bonifacio, M., Stagno, F., Scaffidi, L., Krampera, M., and Di Raimondo, F. (2019). Management of Chronic Myeloid Leukemia in Advanced Phase. Front Oncol *9*.

Borodzicz, S., Czarzasta, K., Kuch, M., and Cudnoch-Jedrzejewska, A. (2015). Sphingolipids in cardiovascular diseases and metabolic disorders. Lipids Health Dis *14*, 55.

Bose, R., Verheij, M., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Scotto, K., Fuks, Z., and Kolesnick, R. (1995). Ceramide synthase mediates daunorubicin-induced apoptosis: an alternative mechanism for generating death signals. Cell *82*, 405–414.

Brachtendorf, S., Wanger, R.A., Birod, K., Thomas, D., Trautmann, S., Wegner, M.-S., Fuhrmann, D.C., Brüne, B., Geisslinger, G., and Grösch, S. (2018). Chemosensitivity of human colon cancer cells is influenced by a p53-dependent enhancement of ceramide synthase 5 and induction of autophagy. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids *1863*, 1214–1227.

Britten, C.D., Garrett-Mayer, E., Chin, S.H., Shirai, K., Ogretmen, B., Bentz, T.A., Brisendine, A., Anderton, K., Cusack, S.L., Maines, L.W., et al. (2017). A Phase I Study of ABC294640, a First-in-Class Sphingosine Kinase-2 Inhibitor, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors. Clin Cancer Res *23*, 4642–4650.

Brookes, E., and Shi, Y. (2014). Diverse epigenetic mechanisms of human disease. Annu Rev Genet *48*, 237–268.

Bruns, I., Lucas, D., Pinho, S., Ahmed, J., Lambert, M.P., Kunisaki, Y., Scheiermann, C., Schiff, L., Poncz, M., Bergman, A., et al. (2014). Megakaryocytes regulate hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through CXCL4 secretion. Nat Med *20*, 1315–1320.

Burberry, A., Zeng, M.Y., Ding, L., Wicks, I., Inohara, N., Morrison, S.J., and Núñez, G. (2014). Infection mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells through cooperative NOD-like receptor and Tolllike receptor signaling. Cell Host Microbe *15*, 779–791.

140

Burger, J.A., and O'Brien, S. (2018). Evolution of CLL treatment — from chemoimmunotherapy to targeted and individualized therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol *15*, 510–527.

Calin, G.A., Ferracin, M., Cimmino, A., Di Leva, G., Shimizu, M., Wojcik, S.E., Iorio, M.V., Visone, R., Sever, N.I., Fabbri, M., et al. (2005). A MicroRNA signature associated with prognosis and progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med *353*, 1793–1801.

Calvi, L.M., and Link, D.C. (2014). Cellular complexity of the bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niche. Calcif Tissue Int *94*, 112–124.

Calvi, L.M., and Link, D.C. (2015). The hematopoietic stem cell niche in homeostasis and disease. Blood *126*, 2443–2451.

Campbell, P., and Thomas, C.M. (2017). Belinostat for the treatment of relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma. J Oncol Pharm Pract *23*, 143–147.

Carvalho, V.F.M., Migotto, A., Giacone, D.V., de Lemos, D.P., Zanoni, T.B., Maria-Engler, S.S., Costa-Lotufo, L.V., and Lopes, L.B. (2017). Co-encapsulation of paclitaxel and C6 ceramide in tributyrin-containing nanocarriers improve co-localization in the skin and potentiate cytotoxic effects in 2D and 3D models. Eur J Pharm Sci *109*, 131–143.

Castillo, J.J., Ingham, R.R., Reagan, J.L., Furman, M., Dalia, S., and Mitri, J. (2014). Obesity is associated with increased relative risk of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk *14*, 122–130.

Cazzaniga, G., Bisanti, L., Randi, G., Deandrea, S., Bungaro, S., Pregliasco, F., Perotti, D., Spreafico, F., Masera, G., Valsecchi, M.G., et al. (2017). Possible Role of Pandemic AH1N1 Swine Flu Virus in a Childhood Leukemia Cluster. Leukemia *31*, 1819–1821.

Cazzola, M. (2020). Myelodysplastic Syndromes. N Engl J Med 383, 1358–1374.

CDC (2020). What is Hemophilia? | CDC.

Cerhan, J.R., and Slager, S.L. (2015). Familial predisposition and genetic risk factors for lymphoma. Blood *126*, 2265–2273.

Chaudhari, K., Rizvi, S., and Syed, B.A. (2019). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma therapy landscape. Nat Rev Drug Discov *18*, 663–664.

Chavez, J.A., Siddique, M.M., Wang, S.T., Ching, J., Shayman, J.A., and Summers, S.A. (2014). Ceramides and glucosylceramides are independent antagonists of insulin signaling. J Biol Chem 289, 723–734.

Chen, J., Goyal, N., Dai, L., Lin, Z., Del Valle, L., Zabaleta, J., Liu, J., Post, S.R., Foroozesh, M., and Qin, Z. (2020). Developing new ceramide analogs and identifying novel sphingolipid-controlled genes against a virus-associated lymphoma. Blood *136*, 2175–2187.

Chen, J.Y., Miyanishi, M., Wang, S.K., Yamazaki, S., Sinha, R., Kao, K.S., Seita, J., Sahoo, D., Nakauchi, H., and Weissman, I.L. (2016). Hoxb5 marks long-term haematopoietic stem cells and reveals a homogenous perivascular niche. Nature *530*, 223–227.

Chen, X., Sun, A., Zou, Y., Ge, J., Lazar, J.M., and Jiang, X.-C. (2011). Impact of sphingomyelin levels on coronary heart disease and left ventricular systolic function in humans. Nutr Metab (Lond) *8*, 25.

Chen, X., Burkhardt, D.B., Hartman, A.A., Hu, X., Eastman, A.E., Sun, C., Wang, X., Zhong, M., Krishnaswamy, S., and Guo, S. (2019). MLL-AF9 initiates transformation from fast-proliferating myeloid progenitors. Nature Communications *10*, 5767.

Cheng, L., Chen, Y.-Z., Peng, Y., Yi, N., Gu, X.-S., Jin, Y., and Bai, X.-M. (2015). Ceramide production mediates cinobufotalin-induced growth inhibition and apoptosis in cultured hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Tumour Biol *36*, 5763–5771.

Cheng, S.K., Olale, F., Bennett, J.T., Brivanlou, A.H., and Schier, A.F. (2003). EGF-CFC proteins are essential coreceptors for the TGF-β signals Vg1 and GDF1. Genes Dev *17*, 31–36.

Chiappella, A., Martelli, M., Angelucci, E., Brusamolino, E., Evangelista, A., Carella, A.M., Stelitano, C., Rossi, G., Balzarotti, M., Merli, F., et al. (2017). Rituximab-dose-dense chemotherapy with or without high-dose chemotherapy plus autologous stem-cell transplantation in high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLCL04): final results of a multicentre, open-label, randomised, controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol *18*, 1076–1088.

Chou, W.-C., Huang, H.-H., Hou, H.-A., Chen, C.-Y., Tang, J.-L., Yao, M., Tsay, W., Ko, B.-S., Wu, S.-J., Huang, S.-Y., et al. (2010). Distinct clinical and biological features of de novo acute myeloid leukemia with additional sex comb-like 1 (ASXL1) mutations. Blood *116*, 4086–4094.

Chow, A., Lucas, D., Hidalgo, A., Méndez-Ferrer, S., Hashimoto, D., Scheiermann, C., Battista,M., Leboeuf, M., Prophete, C., van Rooijen, N., et al. (2011). Bone marrow CD169+

macrophages promote the retention of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the mesenchymal stem cell niche. J Exp Med *208*, 261–271.

Chun, J., and Hartung, H.-P. (2010). Mechanism of Action of Oral Fingolimod (FTY720) in Multiple Sclerosis. Clin Neuropharmacol *33*, 91–101.

Chuturgoon, A., Phulukdaree, A., and Moodley, D. (2014). Fumonisin B1 induces global DNA hypomethylation in HepG2 cells - An alternative mechanism of action. Toxicology *315*, 65–69.

Cirillo, M., Reinke, S., Klapper, W., and Borchmann, S. (2019). The translational science of hodgkin lymphoma. Br J Haematol *184*, 30–44.

Clarke, C.J., Shamseddine, A.A., Jacob, J.J., Khalife, G., Burns, T.A., and Hannun, Y.A. (2016). ATRA transcriptionally induces nSMase2 through CBP/p300-mediated histone acetylation. J Lipid Res *57*, 868–881.

Commissioner, O. of the (2020). Hemophilia Treatments Have Come a Long Way. FDA.

Conrad, M.E. (1990). Anemia. In Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations, H.K. Walker, W.D. Hall, and J.W. Hurst, eds. (Boston: Butterworths), p.

Corrado, C., Raimondo, S., Saieva, L., Flugy, A.M., De Leo, G., and Alessandro, R. (2014). Exosome-mediated crosstalk between chronic myelogenous leukemia cells and human bone marrow stromal cells triggers an interleukin 8-dependent survival of leukemia cells. Cancer Lett *348*, 71–76. Corriden, R., Hollands, A., Olson, J., Derieux, J., Lopez, J., Chang, J.T., Gonzalez, D.J., and Nizet, V. (2015). Tamoxifen augments the innate immune function of neutrophils through modulation of intracellular ceramide. Nature Communications *6*, 8369.

Corso, A., Lazzarino, M., Morra, E., Merante, S., Astori, C., Bernasconi, P., Boni, M., and Bernasconi, C. (1995). Chronic myelogenous leukemia and exposure to ionizing radiation — a retrospective study of 443 patients. Ann Hematol *70*, 79–82.

Crane, G.M., Jeffery, E., and Morrison, S.J. (2017). Adult haematopoietic stem cell niches. Nat Rev Immunol *17*, 573–590.

Cuskelly, G.J., McNulty, H., and Scott, J.M. (1996). Effect of increasing dietary folate on redcell folate: implications for prevention of neural tube defects. Lancet *347*, 657–659.

Cyster, J.G., and Schwab, S.R. (2012). Sphingosine-1-phosphate and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Annu Rev Immunol *30*, 69–94.

Dany, M., Gencer, S., Nganga, R., Thomas, R.J., Oleinik, N., Baron, K.D., Szulc, Z.M., Ruvolo, P., Kornblau, S., Andreeff, M., et al. (2016). Targeting FLT3-ITD signaling mediates ceramidedependent mitophagy and attenuates drug resistance in AML. Blood *128*, 1944–1958.

De Kouchkovsky, I., and Abdul-Hay, M. (2016). 'Acute myeloid leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2016 update.' Blood Cancer Journal *6*, e441–e441.

Decker, M., Leslie, J., Liu, Q., and Ding, L. (2018). Hepatic thrombopoietin is required for bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. Science *360*, 106–110.

Demirel, G., Alpertunga, B., and Ozden, S. (2015). Role of fumonisin B1 on DNA methylation changes in rat kidney and liver cells. Pharm Biol *53*, 1302–1310.

Dent, P. (2013). Ceramide in the prostate. Cancer Biol Ther 14, 881-882.

Dhule, S.S., Penfornis, P., He, J., Harris, M.R., Terry, T., John, V., and Pochampally, R. (2014). The combined effect of encapsulating curcumin and C6 ceramide in liposomal nanoparticles against osteosarcoma. Mol Pharm *11*, 417–427.

Di Biase, S., Lee, C., Brandhorst, S., Manes, B., Buono, R., Cheng, C.-W., Cacciottolo, M., Martin-Montalvo, A., de Cabo, R., Wei, M., et al. (2016). Fasting-Mimicking Diet Reduces HO-1 to Promote T Cell-Mediated Tumor Cytotoxicity. Cancer Cell *30*, 136–146.

Di Ruscio, A., Ebralidze, A.K., Benoukraf, T., Amabile, G., Goff, L.A., Terragni, J., Figueroa, M.E., De Figueiredo Pontes, L.L., Alberich-Jorda, M., Zhang, P., et al. (2013). DNMT1interacting RNAs block gene-specific DNA methylation. Nature *503*, 371–376.

Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature *495*, 231–235.

Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *481*, 457–462.

Dong, Y.W., Wang, R., Cai, Q.Q., Qi, B., Wu, W., Zhang, Y.H., and Wu, X.Z. (2014). Sulfatide epigenetically regulates miR-223 and promotes the migration of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Hepatol *60*, 792–801.

Draper, J.M., Xia, Z., Smith, R.A., Zhuang, Y., Wang, W., and Smith, C.D. (2011). Discovery and evaluation of inhibitors of human ceramidase. Mol Cancer Ther *10*, 2052–2061.

Dubois, N., Rio, E., Ripoche, N., Ferchaud-Roucher, V., Gaugler, M.-H., Campion, L., Krempf, M., Carrie, C., Mahé, M., Mirabel, X., et al. (2016). Plasma ceramide, a real-time predictive marker of pulmonary and hepatic metastases response to stereotactic body radiation therapy combined with irinotecan. Radiother Oncol *119*, 229–235.

Dutta, A.K., Hewett, D.R., Fink, J.L., Grady, J.P., and Zannettino, A.C.W. (2017). Cutting edge genomics reveal new insights into tumour development, disease progression and therapeutic impacts in multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol *178*, 196–208.

Ebenezer, D.L., Fu, P., Suryadevara, V., Zhao, Y., and Natarajan, V. (2017). Epigenetic regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion by sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) in acute lung injury: Role of S1P lyase. Adv Biol Regul *63*, 156–166.

Ehninger, A., and Trumpp, A. (2011). The bone marrow stem cell niche grows up: mesenchymal stem cells and macrophages move in. J Exp Med *208*, 421–428.

Elojeimy, S., Liu, X., McKillop, J.C., El-Zawahry, A.M., Holman, D.H., Cheng, J.Y., Meacham, W.D., Mahdy, A.E., Saad, A.F., Turner, L.S., et al. (2007). Role of acid ceramidase in resistance to FasL: therapeutic approaches based on acid ceramidase inhibitors and FasL gene therapy. Mol Ther *15*, 1259–1263.

Estey, E. (2021). New treatments for acute myeloid leukemia: how much has changed? Leukemia *35*, 45–46.

Evangelisti, C., Evangelisti, C., Buontempo, F., Lonetti, A., Orsini, E., Chiarini, F., Barata, J.T., Pyne, S., Pyne, N.J., and Martelli, A.M. (2016). Therapeutic potential of targeting sphingosine kinases and sphingosine 1-phosphate in hematological malignancies. Leukemia *30*, 2142–2151.

Fan, S., Niu, Y., Tan, N., Wu, Z., Wang, Y., You, H., Ke, R., Song, J., Shen, Q., Wang, W., et al.
(2013). LASS2 enhances chemosensitivity of breast cancer by counteracting acidic tumor
microenvironment through inhibiting activity of V-ATPase proton pump. Oncogene *32*, 1682–1690.

Fang, Z., Pyne, S., and Pyne, N.J. (2019). Ceramide and sphingosine 1-phosphate in adipose dysfunction. Progress in Lipid Research *74*, 145–159.

Farge, T., Saland, E., de Toni, F., Aroua, N., Hosseini, M., Perry, R., Bosc, C., Sugita, M.,
Stuani, L., Fraisse, M., et al. (2017). Chemotherapy-Resistant Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia
Cells Are Not Enriched for Leukemic Stem Cells but Require Oxidative Metabolism. Cancer
Discov 7, 716–735.

Fekry, B., Esmaeilniakooshkghazi, A., Krupenko, S.A., and Krupenko, N.I. (2016). Ceramide Synthase 6 Is a Novel Target of Methotrexate Mediating Its Antiproliferative Effect in a p53-Dependent Manner. PLoS One *11*, e0146618.

Fenaux, P., Haase, D., Santini, V., Sanz, G.F., Platzbecker, U., and Mey, U. (2020). Myelodysplastic syndromes: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up†☆Annals of Oncology S0923753420431291.

Fonseca, N.A., Gomes-da-Silva, L.C., Moura, V., Simões, S., and Moreira, J.N. (2014). Simultaneous active intracellular delivery of doxorubicin and C6-ceramide shifts the additive/antagonistic drug interaction of non-encapsulated combination. J Control Release *196*, 122–131.

Font-Burgada, J., Sun, B., and Karin, M. (2016). Obesity and Cancer: The Oil that Feeds the Flame. Cell Metab *23*, 48–62.

Fragaki, K., Ait-El-Mkadem, S., Chaussenot, A., Gire, C., Mengual, R., Bonesso, L., Bénéteau,
M., Ricci, J.-E., Desquiret-Dumas, V., Procaccio, V., et al. (2013). Refractory epilepsy and
mitochondrial dysfunction due to GM3 synthase deficiency. Eur J Hum Genet *21*, 528–534.

Fuerer, C., Nostro, M.C., and Constam, D.B. (2014). Nodal Gdf1 Heterodimers with Bound Prodomains Enable Serum-independent Nodal Signaling and Endoderm Differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 17854–17871.

Fujiwara, K., Yazama, H., Donishi, R., Koyama, S., Fukuhara, T., Kitatani, K., Kataoka, H., and Takeuchi, H. (2020). C6-ceramide Inhibits the Motility of Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma Cells. Yonago Acta Med *63*, 95–98.

Furie, B., and Furie, B.C. (2005). Thrombus formation in vivo. J Clin Invest 115, 3355–3362.

Gallagher, E.J., and LeRoith, D. (2015). Obesity and Diabetes: The Increased Risk of Cancer and Cancer-Related Mortality. Physiol Rev *95*, 727–748.

Galmarini, C.M., Thomas, X., Calvo, F., Rousselot, P., Rabilloud, M., El Jaffari, A., Cros, E., and Dumontet, C. (2002). In vivo mechanisms of resistance to cytarabine in acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol *117*, 860–868.

Gambacorti-Passerini, C., Antolini, L., Mahon, F.-X., Guilhot, F., Deininger, M., Fava, C., Nagler, A., Della Casa, C.M., Morra, E., Abruzzese, E., et al. (2011). Multicenter Independent Assessment of Outcomes in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Patients Treated With Imatinib. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute *103*, 553–561.

Garcia-Manero, G., Chien, K.S., and Montalban-Bravo, G. (2020). Myelodysplastic syndromes: 2021 update on diagnosis, risk stratification and management. Am J Hematol *95*, 1399–1420.

García-Ríos, M., Fujita, T., LaRosa, P.C., Locy, R.D., Clithero, J.M., Bressan, R.A., and Csonka, L.N. (1997). Cloning of a polycistronic cDNA from tomato encoding γ -glutamyl kinase and γ -glutamyl phosphate reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 8249–8254.

Gaspar, J.A., Doss, M.X., Hengstler, J.G., Cadenas, C., Hescheler, J., and Sachinidis, A. (2014). Unique metabolic features of stem cells, cardiomyocytes, and their progenitors. Circ Res *114*, 1346–1360.

Geiger, H., de Haan, G., and Florian, M.C. (2013). The ageing haematopoietic stem cell compartment. Nat Rev Immunol *13*, 376–389.

Gencer, E.B., Ural, A.U., Avcu, F., and Baran, Y. (2011). A novel mechanism of dasatinibinduced apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia; ceramide synthase and ceramide clearance genes. Ann Hematol *90*, 1265–1275.

Geyh, S., Oz, S., Cadeddu, R.-P., Fröbel, J., Brückner, B., Kündgen, A., Fenk, R., Bruns, I., Zilkens, C., Hermsen, D., et al. (2013). Insufficient stromal support in MDS results from molecular and functional deficits of mesenchymal stromal cells. Leukemia *27*, 1841–1851.

Giles, A.J., Chien, C.D., Reid, C.M., Fry, T.J., Park, D.M., Kaplan, R.N., and Gilbert, M.R. (2016). The functional interplay between systemic cancer and the hematopoietic stem cell niche. Pharmacol Ther *168*, 53–60.

Ginkel, C., Hartmann, D., vom Dorp, K., Zlomuzica, A., Farwanah, H., Eckhardt, M., Sandhoff,
R., Degen, J., Rabionet, M., Dere, E., et al. (2012). Ablation of Neuronal Ceramide Synthase 1 in
Mice Decreases Ganglioside Levels and Expression of Myelin-associated Glycoprotein in
Oligodendrocytes. J Biol Chem 287, 41888–41902.

Giordano, T.P., Henderson, L., Landgren, O., Chiao, E.Y., Kramer, J.R., El-Serag, H., and Engels, E.A. (2007). Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and lymphoproliferative precursor diseases in US veterans with hepatitis C virus. JAMA *297*, 2010–2017.

Goldschmidt, N., Zamir, L., Poperno, A., Kahan, N.R., and Paltiel, O. (2016). Presenting Signs of Multiple Myeloma and the Effect of Diagnostic Delay on the Prognosis. The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine *29*, 702–709.

Gorelik, A., Illes, K., Heinz, L.X., Superti-Furga, G., and Nagar, B. (2016). Crystal structure of mammalian acid sphingomyelinase. Nature Communications *7*, 12196.

de Graaf, C.A., and Metcalf, D. (2011). Thrombopoietin and hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Cycle *10*, 1582–1589.

Graf, N., Bielenberg, D.R., Kolishetti, N., Muus, C., Banyard, J., Farokhzad, O.C., and Lippard, S.J. (2012). $\alpha(V)\beta(3)$ integrin-targeted PLGA-PEG nanoparticles for enhanced anti-tumor efficacy of a Pt(IV) prodrug. ACS Nano *6*, 4530–4539.

Gray, T.A., Saitoh, S., and Nicholls, R.D. (1999). An imprinted, mammalian bicistronic transcript encodes two independent proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 5616–5621.

Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y.-M.S., Day, R.B., Schuettpelz, L.G., Christopher, M.J., Borgerding, J.N., Nagasawa, T., and Link, D.C. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. Nature *495*, 227–230.

Gregor, M.F., and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2011). Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity. Annu Rev Immunol *29*, 415–445.

Gribben, J.G. (2018). How and when I do allogeneic transplant in CLL. Blood 132, 31-39.

Grimwade, D., Ivey, A., and Huntly, B.J.P. (2016). Molecular landscape of acute myeloid leukemia in younger adults and its clinical relevance. Blood *127*, 29–41.

Gustafsson, K., Sander, B., Bielawski, J., Hannun, Y.A., and Flygare, J. (2009). Potentiation of cannabinoid-induced cytotoxicity in Mantle Cell Lymphoma through modulation of ceramide metabolism. Mol Cancer Res *7*, 1086–1098.

Hait, N.C., Allegood, J., Maceyka, M., Strub, G.M., Harikumar, K.B., Singh, S.K., Luo, C., Marmorstein, R., Kordula, T., Milstien, S., et al. (2009). Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate. Science *325*, 1254–1257.

Hallek, M., Cheson, B.D., Catovsky, D., Caligaris-Cappio, F., Dighiero, G., Döhner, H., Hillmen, P., Keating, M., Montserrat, E., Chiorazzi, N., et al. (2018a). iwCLL guidelines for diagnosis, indications for treatment, response assessment, and supportive management of CLL. Blood *131*, 2745–2760. Hallek, M., Shanafelt, T.D., and Eichhorst, B. (2018b). Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. The Lancet *391*, 1524–1537.

Hanada, K., Kumagai, K., Yasuda, S., Miura, Y., Kawano, M., Fukasawa, M., and Nishijima, M. (2003). Molecular machinery for non-vesicular trafficking of ceramide. Nature *426*, 803–809.

Hannun, Y.A., and Obeid, L.M. (2018). Sphingolipids and their metabolism in physiology and disease. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology *19*, 175–191.

Hanoun, M., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Pinho, S., Pierce, H., Kunisaki, Y., Lacombe, J., Armstrong, S.A., Dührsen, U., and Frenette, P.S. (2014). Acute myelogenous leukemia-induced sympathetic neuropathy promotes malignancy in an altered hematopoietic stem cell niche. Cell Stem Cell *15*, 365–375.

Hao, S., Xiang, J., Wu, D.-C., Fraser, J.W., Ruan, B., Cai, J., Patterson, A.D., Lai, Z.-C., and Paulson, R.F. (2019). Gdf15 regulates murine stress erythroid progenitor proliferation and the development of the stress erythropoiesis niche. Blood Adv *3*, 2205–2217.

Hasserjian, R.P. (2019). Myelodysplastic Syndrome Updated. Pathobiology 86, 7–13.

He, Q., Wang, G., Dasgupta, S., Dinkins, M., Zhu, G., and Bieberich, E. (2012). Characterization of an apical ceramide-enriched compartment regulating ciliogenesis. Mol Biol Cell *23*, 3156–3166.

Helde, K.A., and Grunwald, D.J. (1993). The DVR-1 (Vg1) transcript of zebrafish is maternally supplied and distributed throughout the embryo. Dev Biol *159*, 418–426.

Hernández-Tiedra, S., Fabriàs, G., Dávila, D., Salanueva, Í.J., Casas, J., Montes, L.R., Antón, Z., García-Taboada, E., Salazar-Roa, M., Lorente, M., et al. (2016). Dihydroceramide accumulation mediates cytotoxic autophagy of cancer cells via autolysosome destabilization. Autophagy *12*, 2213–2229.

Hla, T., and Dannenberg, A.J. (2012). Sphingolipid signaling in metabolic disorders. Cell Metab *16*, 420–434.

Ho, C.C.M., Chhabra, A., Starkl, P., Schnorr, P.-J., Wilmes, S., Moraga, I., Kwon, H.-S., Gaudenzio, N., Sibilano, R., Wehrman, T.S., et al. (2017). Decoupling the Functional Pleiotropy of Stem Cell Factor by Tuning c-Kit Signaling. Cell *168*, 1041-1052.e18.

Hock, H. (2012). A complex Polycomb issue: the two faces of EZH2 in cancer. Genes Dev 26, 751–755.

Hoffman, C.M., and Calvi, L.M. (2014). Minireview: complexity of hematopoietic stem cell regulation in the bone marrow microenvironment. Mol Endocrinol *28*, 1592–1601.

Holthuis, J.C.M., Pomorski, T., Raggers, R.J., Sprong, H., and Van Meer, G. (2001). The Organizing Potential of Sphingolipids in Intracellular Membrane Transport. Physiological Reviews *81*, 1689–1723.

Hou, H.-A., Liu, C.-Y., Kuo, Y.-Y., Chou, W.-C., Tsai, C.-H., Lin, C.-C., Lin, L.-I., Tseng, M.-H., Chiang, Y.-C., Liu, M.-C., et al. (2016). Splicing factor mutations predict poor prognosis in patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Oncotarget *7*, 9084–9101.

Huang, L., Luan, T., Chen, Y., Bao, X., Huang, Y., Fu, S., Wang, H., and Wang, J. (2018). LASS2 regulates invasion and chemoresistance via ERK/Drp1 modulated mitochondrial dynamics in bladder cancer cells. J Cancer *9*, 1017–1024.

Hunger, S.P., and Mullighan, C.G. (2015). Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Children (Massachusetts Medical Society).

Hur, J., Choi, J.-I., Lee, H., Nham, P., Kim, T.-W., Chae, C.-W., Yun, J.-Y., Kang, J.-A., Kang, J., Lee, S.E., et al. (2016). CD82/KAI1 Maintains the Dormancy of Long-Term Hematopoietic Stem Cells through Interaction with DARC-Expressing Macrophages. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 508–521.

Hussain, M.M., Jin, W., and Jiang, X.-C. (2012). Mechanisms involved in cellular ceramide homeostasis. Nutrition & Metabolism *9*, 71.

Iqbal, J., Walsh, M.T., Hammad, S.M., and Hussain, M.M. (2017). Sphingolipids and Lipoproteins in Health and Metabolic Disorders. Trends Endocrinol Metab *28*, 506–518.

Ishida, K., Takahashi, A., Bito, K., Draelos, Z., and Imokawa, G. (2020). Treatment with Synthetic Pseudoceramide Improves Atopic Skin, Switching the Ceramide Profile to a Healthy Skin Phenotype. Journal of Investigative Dermatology *140*, 1762-1770.e8.

Itkin, T., Gur-Cohen, S., Spencer, J.A., Schajnovitz, A., Ramasamy, S.K., Kusumbe, A.P., Ledergor, G., Jung, Y., Milo, I., Poulos, M.G., et al. (2016). Distinct bone marrow blood vessels differentially regulate haematopoiesis. Nature *532*, 323–328. Ito, K., and Suda, T. (2014). Metabolic requirements for the maintenance of self-renewing stem cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *15*, 243–256.

Itokazu, Y., Tsai, Y.-T., and Yu, R.K. (2017). Epigenetic regulation of ganglioside expression in neural stem cells and neuronal cells. Glycoconj J *34*, 749–756.

Jacob, F., and Monod, J. (1961). Genetic regulatory mechanisms in the synthesis of proteins. Journal of Molecular Biology *3*, 318–356.

Jeffries, K.A., and Krupenko, N.I. (2018). Ceramide Signaling and p53 Pathways. Adv Cancer Res *140*, 191–215.

Jensen, S.A., Calvert, A.E., Volpert, G., Kouri, F.M., Hurley, L.A., Luciano, J.P., Wu, Y., Chalastanis, A., Futerman, A.H., and Stegh, A.H. (2014). Bcl2L13 is a ceramide synthase inhibitor in glioblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *111*, 5682–5687.

Jiang, X.C., Paultre, F., Pearson, T.A., Reed, R.G., Francis, C.K., Lin, M., Berglund, L., and Tall, A.R. (2000). Plasma sphingomyelin level as a risk factor for coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *20*, 2614–2618.

Jiang, Y., DiVittore, N.A., Kaiser, J.M., Shanmugavelandy, S.S., Fritz, J.L., Heakal, Y., Tagaram, H.R.S., Cheng, H., Cabot, M.C., Staveley-O'Carroll, K.F., et al. (2011). Combinatorial therapies improve the therapeutic efficacy of nanoliposomal ceramide for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Biol Ther *12*, 574–585.

Jin, J., Mullen, T.D., Hou, Q., Bielawski, J., Bielawska, A., Zhang, X., Obeid, L.M., Hannun, Y.A., and Hsu, Y.-T. (2009). AMPK inhibitor Compound C stimulates ceramide production and

promotes Bax redistribution and apoptosis in MCF7 breast carcinoma cells. J Lipid Res 50, 2389–2397.

Jin, S.C., Homsy, J., Zaidi, S., Lu, Q., Morton, S., DePalma, S.R., Zeng, X., Qi, H., Chang, W., Sierant, M.C., et al. (2017). Contribution of rare inherited and de novo variants in 2,871 congenital heart disease probands. Nat Genet *49*, 1593–1601.

Joseph, E.M., and Melton, D.A. (1998). Mutant Vg1 ligands disrupt endoderm and mesoderm formation in Xenopus embryos. Development *125*, 2677–2685.

Ju, T., Gao, D., and Fang, Z.-Y. (2016). Targeting colorectal cancer cells by a novel sphingosine kinase 1 inhibitor PF-543. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *470*, 728–734.

Kantarjian, H. (2016). Acute myeloid leukemia-Major progress over four decades and glimpses into the future: Progress of acute myeloid leukemia. Am. J. Hematol. *91*, 131–145.

Kao, L.-P., Morad, S.A.F., Davis, T.S., MacDougall, M.R., Kassai, M., Abdelmageed, N., Fox, T.E., Kester, M., Loughran, T.P., Abad, J.L., et al. (2019). Chemotherapy selection pressure alters sphingolipid composition and mitochondrial bioenergetics in resistant HL-60 cells. J Lipid Res *60*, 1590–1602.

Kapitonov, D., Allegood, J.C., Mitchell, C., Hait, N.C., Almenara, J.A., Adams, J.K., Zipkin, R.E., Dent, P., Kordula, T., Milstien, S., et al. (2009). Targeting Sphingosine Kinase 1 Inhibits Akt Signaling, Induces Apoptosis, and Suppresses Growth of Human Glioblastoma Cells and Xenografts. Cancer Res *69*, 6915–6923.

Karkera, J.D., Lee, J.S., Roessler, E., Banerjee-Basu, S., Ouspenskaia, M.V., Mez, J.,
Goldmuntz, E., Bowers, P., Towbin, J., Belmont, J.W., et al. (2007a). Loss-of-Function
Mutations in Growth Differentiation Factor-1 (GDF1) Are Associated with Congenital Heart
Defects in Humans. Am J Hum Genet *81*, 987–994.

Karkera, J.D., Lee, J.S., Roessler, E., Banerjee-Basu, S., Ouspenskaia, M.V., Mez, J., Goldmuntz, E., Bowers, P., Towbin, J., Belmont, J.W., et al. (2007b). Loss-of-function mutations in growth differentiation factor-1 (GDF1) are associated with congenital heart defects in humans. Am J Hum Genet *81*, 987–994.

Kassis, J.A., Kennison, J.A., and Tamkun, J.W. (2017). Polycomb and Trithorax Group Genes in Drosophila. Genetics *206*, 1699–1725.

Katayama, Y., Battista, M., Kao, W.-M., Hidalgo, A., Peired, A.J., Thomas, S.A., and Frenette, P.S. (2006). Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. Cell *124*, 407–421.

Kato, M., and Manabe, A. (2018). Treatment and biology of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Int *60*, 4–12.

Kawashima, N., Nishimiya, Y., Takahata, S., and Nakayama, K.-I. (2016). Induction of Glycosphingolipid GM3 Expression by Valproic Acid Suppresses Cancer Cell Growth. J Biol Chem *291*, 21424–21433.

Kennedy, P.C., Zhu, R., Huang, T., Tomsig, J.L., Mathews, T.P., David, M., Peyruchaud, O., Macdonald, T.L., and Lynch, K.R. (2011). Characterization of a sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor antagonist prodrug. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *338*, 879–889.

Kester, M., Bassler, J., Fox, T.E., Carter, C.J., Davidson, J.A., and Parette, M.R. (2015). Preclinical development of a C6-ceramide NanoLiposome, a novel sphingolipid therapeutic. Biol Chem *396*, 737–747.

Khodadi, E., Asnafi, A.A., Shahrabi, S., Shahjahani, M., and Saki, N. (2016). Bone marrow niche in immune thrombocytopenia: a focus on megakaryopoiesis. Ann Hematol *95*, 1765–1776.

Kihara, A. (2012). Very long-chain fatty acids: elongation, physiology and related disorders. J Biochem *152*, 387–395.

Kim, C., Schneider, G., Abdel-Latif, A., Mierzejewska, K., Sunkara, M., Borkowska, S., Ratajczak, J., Morris, A.J., Kucia, M., and Ratajczak, M.Z. (2013). Ceramide-1-phosphate regulates migration of multipotent stromal cells and endothelial progenitor cells--implications for tissue regeneration. Stem Cells *31*, 500–510.

Kirwan, M., Vulliamy, T., Marrone, A., Walne, A.J., Beswick, R., Hillmen, P., Kelly, R., Stewart, A., Bowen, D., Schonland, S.O., et al. (2009). Defining the pathogenic role of telomerase mutations in myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. Hum Mutat *30*, 1567–1573.

Kitano, M., Hla, T., Sekiguchi, M., Kawahito, Y., Yoshimura, R., Miyazawa, K., Iwasaki, T., Sano, H., Saba, J.D., and Tam, Y.Y. (2006). Sphingosine 1-phosphate/sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 signaling in rheumatoid synovium: regulation of synovial proliferation and inflammatory gene expression. Arthritis Rheum *54*, 742–753.

Kitatani, K., Idkowiak-Baldys, J., and Hannun, Y.A. (2008). The sphingolipid salvage pathway in ceramide metabolism and signaling. Cell Signal *20*, 1010–1018.

Kode, A., Manavalan, J.S., Mosialou, I., Bhagat, G., Rathinam, C.V., Luo, N., Khiabanian, H., Lee, A., Murty, V.V., Friedman, R., et al. (2014). Leukaemogenesis induced by an activating βcatenin mutation in osteoblasts. Nature *506*, 240–244.

Kolb, R., Phan, L., Borcherding, N., Liu, Y., Yuan, F., Janowski, A.M., Xie, Q., Markan, K.R., Li, W., Potthoff, M.J., et al. (2016). Obesity-associated NLRC4 inflammasome activation drives breast cancer progression. Nature Communications *7*, 13007.

Kolter, T., and Sandhoff, K. (2005). Principles of lysosomal membrane digestion: stimulation of sphingolipid degradation by sphingolipid activator proteins and anionic lysosomal lipids. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *21*, 81–103.

Korbelik, M., Banáth, J., Zhang, W., Saw, K.M., Szulc, Z.M., Bielawska, A., and Separovic, D. (2016). Interaction of acid ceramidase inhibitor LCL521 with tumor response to photodynamic therapy and photodynamic therapy-generated vaccine. Int J Cancer *139*, 1372–1378.

Koura, D.T., and Langston, A.A. (2013). Inherited predisposition to multiple myeloma. Ther Adv Hematol *4*, 291–297.

Kovtonyuk, L.V., Manz, M.G., and Takizawa, H. (2016). Enhanced thrombopoietin but not G-CSF receptor stimulation induces self-renewing hematopoietic stem cell divisions in vivo. Blood *127*, 3175–3179.

Kozak, M. (2005). Regulation of translation via mRNA structure in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Gene *361*, 13–37. Krause, D.S., and Scadden, D.T. (2015). A hostel for the hostile: the bone marrow niche in hematologic neoplasms. Haematologica *100*, 1376–1387.

Kuehl, W.M., and Bergsagel, P.L. (2002). Multiple myeloma: evolving genetic events and host interactions. Nat Rev Cancer *2*, 175–187.

Kumar, C.C. (2011). Genetic abnormalities and challenges in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Genes Cancer *2*, 95–107.

Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Scheiermann, C., Ahmed, J., Pinho, S., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Wei, Q., Lucas, D., Ito, K., et al. (2013). Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature *502*, 637–643.

Küppers, R. (2009). The biology of Hodgkin's lymphoma. Nature Reviews Cancer 9, 15–27.

Kusumbe, A.P., Ramasamy, S.K., Itkin, T., Mäe, M.A., Langen, U.H., Betsholtz, C., Lapidot, T., and Adams, R.H. (2016). Age-dependent modulation of vascular niches for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *532*, 380–384.

Kuter, D.J. (2009). Thrombopoietin and thrombopoietin mimetics in the treatment of thrombocytopenia. Annu Rev Med *60*, 193–206.

Kwong, Y.-L. (2005). Natural killer-cell malignancies: diagnosis and treatment. Leukemia *19*, 2186–2194.

Laaksonen, R., Ekroos, K., Sysi-Aho, M., Hilvo, M., Vihervaara, T., Kauhanen, D., Suoniemi, M., Hurme, R., März, W., Scharnagl, H., et al. (2016). Plasma ceramides predict cardiovascular
death in patients with stable coronary artery disease and acute coronary syndromes beyond LDLcholesterol. Eur Heart J *37*, 1967–1976.

Lagunas-Rangel, F.A., and Chávez-Valencia, V. (2017). FLT3-ITD and its current role in acute myeloid leukaemia. Med Oncol *34*, 114.

Lai, C.-Y., Yamazaki, S., Okabe, M., Suzuki, S., Maeyama, Y., Iimura, Y., Onodera, M., Kakuta, S., Iwakura, Y., Nojima, M., et al. (2014). Stage-specific roles for CXCR4 signaling in murine hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in the process of bone marrow repopulation. Stem Cells *32*, 1929–1942.

Lampreia, F.P., Carmelo, J.G., and Anjos-Afonso, F. (2017). Notch Signaling in the Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cell. Curr Stem Cell Rep *3*, 202–209.

Landgren, O., Engels, E.A., Pfeiffer, R.M., Gridley, G., Mellemkjaer, L., Olsen, J.H., Kerstann, K.F., Wheeler, W., Hemminki, K., Linet, M.S., et al. (2006). Autoimmunity and susceptibility to Hodgkin lymphoma: a population-based case-control study in Scandinavia. J Natl Cancer Inst *98*, 1321–1330.

de Laval, B., Pawlikowska, P., Barbieri, D., Besnard-Guerin, C., Cico, A., Kumar, R., Gaudry, M., Baud, V., and Porteu, F. (2014). Thrombopoietin promotes NHEJ DNA repair in hematopoietic stem cells through specific activation of Erk and NF-κB pathways and their target, IEX-1. Blood *123*, 509–519.

Lee, S.-J. (1990). Identification of a Novel Member (GDF-1) of the Transforming Growth Factor-b Superfamily. Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.) *4*, 1034–1040.

Lee, S.J. (1991). Expression of growth/differentiation factor 1 in the nervous system: conservation of a bicistronic structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 4250–4254.

Lee, J.T., and Bartolomei, M.S. (2013). X-inactivation, imprinting, and long noncoding RNAs in health and disease. Cell *152*, 1308–1323.

Levis, M., and Small, D. (2003). FLT3: ITDoes matter in leukemia. Leukemia 17, 1738–1752.

Lewis, R. (1976). Anemia--a common but never a normal concomitant of aging. Geriatrics *31*, 53–60.

Lewis, C.S., Voelkel-Johnson, C., and Smith, C.D. (2016). Suppression of c-Myc and RRM2 expression in pancreatic cancer cells by the sphingosine kinase-2 inhibitor ABC294640. Oncotarget 7, 60181–60192.

Li, M.-H., Swenson, R., Harel, M., Jana, S., Stolarzewicz, E., Hla, T., Shapiro, L.H., and Ferrer, F. (2015). Antitumor Activity of a Novel Sphingosine-1-Phosphate 2 Antagonist, AB1, in Neuroblastoma. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *354*, 261–268.

Li, S., Wu, Y., Ding, Y., Yu, M., and Ai, Z. (2018). CerS6 regulates cisplatin resistance in oral squamous cell carcinoma by altering mitochondrial fission and autophagy. J Cell Physiol *233*, 9416–9425.

Liang, J., Nagahashi, M., Kim, E.Y., Harikumar, K.B., Yamada, A., Huang, W.-C., Hait, N.C., Allegood, J.C., Price, M.M., Avni, D., et al. (2013). Sphingosine-1-phosphate links persistent STAT3 activation, chronic intestinal inflammation, and development of colitis-associated cancer. Cancer Cell *23*, 107–120. Lipton, J., Kudisch, M., Gross, R., and Nathan, D. (1986). Defective erythroid progenitor differentiation system in congenital hypoplastic (Diamond-Blackfan) anemia. Blood *67*, 962–968.

Litvak, D.A., Bilchik, A.J., and Cabot, M.C. (2003). Modulators of ceramide metabolism sensitize colorectal cancer cells to chemotherapy: a novel treatment strategy. J Gastrointest Surg 7, 140–148.

Liu, T., Li, X., You, S., Bhuyan, S.S., and Dong, L. (2016). Effectiveness of AMD3100 in treatment of leukemia and solid tumors: from original discovery to use in current clinical practice. Exp Hematol Oncol *5*.

Liu, Y., Chen, X., Han, W., and Zhang, Y. (2017). Tisagenlecleucel, an approved anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for the treatment of leukemia. Drugs Today (Barc) *53*, 597–608.

Lo-Coco, F., Avvisati, G., Vignetti, M., Thiede, C., Orlando, S.M., Iacobelli, S., Ferrara, F., Fazi, P., Cicconi, L., Di Bona, E., et al. (2013). Retinoic Acid and Arsenic Trioxide for Acute Promyelocytic Leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine *369*, 111–121.

Loghavi, S., Zuo, Z., Ravandi, F., Kantarjian, H.M., Bueso-Ramos, C., Zhang, L., Singh, R.R., Patel, K.P., Medeiros, L.J., Stingo, F., et al. (2014). Clinical features of De Novo acute myeloid leukemia with concurrent DNMT3A, FLT3 and NPM1 mutations. Journal of Hematology & Oncology *7*, 74. Longato, L., Ripp, K., Setshedi, M., Dostalek, M., Akhlaghi, F., Branda, M., Wands, J.R., and de la Monte, S.M. (2012). Insulin Resistance, Ceramide Accumulation, and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Human Chronic Alcohol-Related Liver Disease (Hindawi).

Lucas, D., Scheiermann, C., Chow, A., Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Barrick, C., Tessarollo, L., and Frenette, P.S. (2013). Chemotherapy-induced bone marrow nerve injury impairs hematopoietic regeneration. Nat Med *19*, 695–703.

Lutz, T.A., and Woods, S.C. (2012). Overview of Animal Models of Obesity. Curr Protoc Pharmacol *CHAPTER*, Unit5.61.

Maceyka, M., and Spiegel, S. (2014). Sphingolipid metabolites in inflammatory disease. Nature *510*, 58–67.

Maclary, E., Hinten, M., Harris, C., Sethuraman, S., Gayen, S., and Kalantry, S. (2017). PRC2 represses transcribed genes on the imprinted inactive X chromosome in mice. Genome Biol *18*, 82.

Mahdy, A.E., Cheng, J.C., Li, J., Elojeimy, S., Meacham, W.D., Turner, L.S., Bai, A., Gault, C.R., McPherson, A.S., Garcia, N., et al. (2009). Acid Ceramidase Upregulation in Prostate Cancer Cells Confers Resistance to Radiation: AC Inhibition, a Potential Radiosensitizer. Mol Ther *17*, 430–438.

Malard, F., and Mohty, M. (2020). Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet 395, 1146–1162.

Malcovati, L., Hellström-Lindberg, E., Bowen, D., Adès, L., Cermak, J., Del Cañizo, C., Della Porta, M.G., Fenaux, P., Gattermann, N., Germing, U., et al. (2013). Diagnosis and treatment of primary myelodysplastic syndromes in adults: recommendations from the European LeukemiaNet. Blood *122*, 2943–2964.

Mann, B.S., Johnson, J.R., Cohen, M.H., Justice, R., and Pazdur, R. (2007). FDA approval summary: vorinostat for treatment of advanced primary cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Oncologist *12*, 1247–1252.

Manna, P., and Jain, S.K. (2015). Obesity, Oxidative Stress, Adipose Tissue Dysfunction, and the Associated Health Risks: Causes and Therapeutic Strategies. Metab Syndr Relat Disord *13*, 423–444.

Mardiana, S., and Gill, S. (2020). CAR T Cells for Acute Myeloid Leukemia: State of the Art and Future Directions. Front Oncol *10*.

Marek- Yagel, D., Bolkier, Y., Barel, O., Vardi, A., Mishali, D., Katz, U., Salem, Y., Abudi, S., Nayshool, O., Kol, N., et al. (2020). A founder truncating variant in *GDF1* causes autosomalrecessive right isomerism and associated congenital heart defects in multiplex Arab kindreds. Am J Med Genet *182*, 987–993.

Marengo-Rowe, A.J. (2007). The thalassemias and related disorders. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 20, 27–31.

Marseglia, L., Manti, S., D'Angelo, G., Nicotera, A., Parisi, E., Di Rosa, G., Gitto, E., and Arrigo, T. (2014). Oxidative Stress in Obesity: A Critical Component in Human Diseases. Int J Mol Sci *16*, 378–400.

McCarrey, J.R. (2015). The epigenome-a family affair. Science 350, 634-635.

Means, R.T., and Krantz, S.B. (1992). Progress in understanding the pathogenesis of the anemia of chronic disease. Blood *80*, 1639–1647.

Méndez-Ferrer, S., Lucas, D., Battista, M., and Frenette, P.S. (2008). Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature *452*, 442–447.

Mercer, T.R., Dinger, M.E., and Mattick, J.S. (2009). Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. Nature Reviews Genetics *10*, 155–159.

Mesicek, J., Lee, H., Feldman, T., Jiang, X., Skobeleva, A., Berdyshev, E.V., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Fuks, Z., and Kolesnick, R. (2010). Ceramide synthases 2, 5, and 6 confer distinct roles in radiation-induced apoptosis in HeLa cells. Cell Signal *22*, 1300–1307.

Meyers-Needham, M., Ponnusamy, S., Gencer, S., Jiang, W., Thomas, R.J., Senkal, C.E., and Ogretmen, B. (2012). Concerted functions of HDAC1 and microRNA-574-5p repress alternatively spliced ceramide synthase 1 expression in human cancer cells. EMBO Mol Med *4*, 78–92.

Min, J., Mesika, A., Sivaguru, M., Van Veldhoven, P.P., Alexander, H., Futerman, A.H., and Alexander, S. (2007). (Dihydro)ceramide synthase 1 regulated sensitivity to cisplatin is associated with the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and is abrogated by sphingosine kinase 1. Mol Cancer Res *5*, 801–812.

Modrak, D.E., Leon, E., Goldenberg, D.M., and Gold, D.V. (2009). Ceramide regulates gemcitabine-induced senescence and apoptosis in human pancreatic cancer cell lines. Mol Cancer Res *7*, 890–896.

Mohamed-Ali, V., Pinkney, J.H., and Coppack, S.W. (1998). Adipose tissue as an endocrine and paracrine organ. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord *22*, 1145–1158.

Mohty, M., Richardson, P.G., McCarthy, P.L., and Attal, M. (2015). Consolidation and maintenance therapy for multiple myeloma after autologous transplantation: where do we stand? Bone Marrow Transplantation *50*, 1024–1029.

Mojakgomo, R., Mbita, Z., and Dlamini, Z. (2015). Linking the ceramide synthases (CerSs) 4 and 5 with apoptosis, endometrial and colon cancers. Exp Mol Pathol *98*, 585–592.

Moore-Smith, L., and Pasche, B. (2011). TGFBR1 signaling and breast cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia *16*, 89–95.

Morad, S.A.F., and Cabot, M.C. (2013). Ceramide-orchestrated signalling in cancer cells. Nat Rev Cancer *13*, 51–65.

Moro, K., Kawaguchi, T., Tsuchida, J., Gabriel, E., Qi, Q., Yan, L., Wakai, T., Takabe, K., and Nagahashi, M. (2018). Ceramide species are elevated in human breast cancer and are associated with less aggressiveness. Oncotarget *9*, 19874–19890.

Moro, K., Nagahashi, M., Gabriel, E., Takabe, K., and Wakai, T. (2019). Clinical Application of Ceramide in Cancer Treatment. Breast Cancer *26*, 407–415.

Morrison, S.J., and Scadden, D.T. (2014). The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *505*, 327–334.

Morrison, S.J., and Spradling, A.C. (2008). Stem Cells and Niches: Mechanisms That Promote Stem Cell Maintenance throughout Life. Cell *132*, 598–611.

Morton, L.M., Slager, S.L., Cerhan, J.R., Wang, S.S., Vajdic, C.M., Skibola, C.F., Bracci, P.M., de Sanjosé, S., Smedby, K.E., Chiu, B.C.H., et al. (2014). Etiologic Heterogeneity Among Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes: The InterLymph Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr *2014*, 130–144.

Mottok, A., and Steidl, C. (2018). Biology of classical Hodgkin lymphoma: implications for prognosis and novel therapies. Blood *131*, 1654–1665.

Mukhopadhyay, A., Tabanor, K., Chaguturu, R., and Aldrich, J.V. (2013). Targeting inhibitor 2 of protein phosphatase 2A as a therapeutic strategy for prostate cancer treatment. Cancer Biol Ther *14*, 962–972.

Mullen, T.D., Hannun, Y.A., and Obeid, L.M. (2012). Ceramide synthases at the centre of sphingolipid metabolism and biology. Biochem J *441*, 789–802.

Murakami, K., Tenge, V.R., Karandikar, U.C., Lin, S.-C., Ramani, S., Ettayebi, K., Crawford, S.E., Zeng, X.-L., Neill, F.H., Ayyar, B.V., et al. (2020). Bile acids and ceramide overcome the entry restriction for GII.3 human norovirus replication in human intestinal enteroids. PNAS *117*, 1700–1710.

Nagasawa, T., Omatsu, Y., and Sugiyama, T. (2011). Control of hematopoietic stem cells by the bone marrow stromal niche: the role of reticular cells. Trends Immunol *32*, 315–320.

Nagler, A., Dholaria, B., Labopin, M., Savani, B.N., Angelucci, E., Koc, Y., Arat, M., Pioltelli, P., Sica, S., Gülbas, Z., et al. (2020). Bone marrow versus mobilized peripheral blood stem cell graft in T-cell-replete haploidentical transplantation in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia *34*, 2766–2775.

Nair, R., Salinas-Illarena, A., and Baldauf, H.-M. (2020). New strategies to treat AML: novel insights into AML survival pathways and combination therapies. Leukemia.

Naveiras, O., Nardi, V., Wenzel, P.L., Hauschka, P.V., Fahey, F., and Daley, G.Q. (2009). Bonemarrow adipocytes as negative regulators of the haematopoietic microenvironment. Nature *460*, 259–263.

Nelson, E.R., Wardell, S.E., Jasper, J.S., Park, S., Suchindran, S., Howe, M.K., Carver, N.J., Pillai, R.V., Sullivan, P.M., Sondhi, V., et al. (2013). 27-Hydroxycholesterol links hypercholesterolemia and breast cancer pathophysiology. Science *342*, 1094–1098.

Neviani, P., Harb, J.G., Oaks, J.J., Santhanam, R., Walker, C.J., Ellis, J.J., Ferenchak, G., Dorrance, A.M., Paisie, C.A., Eiring, A.M., et al. (2013). PP2A-activating drugs selectively eradicate TKI-resistant chronic myeloid leukemic stem cells. J Clin Invest *123*, 4144–4157.

Nguyen-Tran, D.-H., Hait, N.C., Sperber, H., Qi, J., Fischer, K., Ieronimakis, N., Pantoja, M., Hays, A., Allegood, J., Reyes, M., et al. (2014). Molecular mechanism of sphingosine-1phosphate action in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dis Model Mech *7*, 41–54.

Nibourel, O., Kosmider, O., Cheok, M., Boissel, N., Renneville, A., Philippe, N., Dombret, H., Dreyfus, F., Quesnel, B., Geffroy, S., et al. (2010). Incidence and prognostic value of TET2 alterations in de novo acute myeloid leukemia achieving complete remission. Blood *116*, 1132– 1135.

Nimptsch, K., and Pischon, T. (2016). Obesity Biomarkers, Metabolism and Risk of Cancer: An Epidemiological Perspective. Recent Results Cancer Res *208*, 199–217.

Nitto, T., and Sawaki, K. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of the antileukemia activities of retinoid and arsenic. J Pharmacol Sci *126*, 179–185.

Nixon, G.F. (2009). Sphingolipids in inflammation: pathological implications and potential therapeutic targets. Br J Pharmacol *158*, 982–993.

Nombela-Arrieta, C., Pivarnik, G., Winkel, B., Canty, K.J., Harley, B., Mahoney, J.E., Park, S.-Y., Lu, J., Protopopov, A., and Silberstein, L.E. (2013). Quantitative imaging of haematopoietic stem and progenitor cell localization and hypoxic status in the bone marrow microenvironment. Nat Cell Biol *15*, 533–543.

O'Donnell, M.R., Tallman, M.S., Abboud, C.N., Altman, J.K., Appelbaum, F.R., Arber, D.A., Attar, E., Borate, U., Coutre, S.E., Damon, L.E., et al. (2013). Acute Myeloid Leukemia, Version 2.2013. J Natl Compr Canc Netw *11*, 1047–1055.

Ogawa, M., Matsuzaki, Y., Nishikawa, S., Hayashi, S., Kunisada, T., Sudo, T., Kina, T., Nakauchi, H., and Nishikawa, S. (1991). Expression and function of c-kit in hemopoietic progenitor cells. J Exp Med *174*, 63–71.

Ogretmen, B. (2018). Sphingolipid metabolism in cancer signalling and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer *18*, 33–50.

Olsen, A.S.B., and Færgeman, N.J. (2017). Sphingolipids: membrane microdomains in brain development, function and neurological diseases. Open Biol *7*.

Olson, O.C., Quail, D.F., and Joyce, J.A. (2017). Obesity and the tumor microenvironment. Science *358*, 1130–1131.

Omatsu, Y., Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Kondoh, G., Fujii, N., Kohno, K., and Nagasawa, T. (2010). The essential functions of adipo-osteogenic progenitors as the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell niche. Immunity *33*, 387–399.

Opazo, J.C., and Zavala, K. (2018). Phylogenetic evidence for independent origins of GDF1 and GDF3 genes in anurans and mammals. Sci Rep *8*, 13595.

Padala, S.A., Barsouk, A., Barsouk, A., Rawla, P., Vakiti, A., Kolhe, R., Kota, V., and Ajebo,G.H. (2021). Epidemiology, Staging, and Management of Multiple Myeloma. Med Sci (Basel) 9.

Pal, S.K., Drabkin, H.A., Reeves, J.A., Hainsworth, J.D., Hazel, S.E., Paggiarino, D.A., Wojciak,
J., Woodnutt, G., and Bhatt, R.S. (2017). A phase 2 study of the sphingosine-1-phosphate
antibody sonepcizumab in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer *123*, 576–582.

Palumbo, A. (2011). Multiple Myeloma. N Engl j Med 15.

Pan, H., Guo, J., and Su, Z. (2014). Advances in understanding the interrelations between leptin resistance and obesity. Physiol Behav *130*, 157–169.

Panda, P.K., Naik, P.P., Meher, B.R., Das, D.N., Mukhopadhyay, S., Praharaj, P.P., Maiti, T.K., and Bhutia, S.K. (2018). PUMA dependent mitophagy by Abrus agglutinin contributes to apoptosis through ceramide generation. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res *1865*, 480–495.

Panopoulos, A.D., Yanes, O., Ruiz, S., Kida, Y.S., Diep, D., Tautenhahn, R., Herrerías, A., Batchelder, E.M., Plongthongkum, N., Lutz, M., et al. (2012). The metabolome of induced pluripotent stem cells reveals metabolic changes occurring in somatic cell reprogramming. Cell Res *22*, 168–177.

Papaemmanuil, E., Gerstung, M., Bullinger, L., Gaidzik, V.I., Paschka, P., Roberts, N.D., Potter,
N.E., Heuser, M., Thol, F., Bolli, N., et al. (2016). Genomic Classification and Prognosis in
Acute Myeloid Leukemia. N Engl J Med *374*, 2209–2221.

Paschall, A.V., Zimmerman, M.A., Torres, C.M., Yang, D., Chen, M.R., Li, X., Bieberich, E.,
Bai, A., Bielawski, J., Bielawska, A., et al. (2014). Ceramide targets xIAP and cIAP1 to sensitize metastatic colon and breast cancer cells to apoptosis induction to suppress tumor progression.
BMC Cancer *14*, 24.

Patel, J.P., Gönen, M., Figueroa, M.E., Fernandez, H., Sun, Z., Racevskis, J., Van Vlierberghe,
P., Dolgalev, I., Thomas, S., Aminova, O., et al. (2012). Prognostic Relevance of Integrated
Genetic Profiling in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine *366*, 1079–1089.

Paul, S., Kantarjian, H., and Jabbour, E.J. (2016). Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Mayo Clin Proc *91*, 1645–1666.

Peters, F., Tellkamp, F., Brodesser, S., Wachsmuth, E., Tosetti, B., Karow, U., Bloch, W., Utermöhlen, O., Krönke, M., and Niessen, C.M. (2020). Murine Epidermal Ceramide Synthase 4 Is a Key Regulator of Skin Barrier Homeostasis. J Invest Dermatol *140*, 1927-1937.e5.

Peyvandi, F., Garagiola, I., and Young, G. (2016). The past and future of haemophilia: diagnosis, treatments, and its complications. Lancet *388*, 187–197.

Pfister, S.X., and Ashworth, A. (2017). Marked for death: targeting epigenetic changes in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov *16*, 241–263. Pinto, S.N., Laviad, E.L., Stiban, J., Kelly, S.L., Merrill, A.H., Prieto, M., Futerman, A.H., and Silva, L.C. (2014). Changes in membrane biophysical properties induced by sphingomyelinase depend on the sphingolipid N-acyl chain. J. Lipid Res. *55*, 53–61.

Polzin, A., Piayda, K., Keul, P., Dannenberg, L., Mohring, A., Gräler, M., Zeus, T., Kelm, M., and Levkau, B. (2017). Plasma sphingosine-1-phosphate concentrations are associated with systolic heart failure in patients with ischemic heart disease. J Mol Cell Cardiol *110*, 35–37.

Ponnapakam, A.P., Liu, J., Bhinge, K.N., Drew, B.A., Wang, T.L., Antoon, J.W., Nguyen, T.T.,
Dupart, P.S., Wang, Y., Zhao, M., et al. (2014). 3-Ketone-4,6-diene ceramide analogs
exclusively induce apoptosis in chemo-resistant cancer cells. Bioorg Med Chem 22, 1412–1420.

Poss, A.M., Holland, W.L., and Summers, S.A. (2019). Risky lipids: refining the ceramide score that measures cardiovascular health. European Heart Journal ehz525.

Posse de Chaves, E., and Sipione, S. (2010). Sphingolipids and gangliosides of the nervous system in membrane function and dysfunction. FEBS Lett *584*, 1748–1759.

Powell, D.J., and Achebe, M.O. (2016). Anemia for the Primary Care Physician. Prim Care *43*, 527–542.

Poynter, J.N., Richardson, M., Roesler, M., Blair, C.K., Hirsch, B., Nguyen, P., Cioc, A.,

Cerhan, J.R., and Warlick, E. (2017). Chemical Exposures and Risk of Acute Myeloid Leukemia and Myelodysplastic Syndromes in a Population-Based Study. Int J Cancer *140*, 23–33.

Prévost, C., Zhao, H., Manzi, J., Lemichez, E., Lappalainen, P., Callan-Jones, A., and Bassereau,P. (2015). IRSp53 senses negative membrane curvature and phase separates along membranetubules. Nature Communications *6*, 8529.

Prigione, A., Rohwer, N., Hoffmann, S., Mlody, B., Drews, K., Bukowiecki, R., Blümlein, K., Wanker, E.E., Ralser, M., Cramer, T., et al. (2014). HIF1α modulates cell fate reprogramming through early glycolytic shift and upregulation of PDK1-3 and PKM2. Stem Cells *32*, 364–376.

Prinetti, A., Millimaggi, D., D'Ascenzo, S., Clarkson, M., Bettiga, A., Chigorno, V., Sonnino, S., Pavan, A., and Dolo, V. (2006). Lack of ceramide generation and altered sphingolipid composition are associated with drug resistance in human ovarian carcinoma cells. Biochem J *395*, 311–318.

Pruett, S.T., Bushnev, A., Hagedorn, K., Adiga, M., Haynes, C.A., Sullards, M.C., Liotta, D.C., and Merrill, A.H. (2008). Biodiversity of sphingoid bases ("sphingosines") and related amino alcohols. J Lipid Res *49*, 1621–1639.

Qian, H., Buza-Vidas, N., Hyland, C.D., Jensen, C.T., Antonchuk, J., Månsson, R., Thoren, L.A., Ekblom, M., Alexander, W.S., and Jacobsen, S.E.W. (2007). Critical role of thrombopoietin in maintaining adult quiescent hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 671–684.

Qin, Z., Dai, L., Trillo-Tinoco, J., Senkal, C., Wang, W., Reske, T., Bonstaff, K., Valle, L.D., Rodriguez, P., Flemington, E., et al. (2014). Targeting Sphingosine Kinase Induces Apoptosis and Tumor Regression for KSHV-Associated Primary Effusion Lymphoma. Mol Cancer Ther *13*, 154–164. Quail, D.F., Siegers, G.M., Jewer, M., and Postovit, L.-M. (2013). Nodal signalling in embryogenesis and tumourigenesis. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology *45*, 885–898.

Quail, D.F., Olson, O.C., Bhardwaj, P., Walsh, L.A., Akkari, L., Quick, M.L., Chen, I.-C., Wendel, N., Ben-Chetrit, N., Walker, J., et al. (2017). Obesity alters the lung myeloid cell landscape to enhance breast cancer metastasis through IL5 and GM-CSF. Nat Cell Biol *19*, 974– 987.

Quintás-Cardama, A., and Cortes, J. (2009). Molecular biology of bcr-abl1–positive chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood *113*, 1619–1630.

Rankin, C.T., Bunton, T., Lawler, A.M., and Lee, S.-J. (2000). Regulation of left-right patterning in mice by growth/differentiation factor-1. Nature Genetics *24*, 262–265.

Ratajczak, M.Z., Lee, H., Wysoczynski, M., Wan, W., Marlicz, W., Laughlin, M.J., Kucia, M., Janowska-Wieczorek, A., and Ratajczak, J. (2010). Novel insight into stem cell mobilizationplasma sphingosine-1-phosphate is a major chemoattractant that directs the egress of hematopoietic stem progenitor cells from the bone marrow and its level in peripheral blood increases during mobilization due to activation of complement cascade/membrane attack complex. Leukemia *24*, 976–985.

Rath, G., Schneider, C., Langlois, B., Sartelet, H., Morjani, H., Btaouri, H.E.L., Dedieu, S., and Martiny, L. (2009). De novo ceramide synthesis is responsible for the anti-tumor properties of camptothecin and doxorubicin in follicular thyroid carcinoma. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *41*, 1165–1172.

Reforgiato, M.R., Milano, G., Fabriàs, G., Casas, J., Gasco, P., Paroni, R., Samaja, M., Ghidoni, R., Caretti, A., and Signorelli, P. (2016). Inhibition of ceramide de novo synthesis as a postischemic strategy to reduce myocardial reperfusion injury. Basic Res Cardiol *111*, 12.

Rinn, J.L., Kertesz, M., Wang, J.K., Squazzo, S.L., Xu, X., Brugmann, S.A., Goodnough, L.H., Helms, J.A., Farnham, P.J., Segal, E., et al. (2007). Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. Cell *129*, 1311–1323.

Roberts, D.L., Dive, C., and Renehan, A.G. (2010). Biological mechanisms linking obesity and cancer risk: new perspectives. Annu Rev Med *61*, 301–316.

Röllig, C., Knop, S., and Bornhäuser, M. (2015). Multiple myeloma. The Lancet *385*, 2197–2208.

Ronnekleiv-Kelly, S.M., Sharma, A., and Ahuja, N. (2017). Epigenetic therapy and chemosensitization in solid malignancy. Cancer Treat Rev *55*, 200–208.

Rütti, S., Ehses, J.A., Sibler, R.A., Prazak, R., Rohrer, L., Georgopoulos, S., Meier, D.T., Niclauss, N., Berney, T., Donath, M.Y., et al. (2009). Low- and high-density lipoproteins modulate function, apoptosis, and proliferation of primary human and murine pancreatic betacells. Endocrinology *150*, 4521–4530.

S, G., A, S., Nr, P., J, C., Yh, R., Bj, D., Mm, A., and Tp, C. (2014). Development of EGFRtargeted nanoemulsion for imaging and novel platinum therapy of ovarian cancer. Pharm Res *31*, 2490–2502. Saddoughi, S.A., Song, P., and Ogretmen, B. (2008). Roles of Bioactive Sphingolipids in Cancer Biology and Therapeutics. Subcell Biochem *49*, 413–440.

Saddoughi, S.A., Gencer, S., Peterson, Y.K., Ward, K.E., Mukhopadhyay, A., Oaks, J., Bielawski, J., Szulc, Z.M., Thomas, R.J., Selvam, S.P., et al. (2013). Sphingosine analogue drug FTY720 targets I2PP2A/SET and mediates lung tumour suppression via activation of PP2A-RIPK1-dependent necroptosis. EMBO Mol Med *5*, 105–121.

Saha, A., and Robertson, E.S. (2011). Epstein-Barr virus-associated B-cell lymphomas: pathogenesis and clinical outcomes. Clin Cancer Res *17*, 3056–3063.

Saini, K.S., Azim, H.A., Cocorocchio, E., Vanazzi, A., Saini, M.L., Raviele, P.R., Pruneri, G., and Peccatori, F.A. (2011). Rituximab in Hodgkin lymphoma: is the target always a hit? Cancer Treat Rev *37*, 385–390.

Salminen, A., Kaarniranta, K., and Kauppinen, A. (2016). Hypoxia-Inducible Histone Lysine Demethylases: Impact on the Aging Process and Age-Related Diseases. Aging Dis *7*, 180–200.

Sanagawa, A., Iwaki, S., Asai, M., Sakakibara, D., Norimoto, H., Sobel, B.E., and Fujii, S. (2016). Sphingosine 1- phosphate induced by hypoxia increases the expression of PAI- 1 in HepG2 cells via HIF- 1α. Mol Med Rep *14*, 1841–1848.

Sandomenico, A., and Ruvo, M. (2019). Targeting Nodal and Cripto-1: Perspectives Inside Dual Potential Theranostic Cancer Biomarkers. Curr Med Chem *26*, 1994–2050.

Saultz, J.N., and Garzon, R. (2016). Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Concise Review. J Clin Med 5.

Schepers, K., Pietras, E.M., Reynaud, D., Flach, J., Binnewies, M., Garg, T., Wagers, A.J., Hsiao, E.C., and Passegué, E. (2013). Myeloproliferative neoplasia remodels the endosteal bone marrow niche into a self-reinforcing leukemic niche. Cell Stem Cell *13*, 285–299.

Schiffmann, S., Ziebell, S., Sandner, J., Birod, K., Deckmann, K., Hartmann, D., Rode, S., Schmidt, H., Angioni, C., Geisslinger, G., et al. (2010). Activation of ceramide synthase 6 by celecoxib leads to a selective induction of C16:0-ceramide. Biochem Pharmacol *80*, 1632–1640.

Schneider-Schaulies, J., and Schneider-Schaulies, S. (2015). Sphingolipids in viral infection. Biol Chem *396*, 585–595.

Schnute, M.E., McReynolds, M.D., Kasten, T., Yates, M., Jerome, G., Rains, J.W., Hall, T., Chrencik, J., Kraus, M., Cronin, C.N., et al. (2012). Modulation of cellular S1P levels with a novel, potent and specific inhibitor of sphingosine kinase-1. Biochem J *444*, 79–88.

Schulte, E., Wittekind, D., and Kretschmer, V. (1989). The influence of cationic thiazine dyes on eosin Y-uptake of red blood cells in Romanowsky-Giemsa type stains. Acta Histochem Suppl *37*, 139–147.

Selzner, M., Bielawska, A., Morse, M.A., Rüdiger, H.A., Sindram, D., Hannun, Y.A., and Clavien, P.A. (2001). Induction of apoptotic cell death and prevention of tumor growth by ceramide analogues in metastatic human colon cancer. Cancer Res *61*, 1233–1240.

Seo, B.R., Bhardwaj, P., Choi, S., Gonzalez, J., Eguiluz, R.C.A., Wang, K., Mohanan, S., Morris, P.G., Du, B., Zhou, X.K., et al. (2015). Obesity-dependent changes in interstitial ECM mechanics promote breast tumorigenesis. Science Translational Medicine *7*, 301ra130-301ra130. Separovic, D., Saad, Z.H., Edwin, E.A., Bielawski, J., Pierce, J.S., Buren, E.V., and Bielawska, A. (2011). C16-Ceramide Analog Combined with Pc 4 Photodynamic Therapy Evokes Enhanced Total Ceramide Accumulation, Promotion of DEVDase Activation in the Absence of Apoptosis, and Augmented Overall Cell Killing. J Lipids *2011*.

Shah, S.B., Skromne, I., Hume, C.R., Kessler, D.S., Lee, K.J., Stern, C.D., and Dodd, J. (1997).
Misexpression of chick Vg1 in the marginal zone induces primitive streak formation.
Development *124*, 5127–5138.

Shallis, R.M., Wang, R., Davidoff, A., Ma, X., and Zeidan, A.M. (2019). Epidemiology of acute myeloid leukemia: Recent progress and enduring challenges. Blood Rev *36*, 70–87.

Shanbhag, S., and Ambinder, R.F. (2018). Hodgkin lymphoma: A review and update on recent progress: Current Progress in Hodgkin Lymphoma. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians *68*, 116–132.

Shen, M.M. (2007). Nodal signaling: developmental roles and regulation. Development *134*, 1023–1034.

Shen, C.-P., Zhao, M.-T., Jia, Z.-X., Zhang, J.-L., Jiao, L., and Ma, L. (2018). Skin Ceramide Profile in Children With Atopic Dermatitis. Dermatitis *29*, 219–222.

Shiels, M.S., Engels, E.A., Linet, M.S., Clarke, C.A., Li, J., Hall, H.I., Hartge, P., and Morton, L.M. (2013). The epidemic of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in the United States: disentangling the effect of HIV, 1992-2009. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *22*, 1069–1078.

Shin, K.-O., Lim, C.J., Park, H.Y., Kim, S., Kim, B., Lee, Y., Chung, H., Jeong, S.-K., Park, K., and Park, K. (2020). Activation of SIRT1 Enhances Epidermal Permeability Barrier Formation through Ceramide Synthase 2- and 3-Dependent Mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol *140*, 1435-1438.e5.

Sibon, D., Coman, T., Rossignol, J., Lamarque, M., Kosmider, O., Bayard, E., Fouquet, G., Rignault, R., Topçu, S., Bonneau, P., et al. (2019). Enhanced Renewal of Erythroid Progenitors in Myelodysplastic Anemia by Peripheral Serotonin. Cell Rep *26*, 3246-3256.e4.

Siddique, M.M., Bikman, B.T., Wang, L., Ying, L., Reinhardt, E., Shui, G., Wenk, M.R., and Summers, S.A. (2012). Ablation of Dihydroceramide Desaturase Confers Resistance to Etoposide-Induced Apoptosis In Vitro. PLOS ONE *7*, e44042.

Signorelli, P., Munoz-Olaya, J.M., Gagliostro, V., Casas, J., Ghidoni, R., and Fabriàs, G. (2009). Dihydroceramide intracellular increase in response to resveratrol treatment mediates autophagy in gastric cancer cells. Cancer Letters *282*, 238–243.

Silberstein, L., Goncalves, K.A., Kharchenko, P.V., Turcotte, R., Kfoury, Y., Mercier, F., Baryawno, N., Severe, N., Bachand, J., Spencer, J.A., et al. (2016). Proximity-Based Differential Single-Cell Analysis of the Niche to Identify Stem/Progenitor Cell Regulators. Cell Stem Cell *19*, 530–543.

Sill, H., Olipitz, W., Zebisch, A., Schulz, E., and Wölfler, A. (2011). Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms: pathobiology and clinical characteristics. Br J Pharmacol *162*, 792–805.

Singer, G.A.C., Lloyd, A.T., Huminiecki, L.B., and Wolfe, K.H. (2005). Clusters of Coexpressed Genes in Mammalian Genomes Are Conserved by Natural Selection. Molecular Biology and Evolution *22*, 767–775.

Slager, S.L., Benavente, Y., Blair, A., Vermeulen, R., Cerhan, J.R., Costantini, A.S., Monnereau, A., Nieters, A., Clavel, J., Call, T.G., et al. (2014). Medical history, lifestyle, family history, and occupational risk factors for chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma: the InterLymph Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr *2014*, 41–51.

Slape, C., Lin, Y.W., Hartung, H., Zhang, Z., Wolff, L., and Aplan, P.D. (2008). NUP98-HOX translocations lead to myelodysplastic syndrome in mice and men. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 64–68.

Smolewski, P., and Robak, T. (2017). The discovery and development of romidepsin for the treatment of T-cell lymphoma. Expert Opin Drug Discov *12*, 859–873.

Spencer, J.A., Ferraro, F., Roussakis, E., Klein, A., Wu, J., Runnels, J.M., Zaher, W., Mortensen, L.J., Alt, C., Turcotte, R., et al. (2014). Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. Nature *508*, 269–273.

Spiegel, A., Kalinkovich, A., Shivtiel, S., Kollet, O., and Lapidot, T. (2008). Stem cell regulation via dynamic interactions of the nervous and immune systems with the microenvironment. Cell Stem Cell *3*, 484–492.

Spiegel, S., Milstien, S., and Grant, S. (2012). Endogenous modulators and pharmacological inhibitors of histone deacetylases in cancer therapy. Oncogene *31*, 537–551.

Sridevi, P., Alexander, H., Laviad, E.L., Pewzner-Jung, Y., Hannink, M., Futerman, A.H., and Alexander, S. (2009). CERAMIDE SYNTHASE 1 IS REGULATED BY PROTEASOMAL MEDIATED TURNOVER. Biochim Biophys Acta *1793*, 1218–1227.

Stauder, R., Valent, P., and Theurl, I. (2018). Anemia at older age: etiologies, clinical implications, and management. Blood *131*, 505–514.

Stover, T., and Kester, M. (2003). Liposomal delivery enhances short-chain ceramide-induced apoptosis of breast cancer cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *307*, 468–475.

Strati, P., Parikh, S.A., Chaffee, K.G., Kay, N.E., Call, T.G., Achenbach, S.J., Cerhan, J.R., Slager, S.L., and Shanafelt, T.D. (2017). Relationship between co-morbidities at diagnosis, survival and ultimate cause of death in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL): a prospective cohort study. British Journal of Haematology *178*, 394–402.

Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Noda, M., and Nagasawa, T. (2006). Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. Immunity *25*, 977–988.

Suzuki, Y., Yanagisawa, M., Ariga, T., and Yu, R.K. (2011). Histone acetylation-mediated glycosyltransferase gene regulation in mouse brain during development. J Neurochem *116*, 874–880.

Swerdlow, S.H., Campo, E., Pileri, S.A., Harris, N.L., Stein, H., Siebert, R., Advani, R., Ghielmini, M., Salles, G.A., Zelenetz, A.D., et al. (2016). The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood *127*, 2375–2390.

Tan, K.-B., Ling, L.-U., Bunte, R.M., Chng, W.-J., and Chiu, G.N.C. (2014). Liposomal codelivery of a synergistic combination of bioactive lipids in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Nanomedicine (Lond) *9*, 1665–1679.

Tan, M., Luo, H., Lee, S., Jin, F., Yang, J.S., Montellier, E., Buchou, T., Cheng, Z., Rousseaux,
S., Rajagopal, N., et al. (2011). Identification of 67 histone marks and histone lysine
crotonylation as a new type of histone modification. Cell *146*, 1016–1028.

Tanaka, C., Sakuma, R., Nakamura, T., Hamada, H., and Saijoh, Y. (2007). Long-range action of Nodal requires interaction with GDF1. Genes Dev. *21*, 3272–3282.

Tedesco, P., Jiang, J., Wang, J., Jazwinski, S.M., and Johnson, T.E. (2008). Genetic analysis of hyl-1, the C. elegans homolog of LAG1/LASS1. AGE *30*, 43–52.

Tefferi, A. (2006). Classification, diagnosis and management of myeloproliferative disorders in the JAK2V617F era. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 240–245.

Thyss, A., Saada, E., Gastaud, L., Peyrade, F., and Re, D. (2014). Hodgkin's Lymphoma in Older Patients: an Orphan Disease? Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis *6*.

Tiong, I.S., and Wei, A.H. (2019). New drugs creating new challenges in acute myeloid leukemia. Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer *58*, 903–914.

Tough, D.F., Tak, P.P., Tarakhovsky, A., and Prinjha, R.K. (2016). Epigenetic drug discovery: breaking through the immune barrier. Nat Rev Drug Discov *15*, 835–853.

Tran, M.A., Smith, C.D., Kester, M., and Robertson, G.P. (2008). Combining nanoliposomal ceramide with sorafenib synergistically inhibits melanoma and breast cancer cell survival to decrease tumor development. Clin Cancer Res *14*, 3571–3581.

Tsai, Y.-T., and Yu, R.K. (2014). Epigenetic activation of mouse ganglioside synthase genes: implications for neurogenesis. J Neurochem *128*, 101–110.

Tsai, Y.-T., Itokazu, Y., and Yu, R.K. (2016). GM1 Ganglioside is Involved in Epigenetic Activation Loci of Neuronal Cells. Neurochem Res *41*, 107–115.

Tsou, L.K., Huang, Y.-H., Song, J.-S., Ke, Y.-Y., Huang, J.-K., and Shia, K.-S. (2018). Harnessing CXCR4 antagonists in stem cell mobilization, HIV infection, ischemic diseases, and oncology. Med Res Rev *38*, 1188–1234.

Turkina, A., Wang, J., Mathews, V., Saydam, G., Jung, C.W., Al Hashmi, H.H., Yassin, M., Le Clanche, S., Miljkovic, D., Slader, C., et al. (2020). TARGET: a survey of real-world management of chronic myeloid leukaemia across 33 countries. Br J Haematol *190*, 869–876.

Turner, N., Lim, X.Y., Toop, H.D., Osborne, B., Brandon, A.E., Taylor, E.N., Fiveash, C.E., Govindaraju, H., Teo, J.D., McEwen, H.P., et al. (2018). A selective inhibitor of ceramide synthase 1 reveals a novel role in fat metabolism. Nature Communications *9*, 3165.

Turpin, S.M., Nicholls, H.T., Willmes, D.M., Mourier, A., Brodesser, S., Wunderlich, C.M., Mauer, J., Xu, E., Hammerschmidt, P., Brönneke, H.S., et al. (2014). Obesity-induced CerS6dependent C16:0 ceramide production promotes weight gain and glucose intolerance. Cell Metab *20*, 678–686. Tyner, J.W., Tognon, C.E., Bottomly, D., Wilmot, B., Kurtz, S.E., Savage, S.L., Long, N., Schultz, A.R., Traer, E., Abel, M., et al. (2018). Functional genomic landscape of acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature *562*, 526–531.

Venant, H., Rahmaniyan, M., Jones, E.E., Lu, P., Lilly, M.B., Garrett-Mayer, E., Drake, R.R., Kraveka, J.M., Smith, C.D., and Voelkel-Johnson, C. (2015). The Sphingosine Kinase 2 Inhibitor ABC294640 Reduces the Growth of Prostate Cancer Cells and Results in Accumulation of Dihydroceramides In Vitro and In Vivo. Mol Cancer Ther *14*, 2744–2752.

Venkata, J.K., An, N., Stuart, R., Costa, L.J., Cai, H., Coker, W., Song, J.H., Gibbs, K., Matson, T., Garrett-Mayer, E., et al. (2014). Inhibition of sphingosine kinase 2 downregulates the expression of c-Myc and Mcl-1 and induces apoptosis in multiple myeloma. Blood *124*, 1915–1925.

Ventura, A.E., Mestre, B., and Silva, L.C. (2019). Ceramide Domains in Health and Disease: A Biophysical Perspective. Adv Exp Med Biol *1159*, 79–108.

Visnjic, D., Kalajzic, Z., Rowe, D.W., Katavic, V., Lorenzo, J., and Aguila, H.L. (2004). Hematopoiesis is severely altered in mice with an induced osteoblast deficiency. Blood *103*, 3258–3264.

Vlaanderen, J., Lan, Q., Kromhout, H., Rothman, N., and Vermeulen, R. (2012). Occupational benzene exposure and the risk of chronic myeloid leukemia: a meta-analysis of cohort studies incorporating study quality dimensions. Am J Ind Med *55*, 779–785.

Walenkamp, A.M.E., Lapa, C., Herrmann, K., and Wester, H.-J. (2017). CXCR4 Ligands: The Next Big Hit? J Nucl Med *58*, 77S-82S.

Wall, N.A., Craig, E.J., Labosky, P.A., and Kessler, D.S. (2000). Mesendoderm induction and reversal of left-right pattern by mouse Gdf1, a Vg1-related gene. Dev Biol *227*, 495–509.

Wang, A., and Zhong, H. (2018). Roles of the bone marrow niche in hematopoiesis,
leukemogenesis, and chemotherapy resistance in acute myeloid leukemia. Hematology *23*, 729–739.

Wang, B., Shi, G., Fu, Y., and Xu, X. (2007). Cloning and characterization of a LASS1-GDF1 transcript in rat cerebral cortex: Conservation of a bicistronic structure: Full Length Research Paper. DNA Sequence *18*, 92–103.

Wang, H., Charles, A.G., Frankel, A.J., and Cabot, M.C. (2003). Increasing intracellular ceramide: an approach that enhances the cytotoxic response in prostate cancer cells. Urology *61*, 1047–1052.

Wang, H., Zhang, P., Liu, L., and Zou, L. (2013a). Hierarchical organization and regulation of the hematopoietic stem cell osteoblastic niche. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol *85*, 1–8.

Wang, W., Toran, P.T., Sabol, R., Brown, T.J., and Barth, B.M. (2018). Epigenetics and Sphingolipid Metabolism in Health and Disease. Int J Biopharm Sci *1*.

Wang, W., Sullivan, E., Papakotsi, V., Cote, A., Toran, P., Loughran, T.P., Jr., and Barth, B. (2019). GDF1 Is a Regulator of Sphingolipid Metabolism in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Blood *134*, 1245–1245.

Wang, Z., Yao, H., Lin, S., Zhu, X., Shen, Z., Lu, G., Poon, W.S., Xie, D., Lin, M.C., and Kung,
H. (2013b). Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of human microRNAs. Cancer Lett *331*, 1–
10.

Wang, Z., Wen, L., Zhu, F., Wang, Y., Xie, Q., Chen, Z., and Li, Y. (2017). Overexpression of ceramide synthase 1 increases C18-ceramide and leads to lethal autophagy in human glioma. Oncotarget *8*, 104022–104036.

Wattenberg, B.W. (2018). The long and the short of ceramides. J Biol Chem 293, 9922–9923.

Weber, J.M., and Calvi, L.M. (2010). Notch signaling and the bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niche. Bone *46*, 281–285.

Wegner, M.-S., Schiffmann, S., Parnham, M.J., Geisslinger, G., and Grösch, S. (2016). The enigma of ceramide synthase regulation in mammalian cells. Prog Lipid Res *63*, 93–119.

White-Gilbertson, S., Mullen, T., Senkal, C., Lu, P., Ogretmen, B., Obeid, L., and Voelkel-Johnson, C. (2009). Ceramide synthase 6 modulates TRAIL sensitivity and nuclear translocation of active caspase-3 in colon cancer cells. Oncogene *28*, 1132–1141.

Woyach, J.A. (2018). What is the optimal management of older CLL patients? Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology *31*, 83–89.

Xu, W., Xu, B., Yao, Y., Yu, X., and Shen, J. (2015). The novel HDAC inhibitor AR-42-induced anti-colon cancer cell activity is associated with ceramide production. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *463*, 545–550.

Yacoub, A., Hamed, H.A., Allegood, J., Mitchell, C., Spiegel, S., Lesniak, M.S., Ogretmen, B., Dash, R., Sarkar, D., Broaddus, W.C., et al. (2010). PERK-dependent regulation of ceramide synthase 6 and thioredoxin play a key role in mda-7/IL-24-induced killing of primary human glioblastoma multiforme cells. Cancer Res *70*, 1120–1129.

Yamazaki, S., Ema, H., Karlsson, G., Yamaguchi, T., Miyoshi, H., Shioda, S., Taketo, M.M., Karlsson, S., Iwama, A., and Nakauchi, H. (2011). Nonmyelinating Schwann cells maintain hematopoietic stem cell hibernation in the bone marrow niche. Cell *147*, 1146–1158.

Yang, W., Mok, M.T.S., Li, M.S.M., Kang, W., Wang, H., Chan, A.W., Chou, J.-L., Chen, J., Ng, E.K.W., To, K.-F., et al. (2016). Epigenetic silencing of GDF1 disrupts SMAD signaling to reinforce gastric cancer development. Oncogene *35*, 2133–2144.

Yeo, H., Lyssiotis, C.A., Zhang, Y., Ying, H., Asara, J.M., Cantley, L.C., and Paik, J.-H. (2013). FoxO3 coordinates metabolic pathways to maintain redox balance in neural stem cells. EMBO J *32*, 2589–2602.

Yoshihara, H., Arai, F., Hosokawa, K., Hagiwara, T., Takubo, K., Nakamura, Y., Gomei, Y., Iwasaki, H., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., et al. (2007). Thrombopoietin/MPL signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence and interaction with the osteoblastic niche. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 685–697.

Yu, R.K., Nakatani, Y., and Yanagisawa, M. (2009). The role of glycosphingolipid metabolism in the developing brain. J Lipid Res *50 Suppl*, S440-445.

Yu, T., Li, J., and Sun, H. (2010). C6 ceramide potentiates curcumin-induced cell death and apoptosis in melanoma cell lines in vitro. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol *66*, 999–1003.

Yun, S.-H., Park, E.-S., Shin, S.-W., Ju, M.-H., Han, J.-Y., Jeong, J.-S., Kim, S.-H., Stonik,
V.A., Kwak, J.-Y., and Park, J.-I. (2015). By activating Fas/ceramide synthase 6/p38 kinase in
lipid rafts, Stichoposide D inhibits growth of leukemia xenografts. Oncotarget *6*, 27596–27612.

Zhang, C.C., and Sadek, H.A. (2014). Hypoxia and metabolic properties of hematopoietic stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal *20*, 1891–1901.

Zhang, B., Ho, Y.W., Huang, Q., Maeda, T., Lin, A., Lee, S.-U., Hair, A., Holyoake, T.L., Huettner, C., and Bhatia, R. (2012). Altered microenvironmental regulation of leukemic and normal stem cells in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Cell *21*, 577–592.

Zhang, Y., Zhang, X.-F., Gao, L., Liu, Y., Jiang, D.-S., Chen, K., Yang, Q., Fan, G.-C., Zhang, X.-D., and Huang, C. (2014). Growth/differentiation factor 1 alleviates pressure overloadinduced cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease *1842*, 232–244.

Zhao, M., Perry, J.M., Marshall, H., Venkatraman, A., Qian, P., He, X.C., Ahamed, J., and Li, L. (2014). Megakaryocytes maintain homeostatic quiescence and promote post-injury regeneration of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med *20*, 1321–1326.

Zhou, B.O., Yue, R., Murphy, M.M., Peyer, J.G., and Morrison, S.J. (2014). Leptin-receptorexpressing mesenchymal stromal cells represent the main source of bone formed by adult bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell *15*, 154–168.

Zhou, B.O., Yu, H., Yue, R., Zhao, Z., Rios, J.J., Naveiras, O., and Morrison, S.J. (2017). Bone marrow adipocytes promote the regeneration of stem cells and haematopoiesis by secreting SCF. Nat Cell Biol *19*, 891–903.

Zintzaras, E., Voulgarelis, M., and Moutsopoulos, H.M. (2005). The risk of lymphoma development in autoimmune diseases: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med *165*, 2337–2344.

Zitvogel, L., Pietrocola, F., and Kroemer, G. (2017). Nutrition, inflammation and cancer. Nature Immunology *18*, 843–850.

Zöchbauer-Müller, S., Lam, S., Toyooka, S., Virmani, A.K., Toyooka, K.O., Seidl, S., Minna, J.D., and Gazdar, A.F. (2003). Aberrant methylation of multiple genes in the upper aerodigestive tract epithelium of heavy smokers. Int J Cancer *107*, 612–616.